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Statement Regarding Forward-Looking Information

The statements contained in this report on ForriK 1at are not purely historical are forward-loakistatements within the meaning of
applicable securities laws. Forward-looking statetménclude statements regarding our “expectatidasticipations,” “intentions,” “beliefs,”
or “strategies” regarding the future. Forward-laakistatements also include statements regardiremuey margins, expenses, and earnings fo
fiscal 2013 and thereafter; our belief that ourcficeés enhance our ability to attract more custgmfester an overall enjoyable boating
experience, and offer boat manufacturers stablepasféssional retail distribution and a broad gepgic presence; our assessment of our
competitive advantages, including our no hasslkessapproach, prime retail locations, premium prodiferings, extensive facilities, strong
management and team members, and emphasis on enstervice and satisfaction before and after a falat our belief that our core values
of customer service and satisfaction and our gfisewill enable us to achieve success and lomg-tgowth when economic conditions
improve; and our belief that our retailing strategare aligned with the desires of consumers.oflérd-looking statements included in this
report are based on information available to usfale filing date of this report, and we assumehligation to update any such forward-
looking statements. Our actual results could diff@terially from the forward-looking statements. é&mg the factors that could cause actual
results to differ materially are the factors disadsunder Item 1A, “Risk Factors.”

PART |

Item 1. Business

Introduction

Our Company



We are the largest recreational boat dealer ittiteed States. Through 53 retail locations in Alaba Arizona, California, Connecticut,
Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minreesdtissouri, New Jersey, New York, North Caroli@dnio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island,
Tennessee, and Texas, we sell new and used rec@dibats, including pleasure and fishing boaity afocus on premium brands in each
segment. We also sell related marine productsydticy engines, trailers, parts, and accessoriezddiition, we provide repair, maintenance,
and slip and storage services; we arrange relatatfinancing, insurance, and extended serviceractst we offer boat and yacht brokerage
services; and we operate a yacht charter business.

We are the natios’largest retailer of Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, BayliCabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreationalsaad yachts, all ¢
which are manufactured by Brunswick CorporationBormswick. Sales of new Brunswick boats accoufde@pproximately 47% of our
revenue in fiscal 2012. Brunswick is the world'sgklest manufacturer of marine products and mariggnes. We believe our sales represented
approximately 7% of all Brunswick marine sales|iing approximately 42% of its Sea Ray boat salasing our 2012 fiscal year. We are
parties to dealer agreements with Brunswick cogeina Ray products and are the exclusive dealkeaRay boats in almost all of our
geographic markets. We also are the exclusive déalélatteras Yachts throughout the state of BEilexcluding the Florida panhandle) and
the states of New Jersey, New York, and Texasexictusive dealer for Cabo Yachts throughout theestaf Florida, New Jersey, and New
York; the exclusive dealer for Boston Whaler anglBer in many of our geographic markets; and thelesive dealer for Meridian Yachts in
most of our geographic markets. In addition, wethesexclusive dealer for Italy-based Azimut-Ben8tbup for Azimut mega-yachts, yachts,
and other recreational boats for the United States.

We commenced operations as a result of the Mar&B98 acquisition of five previously independerdreational boat dealers. Since that
time, we have acquired 22 additional previoushejmehdent recreational boat dealers, two boat bagkeoperations, and two fidervice yach
repair operations. We capitalize on the experiemzbsuccess of the acquired companies in ordestablesh a high national standard of
customer service and responsiveness in the hightyrfented retail boating industry. As a resultwf @mphasis on premium brand boats, our
average selling price for a new boat in fiscal 2063 approximately $129,000, an increase of apprately 2% from approximately $126,000
in fiscal 2011, compared with the industry avereglendar 2011 selling price of approximately $36,b68sed on industry data published by
National Marine Manufacturers Association. Our eforwhich operated at least 12 months, averagatdpyately $10.6 million in annui
sales in fiscal 2012. We consider a store to beoomeore retail locations that are adjacent or afgeas one entity. Our same-store sales
decreased 17% in fiscal 2010, increased 8% inlfi&&hl, and increased 11% in fiscal 2012.

We adopt the best practices developed by us andanuired companies as appropriate to enhancebdity 4o attract more customers,
foster an overall enjoyable boating experience,&fat boat manufacturers stable and professiatallrdistribution and a broad geographic
presence. We believe that our full range of sesjioe hassle sales approach, prime retail locatpmesnium product offerings, extensive
facilities, strong management and team memberseamnhasis on customer service and satisfactiondefud after a boat sale are competitive
advantages that enable us to be more responsikie teeeds of existing and prospective customers.

The U.S. recreational boating industry generatgntapmately $32.3 billion in retail sales in calem®011, which is down from the peak
of $39.5 billion in calendar 2006. The retail saledude sales of new and used boats; marine ptegsiech as engines, trailers, equipment, an
accessories; and related expenditures, such asrfaetance, docking, storage, and repairs. Reddgls of new and used boats, engines, trailer
and accessories accounted for approximately $2Bidnkof these sales in 2011 based on industra di@m the National Marine Manufacture
Association. The highly fragmented retail boatingustry generally consists of small dealers tharate in a single market and provide van
degrees of merchandising, professional managermedicustomer service. We believe that many smalkdg are finding it increasingly
difficult to make the managerial and capital conm@hts necessary to achieve higher customer sdeviets and upgrade systems and facili
as required by boat manufacturers and demandeddtgroers. We also believe that many dealers lagkarstrategy for their owners. We
believe these factors contribute to our opportutaitgain competitive advantage in current and futaarkets, through market expansions and
acquisitions.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the nati@ading recreational boat dealer. Key elementauofoperating and growth strategy
include the following:

. emphasizing customer satisfaction and loyaltgt®ating an overall enjoyable boating experienegjriming with a hassle-free
purchase process, customer training, superior cwestservice, compa-led events called Getaways!, and premier facili

. achieving efficiencies and synergies among ouratmers to enhance internal growth and profitahi
. promoting national brand name recognition and ttaeiiMax connectior

. offering additional marine products and servicasluding those with higher profit margir

. expanding our Internet marketir

. pursuing strategic acquisitions to capitalizenufite consolidation opportunities in the highlygireented recreational boat dealer
industry by acquiring additional dealers and relatperations and improving their performance amdifability through the
implementation of our operating strategi

. opening additional retail facilities, including rhatores, in our existing and new territori

. emphasizing employee recruitment, training, anceigpment;

. emphasizing th“best practice’ developed by us and our acquired dealers as apgt@inroughout our dealershij

. operating with a decentralized approach to theaijmral management of our dealerships;

. utilizing information technology throughout optoas, which facilitates the interchange of infotioa sharing and enhances cross-



selling opportunities throughout our compa

Development of the Company; Expansion of Business

MarineMax was founded in January 1998. MarineMae&lft however, conducted no operations until thiuisition of five independent
recreational boat dealers on March 1, 1998, andomgpleted our initial public offering in June 19%8nce the initial acquisitions in March
1998, we have acquired 22 additional recreationat Healers, two boat brokerage operations, anduliveervice yacht repair operations.

Acquired dealers operate under the MarineMax name.

We continually attempt to enhance our businessrbyiging a full range of services, offering exteresand high-quality product lines,
maintaining prime retail locations, pursuing therMaMax One Price hassle-free sales approach, mpt&sizing the highest level of customel

service and customer satisfaction.

We also evaluate opportunities to expand our ojgeraby acquiring recreational boat dealers to eapaur geographic scope, expanding
our product lines, opening new retail locationshivitour existing territories, and offering new puats and services for our customers.

Acquisitions of additional recreational boat deglepresent an important strategy in our goal kaeoe our position as the nation’s
leading retailer of recreational boats. The follogviable sets forth information regarding the beisges that we have acquired and their

geographic regions.

Acquired Companies

Bassett Boat Company of Florida
Louis Del[Homme Marint
Gulfwind USA, Inc.

Gulfwind South, Inc

Harrison’s Boat Center, Inc. and Harrison’s Mar@enters of

Arizona, Inc.(1)

Stovall Marine, Inc

Cochrar's Marine, Inc. and C & N Marine Corporati

Sea Ray of North Carolina, In

Brevard Boat Compan

Sea Ray of Las Veg:

Treasure Cove Marina, In

Woods & Oviatt, Inc

Boating World

Merit Marine, Inc.

Suburban Boatworks, In

Hansen Marine, Inc

Duce Marine, Inc.(2

Clark’s Landing, Inc. (selected New Jersey locatiand
operations’

Associated Marine Technologies, I

Gulfwind Marine Partners, In

Seaside Marine, In

Sundance Marine, Inc.(:

Killinger Marine Center, Inc. and Killinger Marir@enter of
Alabama, Inc

Emarine International, Inc. and Steven Myers,

Imperial Marine

Port Jacksonville Marin

Port Arrowhead Marina, In

Great American Marina(¢

Surfside— 3 Marina, Inc.

Treasure Island Marina, LL

Bassett Marine, LL(

Acquisition Date

Geographic Region

March 199:
March 199:
March 199:
March 199:

March 199:
April 199¢
July 199¢

July 199¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
September 19¢
October 199
February 199
March 199!
April 199¢
August 199
December 19¢

April 200C
January 20C
April 200z
July 200:
June 200

September 20(
October 200
June 200
June 200
January 20C
February 200
March 2001
February 201
September 20:

Southeast Florid

Dallas and Houston, Tex
West Central Florid,
Southwest Florid:

Northern California and Arizon
Georgia

Minnesota

North and South Carolir
East Central Florid
Nevada

Northern Ohic
Southeast Florid

Dallas, Texa:

Southern New Jerse
Central New Jerse
Northeast Florid:

Utah

Northern New Jerse
Southeast Florid
West Floride
Southern Californii
Colorado

Northwest Florida and Alaban

Southeast Florid

Baltimore, Marylanc

Northeast Florid:

Missouri, Oklahom:

West Floride

Connecticut, Maryland, New York and Rhode Isli
Florida Panhandl

Connecticut, Rhode Island, Western Massachu

(1) We subsequently closed the Northern California ati@ns of Harrison Boat Center, Ir

(2) We subsequently closed the operations of Duce Mahit.
(3) We subsequently sold the operations of Sundanc@kldnc.

(4) Joint Venture

Apart from acquisitions, we have opened 29 newilfgizations in existing territories, excluding #®opened on a temporary basis for a
specific purpose. We also monitor the performarfcauo retail locations and close retail locatiohattdo not meet our expectations. Based on
these factors and the recent depressed economidioos, we have closed 55 retail locations sinad¥t 1998, excluding those opened on a
temporary basis for a specific purpose, includigrefiscal 2009 and a total of eight during thetldnree fiscal years.
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As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequeertigage in discussions with various recreationat bealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these disimrss we and each potential acquisition candidetd&nge confidential operational and
financial information; conduct due diligence inges; and consider the structure, terms, and camditof the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agids discuss a potential acquisition with artyeotparty for a specific period of time, grants
us an option to purchase the prospective dealer ffmsignated price during a specific time peréod] agrees to take other actions designed tc
enhance the possibility of the acquisition, sucpraparing audited financial information and coivey its accounting system to the system
specified by us. Potential acquisition discussioeguently take place over a long period of timd avolve difficult business integration and
other issues, including in some cases, managemeo¢ssion and related matters. As a result of thedether factors, a number of potential
acquisitions that from time to time appear likedyoccur do not result in binding legal agreementsae not consummated.

In addition to acquiring recreational boat deaberd opening new retail locations, we also add newlyrct lines to expand our operatic
The following table sets forth various current prodlines that we have added to our existing locetiduring the years indicated.

Product Line Fiscal Year Geographic Regions

Boston Whaler 1998 West Central Florida; Stuart, Florida; Dallas, T&

Hatteras Yacht 1999 Florida (excluding the Florida panhand

Boston Whale 2000 North Palm Beach, Florid

Meridian Yachts 2002 Florida, Georgia, North and South Carolina, Nevedgr
Ohio, Minnesota, Texas, and Delaw

Grady White 2002 Houston, Texa

Hatteras Yacht 2002 Texas

Boston Whale 2004 North and South Carolir

Princecraf 2004 Minnesota

Boston Whale 2005 Houston

Meridian Yachts 2005 Chattanooga, Tenness

Azimut 2006 Northeast United States from Maryland to Ma

Cabo 2006 West coast of Florid

Cabo 2007 East coast of Florid

Azimut 2008 Florida

Cabo 2008 New Jersey and New Yol

Hatteras Yacht 2008 New Jersey and New Yol

Meridian Yachts 2008 Arizona and Colorad

Meridian Yachts 2009 Maryland and Delawar

Boston Whale 2009 Southwest Florid:

Harris FloteBote 2010 Arizona, Missouri, Minnesota, New Jersey, and
Tennesse

Malibu 2010 Arizona

Axis 2010 Arizona

Nautique by Correct Cra 2010 West Central Florida, Georgia, Minnesota, Missoanil
Tennesse

Bayliner 2010 New York

Meridian Yachts 2010 California

Harris FloteBote 2011 West Central Florid

Zeelander Yacht 2011 United States and Cana

Manguste 2011 United States and Cana

Bayliner 2011 West Central Florida, Colorado, Connecticut, Mirotas
New Jersey, Tennessee, and Te

Azimut 2012 United States other than where previously |

Boston Whale 2012 Pompano, Florid.

Harris FloteBote 2012 Alabama, North and Southwest Florida, Wrightsville,
North Carolina, and Texe

Bayliner 2012 Southwest Floridi

Scout 2012 Southwest Florida, Maryland, and New Jer
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We add brands with the intent to either offer anatign path for our existing customer base orefijap in our product offerings. As a
result, we believe that new brands we offer aregtementary and do not cannibalize the businessrgtatefrom our other prominent brands.
We also discontinue offering product lines fromdito time, primarily based upon customer preference

During the nine-year period from the commenceménuo operations through our fiscal year ended &aper 30, 2007, our revenue
increased from $291 million to $1.2 hillion. Ouremue and net income increased in seven of thoseyeiars over the prior year revenue and
net income. This period was marked by an increasetail locations from 41 on September 30, 19988@n September 30, 2007, resulting
from acquisitions and opening new stores in exgstarritories.

Our growth was interrupted during the fiscal yeaderl September 30, 2007, primarily as a resulacibfs related to the deteriorating
housing market and general economic conditionsstaukially deteriorating economic and financial ditions, reduced consumer confidel



and spending, increases in fuel prices, lower teadiilability, financial market declines, and dsssue deterioration all contributed to
substantially lower financial performance in thecéil years ended September 30, 2008 and 2009dinglsignificant net losses, followed by
pre-tax losses in the fiscal years ended SepteB8thez010 and 2011. We returned to profitabilitfigeal 2012.

We have taken a number of actions to address tiernged weak market and economic conditions, irinydeducing our acquisition
program, slowing our new store openings, reducingroventory purchases, engaging in inventory rédagefforts, closing a number of our
retail locations, significantly reducing our headot and modifying our debt structure and repladuogcredit facility. Acquisitions and new
store openings remain important strategies to ompany, and we plan to resume our growth throughdlstrategies as economic conditions
permit. However, we cannot predict the length eesigy of the continuing economic weakness or tlagnitude of the effects it will have on
our operating performance nor can we predict tlecB¥eness of the measures we have taken to agdtiiesenvironment.

Despite the foregoing actions, we are maintainimgomre values of high customer service and satisfaand plan to continue to pursue
strategies that will enable us to achieve long-teaccess and growth when economic conditions imgrasg noted in the earlier table, we have
capitalized on a number of brand expansion oppditsrin the markets in which we operate. We beieur expanded product offerings have
strengthened our same-store sales growth. As edormmmnditions permit, we plan to resume expandinghusiness through both acquisitions
in new territories and new store openings in exgsterritories. In addition, we plan to continuestgpand our other traditional and newly
offered services, including conducting used bokgssat our retail locations, at offsite locatioasd on the Internet; selling related marine
products, including engines, trailers, parts, acmkasories at our retail locations and at varidisite locations, through our print catalog, and
through our newly enhanced website portal; progdiraintenance, repair, and storage services atohosir retail locations; offering our
customers the ability to finance new or used bazfsring extended service contracts; arrangingriaisce coverage, including boat property,
credit-life, accident, disability, and casualty ecage; offering boat and yacht brokerage servitewat of our retail locations and at various
offsite locations; maintaining a web based listiegvice for individuals and boat dealers and brokelist their boats for sale; providing
independent brokers and dealers our software apjglits to list their inventories for sale; condngtour yacht charter business, and
maintaining a Rewards Club for our customers. Gpaasion plans will depend upon the return of ndmeanomic conditions.

We maintain our executive offices at 18167 U.S.Hdigy 19 North, Suite 300, Clearwater, Florida 33& our telephone number is
(727) 531-1700. We were incorporated in the sthf@ataware in January 1998. Unless the contextratise requires, all references to
“MarineMax” mean MarineMax, Inc. prior to its acgition of five previously independent recreatiobaat dealers in March 1998 (including
their related real estate companies) and all reé&®to the “Company,” “our company,” “we,” “us fih“our” mean, as a combined company,
MarineMax, Inc. and the 22 recreational boat dsakevo boat brokerage operations, and two fulliseryacht repair operations acquired to
date (the “acquired dealers,” and together withtitekerage and repair operations, “operating sido$és,” or the “acquired companies”).
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Our website is located atww.MarineMax.com Through our website, we make available free affgh our annual report on Form 10-K,
our quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, our currenprepon Form 8-K, our proxy statements, and anyraiments to those reports filed or
furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) ofSkeurities Exchange Act of 1934. These reportaaadable as soon as reasonably
practicable after we electronically file those rgpavith the Securities and Exchange CommissioiBSEC. We also post on our website the
charters of our Audit, Compensation, and Nomind@uogporate Governance Committees; our Corporate@awice Guidelines, Code of
Business Conduct and Ethics, and Code of Ethicth®CEO and Senior Financial Officers, and anyradnmeents or waivers thereto; and any
other corporate governance materials contemplatedebSEC or the regulations of the New York StBekhange, or NYSE. These document:
are also available in print to any stockholder esgfing a copy from our corporate secretary at ancipal executive offices. Because our
common stock is listed on the NYSE, our Chief EximeuOfficer is required to make an annual cerdifion to the NYSE stating that he is not
aware of any violation by us of the corporate goaece listing standards of the NYSE. Our Chief Eixige Officer made his annual
certification to that effect to the NYSE on March2912.

Business

General

We are the largest recreational boat dealer ittiteed States. Through 53 retail locations in Alaba Arizona, California, Connecticut,
Florida, Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minreesidissouri, New Jersey, New York, North Caroli@dnio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island,
Tennessee, and Texas, we sell new and used rec@diobats, including pleasure boats (such as gpats, sport cruisers, sport yachts, and
yachts), and fishing boats, with a focus on premiwamds in each segme

We are the natios’largest retailer of Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, BayliCabo, Hatteras, and Meridian recreationalsaad yachts, all ¢
which are manufactured by Brunswick CorporatiodeSaf new Brunswick boats accounted for approxaiyat 7% of our revenue in fiscal
2012. Brunswick is the world’largest manufacturer of marine products and re@angines. We believe our sales represented appaitedy 7%
of all Brunswick marine sales, including approxigiat42% of its Sea Ray boat sales, during our Z&t2l year. We are parties to dealer
agreements with Brunswick covering Sea Ray prodaintsare the exclusive dealer of Sea Ray boatsiosa all of our geographic markets.
We also are the exclusive dealer for Hatteras Ysititbughout the state of Florida (excluding theriela panhandle) and the states of New
Jersey, New York, and Texas; the exclusive deale€abo Yachts throughout the states of Floriday Nersey, and New York; the exclusive
dealer for Boston Whaler in many of our geographérkets; the exclusive dealer for Bayliner in mahgur geographic markets; and the
exclusive dealer for Meridian Yachts in most of gengraphic markets. In addition, we are the exatudealer for Italy-based Azimut-Benetti
Group for Azimut mega-yachts, yachts, and othere@tonal boats for the United States.

We also are involved in other boating-related ati¢is. We sell used boats at our retail locati@mdine, and at various thirgarty marina
and other offsite locations; we sell marine engimed propellers, primarily to our retail customassreplacements for their existing engines



propellers; we sell a broad variety of parts antkasories at our retail locations and at variotsteflocations, through our print catalog,
and through our newly enhanced website portal; fiexr maintenance, repair, and slip and storageises\at most of our retail locations; we
offer finance and insurance, or F&I, products atratail locations and at various offsite locati@msl to our customers and independent boat
dealers and brokers; we offer boat and yacht bemjeeservices at most of our retail locations andiebus offsite locations; we maintain a
web-based listing service for individuals and haedlers and brokers to list their boats for sakepwovide independent dealers and brokers ot
software applications under which the dealers anldys can list their boat inventories for salejoltthen can be posted to other websites
selected by the dealers and brokers; and we comadymtht charter business in which we offer custsritee opportunity to charter third-party
owned power and sailing yachts in exotic locations.

U.S. Recreational Boating Industry

The total U.S. recreational boating industry getegt@pproximately $32.3 billion in retail salescalendar 2011, which is down from the
peak of $39.5 billion in calendar 2006. The retales include retail sales of new and used reoredtboats; marine products, such as engines
trailers, parts, and accessories; and relatedrgpatipenditures, such as fuel, insurance, dockilogage, and repairs. Retail sales of new and
used boats, engines, trailers, and accessoriesrtecbfor approximately $22.5 billion of such salke2011. Annual retail recreational boating
sales were $17.9 billion in 1988, but declined tova of $10.3 billion in 1992 based on industryalptiblished by the National Marine
Manufacturers Association. We believe this decliras attributable to several factors, including@ession, the Gulf War, and the imposition
throughout 1991 and 1992 of a luxury tax on boalks at prices in excess of $100,000. The luxurytas repealed in 1993, and retail boating
sales increased each year thereafter except f&, 2093, 2007, 2008, 2009, and 2010.
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The recreational boat retail market remains hidgtdgmented with little consolidation having occutte date and consists of numerous
boat retailers, most of which are small companiesea by individuals that operate in a single mad¢at provide varying degrees of
merchandising, professional management, and custeangce. We believe that many boat retailersesa@untering increased pressure from
boat manufacturers to improve their levels of senand systems, increased competition from larggomal retailers in certain product lines,
and, in certain cases, business succession issues.

Strategy

Our goal is to enhance our position as the nati@ading recreational boat dealer. Key elementauofoperating and growth strategy
include the following.

Emphasizing Customer Satisfaction and Loyallye seek to achieve a high level of customerfsation and establish long-term
customer loyalty by creating an overall enjoyahating experience beginning with a hassle-freelmse process. We further enhance and
simplify the purchase process by helping to arrdirgancing and insurance at our retail locationghwompetitive terms and streamlined
turnaround. We offer the customer a thorough inewatientation of boat operations where availafdewell as ongoing boat safety,
maintenance, and use seminars and demonstratiotieefoustomer’s entire family. We also continue customer service after the sale by
leading and sponsoring MarineMax Getaways! grougtibg trips to various destinations, rendezvoubeyatigs, and on-the-water organized
events to provide our customers with pre-arranggzbdunities to enjoy the pleasures of the bodtfegtyle. We also endeavor to provide
superior maintenance and repair services, ofteutir mobile service at the customer’s wet slip &iid extended service department hours
and emergency service availability, that minimize hassles of boat maintenance.

Achieving Operating Efficiencies and Synergi¥ge strive to increase the operating efficienoieand achieve certain synergies among
our dealerships in order to enhance internal gramth profitability. We centralize various aspedtsertain administrative functions at the
corporate level, such as accounting, finance, arsee coverage, employee benefits, marketing, gicapdanning, legal support, purchasing anc
distribution, and management information systenentf@lization of these functions reduces dupliea@xpenses and permits the dealerships
benefit from a level of scale and expertise thatild@therwise be unavailable to each dealershijvithdally. We also seek to realize cost
savings from reduced inventory carrying costs essalt of purchasing boat inventories on a natitenal and directing boats to dealership
locations that can more readily sell such boatsgldinancing costs through our credit sources;aidme purchase discounts and rebates fol
certain marine products, supplies, and advertisiihg. ability of our retail locations to offer theraplementary services of our other retalil
locations, such as offering customer excursion dppdies, providing maintenance and repair ses/agethe customer’s boat location, and
giving access to a larger inventory, increasestimpetitiveness of each retail location. By ceitihad) these types of activities, our store
managers have more time to focus on the custonteth@ndevelopment of their teams.

Promoting Brand Name Recognition and the Marinel@axinection We are promoting our brand name recognition te tdvantage of
our status as the nation’s only coast-to-coastmeagtailer. This strategy also recognizes thatyneaisting and potential customers who resids
in Northern markets and vacation for substantialogls in Southern markets will prefer to purchaseé service their boats from the same well-
known company. We refer to this strategy as therfidviax Connection.” As a result, our signage ensptes the MarineMax name at each of
our locations, and we conduct national advertigingarious print and other media.
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Offering Additional Products and Services, Inclgdifhose Involving Higher Profit MargindNVe plan to continue to offer additional
product lines and services throughout our dealpsséind, when appropriate, online and various eftsitations. We are offering throughout
dealerships product lines that previously have loffamed only at certain of our locations. We atdxain additional product lines through the
acquisition of distribution rights directly from mafacturers and the acquisition of dealerships digitribution rights. In either situation, such
expansion is typically done through agreementsappbint us as the exclusive dealer for a desigrggegraphic territory. We plan to contir



to grow our financing and insurance, parts and ssm@es, service, and boat storage businessesiéo erve our customers and thereby
increase revenue and improve profitability of thieggher margin businesses. We also have implemeggressive programs to increase
substantially the sale over the Internet of usaatdand a wide range of boating parts, accessstpsglies, and products. In addition, we have
established a yacht charter business and are ctimglpcograms to sell used boats, offer F&I produend sell boating parts and accessories
various offsite locations.

Marketing over the InternetOur web initiatives span across multiple websiteguding our core siteyww.MarineMax.com The
websites provide customers with the ability to tearore about our company and our products. Our itgefgenerates direct sales and provides
our stores with leads to potential customers fov aad used boats, brokerage services, financeraadance products, and repair and
maintenance services. In addition, we utilize wasiteeder websites and social networking websitelsive additional traffic and leads for our
various product and service offerings. As mentioaledve, we also maintain multiple online storefsdiotr customers to purchase used boats
and a wide variety of boating parts and accessories

Pursuing Strategic AcquisitiondVe capitalize upon the significant consolidatomportunities available in the highly fragmented
recreational boat dealer industry by acquiring pefelent dealers and improving their performancepaofitability through the implementatic
of our operating strategies. The primary acquisifacus is on well-established, high-end recreatitmoat dealers in geographic markets not
currently served by us, particularly geographic kets with strong boating demographics, such assaméhin the coastal states and the Great
Lakes region. We also may seek to acquire boaedetiat, while located in attractive geographickess, have not been able to realize
favorable market share or profitability and that t&nefit substantially from our systems and ofregattrategies. We may expand our range o
product lines, service offerings, and market pextietn by acquiring companies that distribute retto@al boat product lines or boating-related
services different from those we currently offes @&result of our considerable industry experiaaratrelationships, we believe we are well
positioned to identify and evaluate acquisitiondidates and assess their growth prospects, théygaatheir management teams, their local
reputation with customers, and the suitabilitytadit locations. We believe we are regarded astesictive acquirer by boat dealers because of
(1) the historical performance and the experiemckraputation of our management team within thestgy; (2) our decentralized operating
strategy, which generally enables the managers atquired dealer to continue their involvemerdealership operations; (3) the ability of
management and employees of an acquired dealartioipate in our growth and expansion through piiéé stock ownership and career
advancement opportunities; and (4) the abilityferdiquidity to the owners of acquired dealersotingh the receipt of common stock or cash.
We have entered into an agreement regarding atiqusiwith the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick. Undee agreement, acquisitions of Sea
Ray dealers will be mutually agreed upon by us $e@a Ray with reasonable efforts to be made todieciubalance of Sea Ray dealers that
been successful and those that have not been.greeraent provides that Sea Ray will not unreasgnaithhold its consent to any proposed
acquisition of a Sea Ray dealer by us, subjedigacbnditions set forth in the agreement, as fudlescribed in “Business — Brunswick
Agreement Relating to Acquisitions.”

Opening New FacilitiesWe intend to continue to establish additionaitdacilities in our existing and new markets whaarkets
conditions improve. We believe that the demograpbifoour existing geographic territories suppoet tipening of additional facilities, and we
have opened 29 new retail facilities, excludingsthopened on a temporary basis for a specific pagmince our formation in January 1998.
We also plan to reach new customers through vaimmeyative retail formats developed by us, sucha#t stores and floating retail facilities.
We continually monitor the performance of our refzéations and close retail locations that domeet our expectations or that were opened
for a specific purpose that is no longer relevBased on these factors since March 1998, we hagea!55 retail locations, excluding those
opened on a temporary basis for a specific purpgnskiding 26 in fiscal 2009.
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Emphasizing Employee Recruiting, Training, and Dmyeent. We devote substantial efforts to recruit empleythat we believe to be
exceptionally well qualified for their position amaitrain our employees to understand our corél ggtdosophies, which focus on making the
purchase of a boat and its subsequent use asfi@ssknd enjoyable as possible. Through our MtaeUniversity, or MMU, we teach our
retail philosophies to existing and new employdess&ous locations and online, through MMU-onlilndMU is a modularized and instructor-
led educational program that focuses on our ratabhilosophies and provides instruction on suctiermas the sales process, customer
service, F&I, accounting, leadership, and humaoueses.

Emphasizing Best Practice$Ve emphasize the “best practices” developed ndsour acquired dealers as appropriate throughout
locations. As an example, we follow a no-hagglesalpproach at each of our dealerships. Under grsmdMax One Price hassle-free sales
approach, we sell our boats at posted prices, gineepresenting a discount from the manufactsrevggested retail price, thereby elimina
the anxieties of price negotiations that occur wstrboat purchases. In addition, we adopt, whenefizal, the best practices developed by us
and our acquired dealers in terms of location,giedayout, product purchases, maintenance andr rggraices (including extended service
hours and mobile or dockside services), product eixployee training, and customer education andcses.

Operating with Decentralized ManagemeiYe maintain a generally decentralized approatheémperational management of our
dealerships. The decentralized management apptakes advantage of the extensive experience of tlogaaagers, enabling them to
implement policies and make decisions, includiregappropriate product mix, based on the needsedbttal market. Local management
authority also fosters responsive customer seaicepromotes long-term community and customeriogiships. In addition, the centralization
of certain administrative functions at the corperatvel enhances the ability of local managerstoi$ their efforts on day-to-day dealership
operations and the customers.

Utilizing Technology Throughout Operationg/e believe that our management information systeinich currently is being utilized by
each of our dealerships and was developed ovemb@uof years through cooperative efforts with mown vendor, enhances our ability to
integrate successfully the operations of our dehklps and future acquired dealers. The systenittaes the interchange of information and
enhances cross-selling opportunities throughoutompany. The system integrates each level of tipasaon a company-wide basis,
including purchasing, inventory, receivables, ficiahreporting, budgeting, and sales managemerg.sybtem also provides sa



representatives with prospect and customer infaomdhat aids them in tracking the status of tleeintacts with prospects, automatically
generates follow-up correspondence to such prosplecilitates the availability of boats companydeijilocates boats needed to satisfy
particular customer requests, and monitors the texa@mce and service needs of customers’ boats.eprasentatives also utilize the computer
system to assist in arranging customer financirjiasurance packages. Our managers use a web-foaseol access essentially all financial
and operational data from anywhere at any time.

Products and Services

We offer new and used recreational boats and refatine products, including engines, trailersigpand accessories. While we sell a
broad range of new and used boats, we focus onipmebrand products. In addition, we assist in agiag related boat financing, insurance,
and extended service contracts; provide boat maantze and repair services; offer slip and storageramodations; provide boat and yacht
brokerage services; license a software applicdtiothird-party boat inventory listings; conducyacht charter business; and maintain a
Rewards Club program for our customers.

New Boat Sale:

We primarily sell recreational boats, includinggdare boats and fishing boats. The principal prizdwe offer are manufactured by
Brunswick, the leading worldwide manufacturer afreational boats, including Sea Ray pleasure bBaiston Whaler fishing boats, Cabo
Yachts, Hatteras Yachts, and Meridian Yachts.dodi 2012, we derived approximately 47% of our nesefrom the sale of new boats
manufactured by Brunswick. We believe that we repnéed approximately 7% of all of Brunswick’'s marproduct sales during that period.
Certain of our dealerships also sell luxury yacfighing boats, and pontoon boats provided by oth@nufacturers, including Italy-based
Azimut. During fiscal 2012, new boat sales accodrite 62.7% of our revenue.
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We offer recreational boats in most market segméitishave a particular focus on premium qualigaglure boats and yachts as refle
by our fiscal 2012 average new boat sales pri@pfoximately $129,000, an increase of approxim&ied from approximately $126,000 in
fiscal 2011, compared with an estimated industerage calendar 2011 selling price of approxima$&§,000 based on industry data publis
by the National Marine Manufacturers Associatioivegd our locations in some of the more affluentsiobre boating areas in the United State:
and emphasis on high levels of customer servicesell@ relatively higher percentage of large ratiomal boats, such as mega-yachts, yachts
and sport cruisers. We believe that the produesline offer are among the highest quality withiirthespective market segments, with well-
established trade-name recognition and reputafamguality, performance, and styling.

The following table is illustrative of the rangedaapproximate manufacturer suggested retail peinge of new boats that we currently
offer, but is not all inclusive.

Manufacturer Suggested

Product Line and Trade Name Overall Length Retail Price Range
Motor Yachts

Hatteras Motor Yacht 54 to 10C + $3,000,000 to $10,000,00
Azimut 40 to 11€+ 600,000 to 12,000,00t
Convertibles

Hatteras Convertible 54 to 77 + 2,300,000 to 7,000,001
Cabo 36 to 57 700,000 to 2,000,00(
Pleasure Boats

Sea Ray 18 to 671 25,000 to 3,000,0(
Meridian 34 to 54 400,000 to 1,800,0(
Bayliner 16 to 3% 13,000 to 150,0¢
Fishing Boats

Boston Whale 11’ to 37 8,000 to 500,0C
Grady White 18 to 3¢ 40,000 to 500,0C
Scout 17 to 3% 25,000 to 450,0¢
Ski Boats

Malibu 20 to 2% 80,000 to 140,0C
Axis 20 to 27 60,000 to 90,0C
Nautique by Correct Cra 21 to 2% 75,000 to 180,0C

Motor Yachts Hatteras Yachts and Azimut are two of the worlgfsmier yacht builders. The motor yacht produwtditypically include
state-of-the-art designs with live-aboard luxuridatteras offers a flybridge with extensive guesttsg; covered aft deck, which may be fully
or partially enclosed, providing the boater witldiidnal living space; an elegant salon; and midtgtaterooms for accommodations. Azimut
yachts are known for their Americanized open laywitlh Italian design and powerful performance. Tiraurious interiors of Azimut yachts ¢
accented by windows and multiple accommodationstthee been designed for comfort.

Convertibles Hatteras Yachts and Cabo Yachts are two of thddiggoremier convertible yacht builders and of§éate-of-theart design:
with live-aboard luxuries. Convertibles are prirhafishing vessels, which are well equipped to nthetneeds of even the most serious
tournament-class competitor. Hatteras featuresiangethat offer luxurious salon/galley arrangensentultiple staterooms with private heads,
and a cockpit that includes a bait and tackle eefighbox, and freezer. Cabo is known for spacioaskpits and accessibility to essentials, ¢
as bait chests, livewells, bait prep centers, ankll¢ lockers. Cabo interiors offer elegance, higtied by teak woodwork, halogen lighting, i
ample storage aree
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Pleasure Boats Sea Ray and Meridian pleasure boats target hetlukury and the family recreational boating méskend come in a
variety of configurations to suit each customeagstigular recreational boating style. Sea Ray spachts and yachts serve the luxury segment
of the recreational boating market and includedb6fie line living accommodations with a salonullyf equipped galley, and multiple
staterooms. Sea Ray sport yachts and yachts aitetde@an cabin, bridge cockpit, and cruiser mod&lea Ray sport boat and sport cruiser
models are designed for performance and depentyaioilmeet family recreational needs and includayraf the features and accommodation:
of Sea Ray'’s sport yacht and yacht models. Meridjgort yachts and yachts are known for their gpdidormance and thoughtful use of space
with 360-degree views and spacious salon, galley stateroom accommodations. Meridian sport yaahtsyachts are available in sedan,
motoryacht, and pilothouse models. All Sea RayMeddian pleasure boats feature custom instrumiemtahat may include an electronics
package; various hull, deck, and cockpit desigas¢hn include a swim platform; bow pulpit and edi®ridge; and various amenities, such as
swivel bucket helm seats, lounge seats, sun pagtdyavs, built-in ice chests, and refreshment eenBayliner sport boat and sport cruiser
models are designed for performance and depeniyaibilmeet family recreational needs at lower ppomts. Most Sea Ray, Bayliner, and
Meridian pleasure boats feature Mercury or MerGmuengines.

Fishing Boats The fishing boats we offer, such as Boston Wh&eady White, and Scout, range from entry levetleis to advanced
models designed for fishing and water sports iedakays, and off-shore waters, with cabins wittitéd live-aboard capability. The fishing
boats typically feature livewells, in-deck fishbexeodholders, rigging stations, cockpit coamindggand fresh and saltwater washdowns.

Ski Boats The ski boats we offer, such as Malibu, Axis, &lalitique by Correct Craft, range from entry leweldels to advanced
models, all of which are designed to achieve amalie wake for increased skier and wakeboardeppaence and safety. With a variety of
designs and options, the ski boats we offer willesgd to the competitor and recreational user alike.

Used Boat Sales

We sell used versions of the new makes and modelsfier and, to a lesser extent, used boats of otlaé&es and models generally taken
as trade-ins. During fiscal 2012, used boat salesumted for 17.8% of our revenue, and 74.9% ofiderl boats we sold were Brunswick
models.

Our used boat sales depend on our ability to scausagply of high-quality used boats at attracgiviees. We acquire substantially all of
our used boat inventory through customer tradeWsesintend to continue to increase our used bosinbss as a result of the availability of
quality used boats generated from our new boas sdferts, the increasing number of used boatsatetvell-maintained through our service
initiatives, including our Premium Certified Pre-@&d Program, our ability to market used boats thinout our combined dealership network
to match used boat demand, and the experiencer gbotit brokerage operations. Additionally, subsédy all of our used boat inventory is
posted on our website, which expands the awaremebavailability of our products to a large auden€ boating enthusiasts. We also sell (
boats at various marinas and other offsite locattbnoughout the country.

To further enhance our used boat sales, we laurelfrdmium Certified Pre-Owned Program, or PCP@saal 2008. Generally, PCPO
boats are less than four years old, have passB@-pdint inspection, and carry a one year warrahtigitionally, we offer the Sea Ray Legacy
warranty plan available for used Sea Ray boatsthesssix years old. The Legacy plan applies th epmlifying used Sea Ray boat, which has
passed a 48-point inspection, and provides protectgainst failure of most mechanical parts fotaifhree years. We believe these programs
enhance our sales of used Sea Ray boats by motyaiirchasers of used Sea Ray boats to completgthehases through our Sea Ray
dealerships.

We recently established a web-based listing seffeicendividuals and boat dealers to list theirdib®ats for sale. Similar to other web-
based listing services, the listings are offereduh a tiered pricing strategy ranging from a bafsee” package to premium packages for a
designated period of time. We also help facilitates by connecting buyers with independent sepriceiders that offer boat inspections, boat
transportation, and boat financing. We generatemeg for boat listings from sellers, lead genenafiiom service providers, and display
advertising from service providers.
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Marine Engines, Related Marine Equipment, and Boadj Parts and Accessorie

We offer marine engines and propellers, substan@dll of which are manufactured by Mercury Mariredivision of Brunswick. We sell
marine engines and propellers primarily to retagtomers as replacements for their existing engin@sopellers. Mercury Marine has
introduced various new engine models that redugieremissions to comply with current Environmeiftadtection Agency requirements. See
“Business — Environmental and Other RegulatorydssuAn industry leader for almost six decades, dder Marine specializes in state-of-
the-art marine propulsion systems and accessdfi@sy of our dealerships have been recognized bycigrMarine as “Premier Service
Dealers.” This designation is generally awardedam meeting certain standards and qualifications.

We also sell a broad variety of marine parts amgs&ories at our retail locations, at various tfications, through our print catalog,
and through our newly enhanced website portal. @ hegrine parts and accessories include marine@hécs; dock and anchoring products,
such as boat fenders, lines, and anchors; boats;dvailer parts; water sport accessories, sudhlas, lines, wakeboards, and skies; engine
parts; oils; lubricants; steering and control systecorrosion control products, service produdighiperformance accessories, such as
propellers and instruments; and a complete lin@oating accessories, including life jackets, idtaes, and water sports equipment. We also
offer novelty items, such as shirts, caps, andheeplates bearing the manufact’s or deal€'s logos.



Our in-store parts and accessories efforts have égganded with more products, enhanced displagbnere focused marketing efforts.
In order to serve customers in locations where avaat have retail locations, we have embarked @oaggressive print catalog and web
presence, which carry substantially more produws bffered at our retail locations and are coridggirograms to sell parts and accessori
various offsite locations. In all of our parts aactessories business, we utilize our industry kadgé and experience to offer boating
enthusiasts high-quality products with which weéaxperience.

The sale of marine engines, related marine equipraed boating parts and accessories accounte&d®s of our fiscal 2012 revenue.

Maintenance, Repair, and Storage Servic

Providing customers with professional, prompt nmetiaince and repair services is critical to our sefests and contributes to our
success. We provide maintenance and repair ser@icesst of our retail locations, with extended/ser hours at certain of our locations. In
addition, in many of our markets, we provide molpilaintenance and repair services at the locatidheofustomer’s boat. We believe that this
service commitment is a competitive advantage énntlarkets in which we compete and is critical toeftorts to provide a troubl&ee boating
experience. To further this commitment, in cer@iour markets, we have opened stafmhe maintenance and repair facilities in locatitrat
are more convenient for our customers and thaeas® the availability of such services. We als@belthat our maintenance and repair
services contribute to strong customer relatiorshipd that our emphasis on preventative mainterematguality service increases the
potential supply of well-maintained boats for osed boat sales.

We perform both warranty and nevarranty repair services, with the cost of warramork reimbursed by the manufacturer in accord;
with the manufacturer’'s warranty reimbursement prog For warranty work, most manufacturers, inaigddrunswick, reimburse a
percentage of the dealer’'s posted service labes ratith the percentage varying depending on takede customer satisfaction index rating
and attendance at service training courses. Weealtre majority of our warranty revenue from Bruidwproducts, as Brunswick products
comprise the majority of products sold. Certaineotmanufacturers reimburse warranty work at a fixeaunt per repair. Because boat
manufacturers permit warranty work to be perforraely at authorized dealerships, we receive sulisthnall of the warranted maintenance
and repair work required for the new boats we 3élé third-party extended warranty contracts werodlso result in an ongoing demand for
our maintenance and repair services for the duratiahe term of the extended warranty contract.

Our maintenance and repair services are performedamufacturer-trained and certified service tectamis. In charging for our
mechanics’ labor, many of our dealerships use iabigrrate structure designed to reflect the difficand sophistication of different types of
repairs. The percentage markups on parts are siyrfilased on manufacturer suggested prices andanheokditions for different parts.
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At many of our locations, we offer boat storages®ess, including in-water slip storage and insidd autside land storage. These storag
services are offered at competitive market ratesiaciude in-season and winter storage.

Maintenance, repair, and storage services accotmté&d3% of our revenue during fiscal 2012. Thislides warranty and non-warranty
services.

F&l Products

At each of our retail locations and at various ibdftocations, we offer our customers the abiltfinance new or used boat purchases
to purchase extended service contracts and ariasgence coverage, including boat property, ci@ditand accident, disability, and casualty
insurance coverage (collectively, “F&I").

We have relationships with various national mapneduct lenders under which the lenders purchaad mestallment contracts
evidencing retail sales of boats and other marindyxts that are originated by us in accordanchk @itsting pre-sale agreements between us
and the lenders. These arrangements permit uséo/esa portion of the finance charges expectdmtoarned on the retail installment contrac
based on a variety of factors, including the cretlinding of the buyer, the annual percentageofates contract charged to the buyer, and the
lender’s then current minimum required annual paiage rate charged to the buyer on the contrads. Jdrticipation is subject to repayment
by us if the buyer prepays the contract or defawmitisin a designated time period, usually 90 to #1&9s. To the extent required by applicable
state law, our dealerships are licensed to origiaad sell retail installment contracts financing sale of boats and other marine products.

We also offer third-party extended service consaetder which, for a predetermined price, we prell designated services pursuant te
the service contract guidelines during the contierch at no additional charge to the customer aldodeductible. While we sell all new boats
with the boat manufacturesr'standard hull warranty of generally five yeard atandard engine warranty of generally one yedeneled servic
contracts provide additional coverage beyond tie frame or scope of the manufacturer’'s warrantyctfasers of used boats generally are
able to purchase an extended service contract,iétlenselected boat is no longer covered by thaufacturer’'s warranty. Generally, we
receive a fee for arranging an extended servic&acin Most required services under the contragtpeovided by us and paid for by the third-
party contract holder.

We also are able to assist our customers with pp@runity to purchase credit life insurance, aeotdand disability insurance, and
property and casualty insurance. Credit life ineaeapolicies provide for repayment of the boatriting contract if the purchaser dies while
the contract is outstanding. Accident and disabitisurance policies provide for payment of the thgncontract obligation during any period
in which the buyer is disabled. Property and caguasurance covers loss or damage to the boatd®\f@t act as an insurance broker or agen
or issue insurance policies on behalf of insutdfs.do, however, provide marketing activities arftkotrelated services to insurance companie
and brokers for which we receive marketing fees Gfhour strategies is to generate increased magkiges by offering more competitive
insurance product



During fiscal 2012, fee income generated from Fé&dducts accounted for 2.8% of our revenue. We beltbat our customers’ ability to
obtain competitive financing quickly and easilyoat dealerships complements our ability to sell mea used boats. We also believe our
ability to provide customer-tailored financing of'same-day” basis gives us an advantage over miaoyraompetitors, particularly smaller
competitors that lack the resources to arrangefireaicing at their dealerships or that do not gateesufficient volume to attract the diversity
of financing sources that are available to us.
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Brokerage Service

Through employees or subcontractors that are lembhsat or yacht brokers, we offer boat or yacbkérage services at most of our re
locations. For a commission, we offer for sale lerekl boats or yachts, listing them on various ngesites, advising our other retail locations
of their availability through our integrated com@usystem, and posting them on our web sitew.MarineMax.com Often sales are co-
brokered, with the commission split between theitgiyand selling brokers. We believe that our actegmtential used boat customers and
methods of listing and advertising customémsikered boats or yachts is more extensive thipisal among brokers. In addition to genera
revenue from brokerage commissions, our brokeragaces also enable us to offer a broad array efl mats or yachts without increasing
related inventory costs. During fiscal 2012, bralger service commissions accounted for 2.4% of exernue.

Our brokerage customers generally receive the $aghelevel of customer service as our new and beed customers. Our waterfront
retail locations enable in-water demonstrationarobn-site brokered boat. Our maintenance andrregaiices, including mobile service, also
are generally available to our brokerage custoniérs.purchaser of a boat brokered through us @sdake advantage of MarineMax
Getaways! weekend and day trips and other rendszyatherings and in-water events, as well as hueration and safety seminars. We
believe that the array of services we offer argueiin the brokerage business.

Inventory Listing

We have developed and license to independent deabelr brokers a software application under whiehdéalers and brokers can list tl
boat inventories for sale, which can then be postadher websites selected by the dealers ancelsole charge these dealers and broke!
up and monthly fees.

Yacht Charter

We recently launched a yacht charter business iohake offer customers the opportunity to chartwer and sailing yachts in exotic
destinations, starting with our initial locationtime British Virgin Islands. This business ent#ils sale by us of specifically designed yachts to
third parties for inclusion in our yacht chartexdt; a yacht management agreement under which gactdrs enable us to put their yachts in
our yacht charter program for a period of fourite fyears for a fixed monthly fee payable by us; rvices in storing, insuring, and
maintaining their yachts; and the charter by uthe$e yachts to vacation customers at agreed &@ble to us. The yacht owners will be able
to utilize the yachts for personal use for a desigd number of weeks during the term of the managéagreement and take possession of
their yachts following the expiration of the yachénagement agreements.

Offsite Sales
We sell used boats, offer F&I products, and sefispand accessories at various third-party offsitations, including marinas.

Rewards Cluk

We maintain a Rewards Club for our customers. Gawdtd Club offers members discounts on service walperform as well discour
on parts and accessories that we sell at our tetations, by print catalog, or online.

Retail Locations

We sell our recreational boats and other marindymts and offer our related boat services throgjhefail locations in Alabama,
Arizona, California, Connecticut, Florida, Geordiéaryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Missouri, Nevsey, New York, North Carolina,
Ohio, Oklahoma, Rhode Island, Tennessee, and TEga$. retail location generally includes an indstmowroom (including some of the
industry’s largest indoor boat showrooms) and asida area for displaying boat inventories, a hessroffice to assist customers in arranging
financing and insurance, and maintenance and régulities.
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Many of our retail locations are waterfront propeston some of the nation’s most popular boatiegtions, including the San Diego Bay
in California; Norwalk Harbor and Westbrook HarliiConnecticut; multiple locations on the IntradahVaterway, the Atlantic Ocean,
Biscayne Bay, Boca Ciega Bay, Naples Bay, Tampa &ag the Saint Andrews Bay in Florida; Lake LaimmeGeorgia; Chesapeake Bay in
Maryland; Leech Lake and the St. Croix River in hisota; Lake of the Ozarks and Table Rock Lakeigs®lri; Barnegat Bay, Lake
Hopatcong, Little Egg Harbor Bay, and the Manasdea®r in New Jersey; Great South Bay, the HudsiweriRand Huntington Harbor in
New York; Masonboro Inlet in North Carolina; LakedEin Ohio; Grand Lake in Oklahoma; Newport Harbad Greenwich Bay in Rhot
Island; Tennessee River in Tennessee; and Clear dadt Lake Lewisville in Texas. Our waterfront ildtacations, most of which include
marina-type facilities and docks at which we digmar boats, are easily accessible to the boatimglace, serve as in-water showrooms, and
enable the sales force to give customers immeifi-water demonstrations of various boat models. Mbeuo other locations are in clo



proximity to water.

Operations
Dealership Operations and Manageme

We have adopted a generally decentralized approettie operational management of our dealershigslé/gertain administrative
functions are centralized at the corporate lewelall management is primarily responsible for thg-taday operations of the retail locations.
Each retail location is managed by a store managey,oversees the day-to-day operations, persoanélfinancial performance of the
individual store, subject to the direction of aiog@l manager, who generally has responsibilitytfierretail locations within a specified
geographic region. Typically, each retail locat@dso has a staff consisting of an F&l manager,respaanager, and a service manager, sales
representatives, maintenance and repair technjcasvarious support personnel.

We attempt to attract and retain quality employaesur retail locations by providing them with omggptraining to enhance sales
professionalism and product knowledge, career ahragnt opportunities within a larger company, anabfable benefit packages. We
maintain a formal training program, called MarineManiversity or MMU, which provides training for guioyees in all aspects of our
operations. Training sessions are held at our vaniegional locations covering a variety of topMd4U-online offers various modules over
Internet. Highly trained, professional sales repnésgtives are an important factor to our successilals efforts. These sales representatives at
trained at MMU to recognize the importance of fasig an enjoyable sales process, to educate custanehe operation and use of the boats
and to assist customers in making technical anidjdelecisions in boat purchases. The overall fafddMU is to teach our core retailing
values, which focus on customer service.

Sales representatives receive compensation primarih commission basis. Each store manager imaeshemployee with incentive
bonuses based on the performance of the managkaisiéia. Maintenance and repair service manageesuwe compensation on a salary basis
with bonuses based on the performance of theirrttepats. Our management information system prové@es store and department manage
with daily financial and operational informatiomabling them to monitor their performance on aydaileekly, and monthly basis. We have a
uniform, fully integrated management informatioisteyn serving each of our dealerships.

Sales and Marketing

Our sales philosophy focuses on selling the plessaf the boating lifestyle. We believe that th&éaal elements of our sales philosophy
include our appealing retail locations, no-hasalesapproach, highly trained sales representating!s level of customer service, emphasis or
educating the customer and the customer’s familpaat usage, and providing our customers with dppdfes for boating. We strive to
provide superior customer service and support befiuring, and after the sale.
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Each retail location offers the customer the opputy to evaluate a large variety of new and useat$in a comfortable and convenient
setting. Our full-service retail locations facititaa turn-key purchasing process that includeadite lender financing packages, extended
service agreements, and insurance. Many of oui letations are located on waterfronts and marimdsch attract boating enthusiasts and
enable customers to operate various boats prioraking a purchase decision.

We sell our boats at posted MarineMax One Pricasghnerally represent a discount from the manufacs suggested retail price. Our
sales approach focuses on customer service by mingrcustomer anxiety associated with price nexiatn.

As a part of our sales and marketing efforts, vge hrticipate in boat shows and in-the-water salests at area boating locations,
typically held in January and February and towhadend of the boating season, in each of our maeed in certain locations in close
proximity to our markets. These shows and eversarmally held at convention centers or marina) area dealers renting space. Boat
shows and other offsite promotions are an imporantie for generating sales orders. The boat shsesggenerate a significant amount of
interest in our products resulting in boat salésrahe show.

We emphasize customer education through oner@neducation by our sales representatives asonat locations, our delivery captal
before and after a sale, and through in-house semfor the entire family on boat safety, the use @peration of boats, and product
demonstrations. Typically, one of our delivery @aps$ or the sales representative delivers the mete boat to an area boating location and
thoroughly instructs the customer about the opamatf the boat, including hanast instructions for docking and trailering the bdai enhanc
our customer relationships after the sale, we satisponsor MarineMax Getaways! group boating tapsarious destinations, rendezvous
gatherings, and on-the-water organized eventgtioatote the pleasures of the boating lifestyle hE@mpany-sponsored event, planned and
led by a company employee, also provides a favernatgdium for acclimating new customers to boatshgring exciting boating destinations,
creating friendships with other boaters, and enghlis to promote actively new product offeringboating enthusiasts.

As a result of our relative size, we believe weéhawcompetitive advantage within the industry bipdp@ble to conduct an organized and
systematic advertising and marketing effort. Paduw marketing effort includes an integrated pextpnanagement system that tracks the
status of each sales representative’s contactsapptiospect, automatically generates follow-upespondence, facilitates company-wide
availability of a particular boat or other marin@guct desired by a customer, and tracks the nmeantae and service needs for the customer’s
boat.

Suppliers and Inventory Manageme!

We purchase substantially all of our new boat inegndirectly from manufacturers, which allocatewigoats to dealerships based on the
amount of boats sold by the dealership. We alsbaxge new boats with other dealers to accommodaterner demand and to balar



inventory.

We purchase new boats and other marine-relatedipt®ffom Brunswick, which is the world’s largesamufacturer of marine products,
including Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Bayliner, Cabattétas, Harris, and Meridian. We also purchasebwats and other marine related
products from other manufacturers, including AzifBenetti Group, Grady White, Tracker Marine, Maliland Nautique by Correct Craft. In
fiscal 2012, sales of new Brunswick boats accoufaedpproximately 47% of our revenue. No purchadesew boats and other marine rele
products from any other manufacturer accountedriore than 10% of our revenue in fiscal 2012. Weéelrelour Sea Ray boat purchases
represented approximately 42% of Sea Ray’s newdmdas and approximately 7% of all Brunswick mapneduct sales during fiscal 2012.

We have entered into multi-year agreements witmBwick covering Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Baylineh&; Hatteras, and Meridian
products. We typically deal with each of our mauwtidigers, other than Brunswick, under an annualhgweable, non-exclusive dealer
agreement.

The dealer agreements do not restrict our rigketbany product lines or competing products. rens of each dealer agreement
appoints a designated geographical territory ferdealer, which is exclusive to the dealer so lmsnthe dealer is not in breach of the material
obligations and performance standards under threeaggnt and then current material policies and progrfollowing notice and the expiration
of any applicable cure periods without cure.
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Manufacturers generally establish prices on an alnpasis, but may change prices in their sole digon. Manufacturers typically
discount the cost of inventory and offer inventbinancing assistance during the manufacturers’ sleasons, generally October through
March. To obtain lower cost of inventory, we strivecapitalize on these manufacturer incentivaske product delivery during the
manufacturers’ slow seasons. This permits us to gacing advantages and better product availghdiitring the selling season. Arrangements
with certain other manufacturers may restrict dgintrto offer some product lines in certain markets

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitioiMarch 2006, we became the exclusive dealer fimAgzBenetti Group’s Azimut
product line in the Northeast United States. Ourggaphic territory was expanded to include Floiid&eptember 2008 and to include the
entire country in July 2012. The Azimut dealer agnent provides a geographic territory to promogeptoduct line and to network with the
appropriate clientele through various independecdtions designated for Azimut retail sales.

We transfer individual boats among our retail lema to fill customer orders that otherwise migiikd substantially longer to fill from t
manufacturer. This reduces delays in delivery, ©igfpmaximize inventory turnover, and assists immizing potential overstock or out-of-
stock situations. We actively monitor our inventteyels to maintain levels appropriate to meetenranticipated market demands. We are
bound by contractual agreements governing the atafunventory that we must purchase in any yeamfiany manufacturer, but the failure to
purchase at agreed upon levels may result in ggedbcertain manufacturer incentives. We partieiji|ja numerous end-of-summer
manufacturer boat shows, which manufacturers spdossell off their remaining inventory at reducambts before the introduction of new
model year products, typically beginning in July.

Inventory Financing

Marine manufacturers customarily provide interesistance programs to retailers. The interesttassis varies by manufacturer and r
include periods of free financing or reduced inderate programs. The interest assistance mayibelpactly to the retailer or the financial
institution depending on the arrangements the naatuifer has established. We believe that our fimgrerrangements with manufacturers are
standard within the industry.

We account for consideration received from our wesdn accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddifation 605-50, “Revenue
Recognition—Customer Payments and Incentives” (“AB86-50"). ASC 605-50 requires us to classify iagtrassistance received from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against our interest expense incurre
with our lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amouwetsived by us under our co-op assistance prognamsdur manufacturers are netted
against related advertising expenses.

We are party to an Inventory Financing Agreemere (Credit Facility”) with GE Commercial Distribwaiin Finance Company, or
GECDF. The Credit Facility provides a floor plandncing commitment of up to $150 million. The Ctdehcility matures on June 24, 2015
and is subject to extension for two one-year peyisdbject to GECDF approval.

The interest rate for amounts outstanding undeCtieglit Facility is 383 basis points above the ormmith London Inter-Bank Offering
Rate. There is an unused line fee of ten basigpoimthe unused portion of the line.

The Credit Facility has certain financial covenaiitse covenants include provisions that our levenragio not exceed 2.75to 1.0 and !
our current ratio must be greater than 1.2 toAt(Beptember 30, 2012, we were in compliance wittha covenants under the Credit Facility.

The initial advance under the Credit Facility wagdito pay off our prior credit facility. Subsequadvances will be initiated by the
acquisition of eligible new and used inventory dlt e re-advances against eligible new and usedntory that has been partially paid-off.
Advances on new inventory will mature 1,081 daysrfithe original invoice date. Advances on usedntmg will mature 361 days from the
date we acquire the used inventory. Each advarsbject to a curtailment schedule, which requines we pay down the balance of each
advance on a periodic basis starting after six hmonthe curtailment schedule varies based on e dfinventory and the value of the
inventory.
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The collateral for the Credit Facility is all of opersonal property with certain limited exceptioNsne of our real estate has been
pledged for collateral for the Credit Facility.

We also are a party to an Inventory Financing Agrert (the “CGI Facility”) with CGI Finance, Inc.@GI1"). The CGI Facility provides
a floor plan financing commitment of $30 milliondars designed to provide financing for our Azimuténtory needs. The CGlI Facility has a
term of approximately one year ending in August2@thich is typical in the industry for similar fio plan facilities; however, each advance
under the CGI Facility can remain outstanding f8mionths. The interest rate for amounts outstanditgr the CGI Facility is 350 basis
points above the one month London Inter-Bank OffgiRate.

Advances under the CGI Facility will be initiateg the acquisition of eligible new and used inventor will be re-advances against
eligible new and used inventory that has beengibripaid-off. Advances on new inventory will magus50 days from the advance date.
Advances on used inventory will mature 366 daymftbe advance date. Each advance is subject tdalment schedule, which requires that
we pay down the balance of each advance on a pebadis starting after six months for used invenend one year for new inventory. The
curtailment schedule varies based on the typevefitory.

The collateral for the CGI Facility is our entirgifut inventory financed by the CGI Facility witkrtain limited exceptions. None of ¢
real estate has been pledged for collateral foCBéFacility. We must maintain compliance with ieais covenants, including balance sheet
related covenants of current and leverage ratodgeéined in the CGI Facility. The CGI Facility gemplates that other lenders may be added
by us to finance other inventory not financed urtlerCGI Facility, if needed.

At September 30, 2012, we owed an aggregate of.618illion under the Credit Facility and the CGIcHiy. Outstanding short-term
borrowings accrued interest at a rate of 4.0% &eptember 30, 2012, and the Credit Facility aedd&®! Facility provided us with an
additional net borrowing availability of approxineéit $39.5 million, based upon the outstanding beimg base availability. We have no
indebtedness associated with our real estate yddin

Management Information Syster

We believe that our management information systenich currently is being utilized by each of ouatieships and was developed over
a number of years through cooperative efforts witommon vendor, enhances our ability to integgateessfully the operations of our
dealerships and future acquisitions, facilitatesititerchange of information, and enhances crdfisgepportunities throughout our company.
The system integrates each level of operationsamgpany-wide basis, including purchasing, inventoeceivables, financial reporting,
budgeting, and sales management. The system enabiesnonitor each dealership’s operations in or@&entify quickly areas requiring
additional focus and to manage inventory. The systkso provides sales representatives with prospettustomer information that aids them
in tracking the status of their contacts with pesp, automatically generates follow-up correspandédo such prospects, facilitates the
availability of a particular boat company-wide, &bes boats needed to satisfy a particular custoaggiest, and monitors the maintenance and
service needs of customers’ boats. Company repsas also utilize the system to assist in anrmnfinancing and insurance packages.
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Brunswick Agreement Relating to Acquisitions

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick are paitiiean agreement extending through December 2@t %ptovides a process for the
acquisition of additional Sea Ray boat dealersdleatre to be acquired by us. Under the agreeraeqtiisitions of Sea Ray dealers will be
mutually agreed upon by us and Sea Ray with re&d@rdforts to be made to include a balance off&adealers that have been successful
and those that have not been. The agreement psothideSea Ray will not unreasonably withhold @esent to any proposed acquisition of a
Sea Ray dealer by us, subject to the conditionfoditin the agreement. Among other things, theeagnent provides for us to provide Sea Ra
with a business plan for each proposed acquisitmfyding historical financial and five-year profed financial information regarding the
acquisition candidate; marketing and advertisirang] service capabilities and managerial and ptaffonnel; information regarding the ability
of the candidate to achieve performance standaittiéwdesignated periods; and information regardirgysuccess of our previous acquisitions
of Sea Ray dealers. The agreement also contemi@ateRay reaching a good faith determination wheligeacquisition would be in its best
interest based on our dedication and focus of regswon the Sea Ray brand and Sea Ray’s consafeddtany adverse effects that the
approval would have on the resulting territory égufation of adjacent or other dealers and theratesef any violation of applicable laws or
rights granted by Sea Ray to others.

Dealer Agreements with Brunswick

Brunswick, through its Sea Ray division, and weotigh our dealerships, are parties to Sales andcBekgreements relating to Sea Ray
products extending through June 2015. Each of tHeaker agreements appoints one of our dealerakipsdealer for the retail sale, display,
and servicing of designated Sea Ray products,,@artsaccessories currently or in the future syl&da Ray. Each dealer agreement desig
a designated geographical territory for the dealbich is exclusive to the dealer as long as tlaedas not in breach of the material obligati
and performance standards under the agreementeanB&y/’s then current material policies and progréstiowing notice and the expiration
of any applicable cure periods without cure. Eagaler agreement also specifies retail locationg;lwthe dealer may not close, change, or
to without the prior written consent of Sea Rayvided that Sea Ray may not unreasonably withiielddansent. Each dealer agreement also
restricts the dealer from selling, advertising éstthan in recognized and established marine patiics), soliciting for sale, or offering for
resale any Sea Ray products outside its territdttyoart the prior written consent of Sea Ray as lasgimilar restrictions also apply to all
domestic Sea Ray dealers selling comparable Seafducts. In addition, each dealer agreement desvior the lowest product prices
charged by Sea Ray from time to time to other déim&ga Ray dealers, subject to the dealer meatirige requirements and conditions of
Ray's applicable programs and the right of Sea Rayoddaith to charge lesser prices to other de&tenseet existing competitiv



circumstances, for unusual and non-ordinary busingsumstances, or for limited duration promotigmagrams.

Among other things, each dealer agreement reqthieedealer to

. devote its best efforts to promote, display, adsertand sell Sea Ray products at each of itd tetaitions in accordance with the
agreement and applicable lav

. display and utilize at each of its retail locati@igns, graphics, and image elements with Sea Rdgrgification that positively
reflect the Sea Ray image and promote the retigilcfeSea Ray product

. purchase and maintain at all times sufficient inegnof current Sea Ray products to meet the reslerdemand of customers at
each of its locations and to meet Sea’s applicable minimum inventory requiremet

. maintain at each retail location, or at anotheeptable location, a service department that isgntgstaffed and equipped to
service Sea Ray products promptly and professipaalll to maintain parts and supplies to serviceR&gaproducts properly on a
timely basis;

. perform all necessary product rigging, installatiand inspection services prior to delivery to asers in accordance with Sea
Ray's standards and perform g-sale services of all Sea Ray products sold by ¢aded and brought to the dealer for serv

. provide or arrange for warranty and service workSea Ray products regardless of the selling dealeondition of sale
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. exercise reasonable efforts to address circumsianaghich another dealer has made a sale to gmatiretail purchaser who
permanently resides within the dei's territory where such sale is contrary to tharsgllieale’s Sales and Service Agreeme

. provide appropriate instructions to purchasersmm to obtain warranty and service work from thelee:

. furnish product purchasers with Sea Ray'’s limitedranty on new products and with information amdhing as to the safe and
proper operation and maintenance of the prod

. assist Sea Ray in performing any product defectracall campaigns

. achieve sales performance in accordance with fairaasonable standards and sales levels estabbgtgea Ray in consultation
with the dealer based on factors such as populatalas potential, market share percentage of SggRducts sold in the territory
compared with competitive products sold in theitiry, local economic conditions, competition, psates history, number of retail
locations, and other special circumstances thataifagt the sale of Sea Ray products or the deialeach case consistent with
standards established for all domestic Sea Ragdeselling comparable produc

. provide designated financial information that atghful and accurate

. conduct its business in a manner that preserves@mhces the reputation and goodwill of both SsadRd the dealer for
providing quality products and servici

. maintain the financial ability to purchase and n&imon hand and display Sea I's current product model

. maintain customer service ratings in compliancé \8ita Ra’s criteria;

. comply with those deal's obligations that may be imposed or establishefdayRay applicable to all domestic Sea Ray de:
. maintain a financial condition that is adequatedtisfy and perform its obligations under the agrest;

. achieve within designated time periods or maintagior dealer status (which is Sea Ray’s highegbpeance status) or other
applicable certification requirements as estabtidihem time to time by Sea Ray applicable to alingstic Sea Ray deale

. notify Sea Ray of the addition or deletion of aatail locations

. sell Sea Ray products only on the basis of SeaRalished applicable limited warranty and maketh@r warranty or
representations concerning the limited warrantpressed or implied, either verbally or in writir

. provide timely warranty service on all Sea Ray piaid presented to the dealer by purchasers indacoe with Sea Ray’s then
current warranty program applicable to all domeSga Ray dealers selling comparable Sea Ray psyduad

. provide Sea Ray with access to the dealer’s booéisecords and such other information as Sea Rgyreasonably request to
verify the accuracy of the warranty claims subniiti® Sea Ray by the dealer with regard to suchaméyrclaims

Sea Ray has agreed to indemnify each of our deadmigst any losses to third parties resulting fBea Rays negligent acts or omissic
involving the design or manufacture of any of itsqucts or any breach by it of the agreement. Béctur dealers has agreed to indemnify Se;
Ray against any losses to third parties resultiagnfthe dealer’'s negligent acts or omissions inmglthe dealer’s application, use, or repair of
Sea Ray products, statements or representaticsprotfically authorized by Sea Ray, the installatid any after market components or any
other modification or alteration of Sea Ray produend any breach by the dealer of the agreement.
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Each dealer agreement may be terminated

. by Sea Ray, upon 60 days prior written noticehéf tlealer fails or refuses to place a minimum shackrder of the next model
year's products in accordance with requirements apble#o all Sea Ray dealers generally or fails tenits financial obligations



as they become due to Sea Ray or to the ('s lenders

. by Sea Ray or the dealer, upon 60 days writterc@ddi the other, in the event of a breach or defguthe other with any of the of
the material obligations, performance standardggicants, representations, warranties, or dutiessen by the agreement or the
Sea Ray manual that has not been cured within $6€ afathe notice of the claimed deficiency or witlai reasonable period when
the cure cannot be completed within a 60-day penodt the end of the 60-day period without thparpunity to cure when the
cause constitutes bad fai

. by Sea Ray or the dealer if the other makes a fleat misrepresentation that is material to theegrent or the other engages ir
incurable act of bad faitl

. by Sea Ray or the dealer in the event of the irsaly, bankruptcy, or receivership of the otl
. by Sea Ray in the event of the assignment of theeagent by the dealer without the prior writtensemt of Sea Ra

. by Sea Ray upon at least 15 days’ prior writtenceah the event of the failure to pay any sums alu@ owing to Sea Ray that are
not disputed in good faith; ar

. upon the mutual consent of Sea Ray and the dt

Employees

As of September 30, 2012, we had 1,170 employe®89 bf whom were in store-level operations an@®dhom were in corporate
administration and management. We are not a pawpy collective bargaining agreements. We considerelations with our employees to
excellent.

Trademarks and Service Marks

We have registered trade names and trademarkgheit.S. Patent and Trademark Office for variouses including “MarineMax,”
“MarineMax Getaways,” “MarineMax Care,” “Deliveririfpe Dream,” “MarineMax Delivering the Boating Dmed “Newcoast Financial
Services,” “MarineMax Boating Gear Center,” and “iven on Water.” We have registered the name “MarigeNh the European
Community. We have trade name and trademark apiplisapending in Canada for various names, inclytiviarineMax,” “Delivering the
Dream,” and “The Water Gene.” There can be no asserthat any of these applications will be granted

Seasonality and Weather Conditions

Our business, as well as the entire recreatioratifgindustry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalitrying in different geographic
markets. Over the thregear period ended September 30, 2012, the aveeagaue for the quarters ended December 31, Marchud® 30, ar
September 30 represented approximately 20%, 25%, a8d 26%, respectively, of our average annuamegs. With the exception of Flori
we generally realize significantly lower sales dngher levels of inventories and related short-teorrowings, in the quarterly periods ending
December 31 and March 31. The onset of the publit bnd recreation shows in January stimulatesdatdas and typically allows us to reduce
our inventory levels and related short-term borraysithroughout the remainder of the fiscal year.

Our business is also subject to weather patternghwmay adversely affect our results of operatiéits example, drought conditions (or
merely reduced rainfall levels) or excessive raiay close area boating locations or render boatamgerous or inconvenient, thereby
curtailing customer demand for our products. Initialll unseasonably cool weather and prolongedexiconditions may lead to a shorter
selling season in certain locations. Hurricanesathdr storms could result in disruptions of oueigtions or damage to our boat inventories
and facilities, as has been the case when Floridather markets were affected by hurricanes. Altiioour geographic diversity is likely to
reduce the overall impact to us of adverse weatbeditions in any one market area, these conditighi€ontinue to represent potential,
material adverse risks to us and our future firenmérformance.
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Environmental and Other Regulatory Issues

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasiopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and local statutes, ordinances,
and regulations. While we believe that we maintdimequisite licenses and permits and are in c@npé with all applicable federal, state, anc
local regulations, there can be no assurance thatilvbe able to maintain all requisite licensesl @ermits. The failure to satisfy those and
other regulatory requirements could have a matadakrse effect on our business, financial conditamd results of operations. The adoption
of additional laws, rules, and regulations coukbdiave a material adverse effect on our busiMesus federal, state, and local regulatory
agencies, including the Occupational Safety andthldaministration, or OSHA, the United States Eovimental Protection Agency, or EPA,
and similar federal and local agencies, have jiatigoh over the operation of our dealerships, refagilities, and other operations with respect
to matters such as consumer protection, workefstyseand laws regarding protection of the envireminincluding air, water, and soil.

The EPA has various air emissions regulations fitb@ard marine engines that impose more strict®anis standards for two-cycle,
gasoline outboard marine engines. The majorithefdutboard marine engines we sell are manufachydédercury Marine. Mercury Maring’
product line of low-emission engines, including @ptiMax, Verado, and other four-stroke outboahdsje achieved the EPé&\mandated 20C
emission levels. Any increased costs of producitgjrees resulting from EPA standards, or the ingbdf our manufacturers to comply with
EPA requirements, could have a material adverseedh our business.

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergibsatorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of varfmetroleum products. The USTs are
generally subject to federal, state, and local lamd regulations that require testing and upgradfigSTs and remediation of contaminated
soils and groundwater resulting from leaking USMsaddition, if leakage from compa-owned or operated USTs migrates onto the propé



others, we may be subject to civil liability torhiparties for remediation costs or other damaBased on historical experience, we
believe that our liabilities associated with US$titeg, upgrades, and remediation are unlikely ierematerial adverse effect on our financial
condition or operating results.

As with boat dealerships generally, and parts @ndice operations in particular, our business imeslthe use, handling, storage, and
contracting for recycling or disposal of hazardousoxic substances or wastes, including envirortaignsensitive materials, such as motor
waste motor oil and filters, transmission fluidtitreze, freon, waste paint and lacquer thinnattebies, solvents, lubricants, degreasing
agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels.

Accordingly, we are subject to regulation by fedlestate, and local authorities establishing rezmients for the use, management,
handling, and disposal of these materials and heall environmental quality standards, and lighikiated thereto, and providing penalties
violations of those standards. We are also subjdetws, ordinances, and regulations governingstigation and remediation of contamination
at facilities we operate to which we send hazardwusxic substances or wastes for treatment, tegycr disposal.

We do not believe we have any material environmédiatailities or that compliance with environmentals, ordinances, and regulations
will, individually or in the aggregate, have a miikadverse effect on our business, financial o or results of operations. However, soil
and groundwater contamination has been known &1 ekicertain properties owned or leased by ush&ve also been required and may in the
future be required to remove aboveground and undengl storage tanks containing hazardous substaneesstes. As to certain of our
properties, specific releases of petroleum have beare in the process of being remedied in aecrarel with state and federal guidelines. We
are monitoring the soil and groundwater as requinedpplicable state and federal guidelines. Intadd the shareholders of the acquired
dealers have indemnified us for specific environtakissues identified on environmental site assesssrperformed by us as part of the
acquisitions. We maintain insurance for pollutdatioup and removal. The coverage pays for the egsaio extract pollutants from land or
water at the insured property, if the dischargspelisal, seepage, migration, release, or escape pbllutants is caused by or results from a
covered cause of loss. We also have additionahgéotank liability insurance and “Superfund” coggravhere applicable. In addition, certain
of our retail locations are located on waterways Hre subject to federal or state laws regulaieaggable waters (including oil pollution
prevention), fish and wildlife, and other matters.
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Three of the properties we own were historicallgdias gasoline service stations. Remedial actitmn@spect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completeddordance with federal and state law. Also,air@ur properties is within the boundaries
a “Superfund” site, although neither property hasrbnor is expected to be identified as a conwibiat the contamination in the area. We,
however, do not believe that these environmensaies will result in any material liabilities to us.

Additionally, certain states have required or amsidering requiring a license in order to opeeatecreational boat. While such licens
requirements are not expected to be unduly reisgiategulations may discourage potential firstaibuyers, thereby limiting future sales,
which could adversely affect our business, findrmmadition, and results of operations.

Product Liability

The products we sell or service may expose ustengial liabilities for personal injury or propertiamage claims relating to the use of
those products. Historically, the resolution ofgurot liability claims has not materially affectedrdusiness. Our manufacturers generally
maintain product liability insurance, and we maimtdird-party product liability insurance, which we beligeebe adequate. However, we n
experience legal claims in excess of our insuraoserage, and those claims may not be covereddayance. Furthermore, any significant
claims against us could adversely affect our besinfinancial condition, and results of operatiand result in negative publicity. Excessive
insurance claims also could result in increasedrarsce premiums.

Competition

We operate in a highly competitive environmentadidition to facing competition generally from reatien businesses seeking to attract
consumers’ leisure time and discretionary spendwiars, the recreational boat industry itselfighty fragmented, resulting in intense
competition for customers, quality products, bdetve space, and suitable retail locations. We rely tertain extent on boat shows to generat
sales. Our inability to participate in boat showsur existing or targeted markets could have @&n@tadverse effect on our business, finar
condition, and results of operations.

We compete primarily with single-location boat dgaland, with respect to sales of marine equipnpants, and accessories, with
national specialty marine stores, catalog retgigserting goods stores, and mass merchants. Ciimpetmong boat dealers is based on the
quality of available products, the price and valfithe products, and attention to customer servibere is significant competition both within
markets we currently serve and in new marketsvieatnay enter. We compete in each of our markets retailers of brands of boats and
engines we do not sell in that market. In addite@yeral of our competitors, especially thosemgllioating accessories, are large national or
regional chains that have substantial financiakkeiing, and other resources. However, we belibaedur integrated corporate infrastructure
and marketing and sales capabilities, our costttre, and our nationwide presence enable us tpetaeffectively against these companies.
Private sales of used boats represent an additsagaficant source of competition.
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Executive Officers
The following table sets forth information concengieach of our executive officel



Name Age Position

William H. McGill Jr. 68 Chairman of the Board, President, Chief Executiff&cer,
and Directol

Michael H. McLamb 47 Executive Vice President, Chief Financial Officer,
Secretary, and Directt

Charles A. Cashme 49 Vice President of East Operatic

William Brett McGill 44  Vice President of West Operatio

Kurt M. Frahn 44  Vice President of Finance, Chief Accounting Offiesd
Treasure

Paulee C. Da 43  Vice President, General Counsel, and AssistanteBag

William H. McGill Jr. has served as the Chief Executive Officer of Maviar since January 23, 1998 and as the Chairmamed8oard
and as a director of our company since March 68188. McGill served as the President of our compiiom January 23, 1988 until
September 8, 2000 and re-assumed the positionlpi JA002. Mr. McGill was the principal owner aptesident of Gulfwind USA, Inc., one
of our operating subsidiaries, from 1973 untilnterger with us.

Michael H. McLambhas served as Executive Vice President of our cagnpmce October 2002, as Chief Financial Offidacs
January 23, 1998, as Secretary since April 5, 1808,as a director since November 1, 2003. Mr. Madbhaerved as Vice President and
Treasurer of our company from January 23, 1998 Qutiober 22, 2002. Mr. McLamb, a certified puldiccountant, was employed by Arthur
Andersen LLP from December 1987 to December 199%jrsy most recently as a senior manager.

Charles A. Cashmalnas served as Vice President of East Operationaradompany since May 2012 and was appointed asecutive
officer by our Board of Directors in November 200M. Cashman served several positions of increagisgonsibility, including Sales
Consultant, Sales Manager, General Manager, Disfidamager, and Regional President since joiningcoanpany in 1992.

William Brett McGillhas served as Vice President of West Operationsrofompany since May 2012 and was appointed asegutive
officer by our Board of Directors in November 20M. McGill served as one of our Regional Presiddram March 2006 to May 2012, as
Vice President of Information Technology, Servioel &arts of our company from October 2004 to M&@D6, and as Director of Information
Services from March 1998. Mr. McGill began his gsfional career with a software development fimtedrated Dealer Systems, prior to
joining our company in 1996. William Brett McGib the son of William H. McGill, Ji

Kurt M. Frahnhas served as Vice President of Finance and Treragliour company since October 22, 2002 and asf@lticounting
Officer since June 10, 2011. Mr. Frahn served asdbir of Taxes and Acquisitions of our companyrfriglay 15, 1998 until October 22, 20(
Mr. Frahn was employed by Arthur Andersen LLP fr6eptember 3, 1991 until May 15, 1998, serving mestntly as a tax consulting
manager.

Paulee C. Dayas served as Vice President of our company siabeuiry 2009 and as General Counsel and Assist@netary since
January 2003. Ms. Day, an active member of theidddBar, was employed by Maxxim Medical from May83o November 2002, serving as
Vice President, General Counsel, and Secretargr Rrithat time, Ms. Day was Corporate Attornejekerd Corporation from June 1997
through May 1999 and a corporate attorney at twefitmn Trenam, Kemker, Scharf, Barkin, Frye, O'Neihd Mullis, P.A. from January 1995
through June 1997.
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Iltem 1A. Risk Factors

General economic conditions and consumer spendirdgt@rns can negatively impact our operating resuléd the severe recession that
began in late 2007 has adversely affected the b@pthdustry and our company.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating resultdavorable local, regional,
national, or global economic developments or uageties regarding future economic prospects coedldice consumer spending in the market
we serve and adversely affect our business. Ecanoomiditions in areas in which we operate dealpsshgarticularly Florida in which we
generated 54%, 50%, and 49% of our revenue duiseglf2010, 2011, and 2012, respectively, can laavajor impact on our operations.
Local influences, such as corporate downsizingitaml base closings, and inclement weather, alstdcadversely affect our operations in
certain markets.

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarydijpgy levels generally decline, at times resulimdisproportionately large
reductions in the sale of luxury goods. Consumendjmg on luxury goods also may decline as a redudtwer consumer confidence levels,
even if prevailing economic conditions are favoeal#llthough we have expanded our operations dyr@rgpds of stagnant or modestly
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturelod tecreational boating industry or the lack olisty growth could adversely affect our
business, financial condition, or results of operat in the future. Any period of adverse econoaainditions or low consumer confidence h
negative effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorsrsaly affected our business in
fiscal 2007 and continued weakness in consumerdépgmesulting from substantial weakness in tharirial markets and deteriorating
economic conditions had a very substantial negatfext on our business in each subsequent figzal, yncluding 2012. Our revenue
decreased from $1.2 billion in fiscal 2007, to $88&iillion in fiscal 2008, to $588.6 million in fial 2009, to $450.3 million in fiscal 2010, &
increased slightly to $480.9 million in fiscal 2QEhd to $524.5 million in fiscal 2012. Our earrsrdecreased from a net income of $20.1
million in fiscal 2007 to a net loss of $134.3 riaili in fiscal 2008 (including a $122.1 million gaeitl impairment charge), a net loss of $71



million in fiscal 2009, net income of $2.5 million fiscal 2010 (including a $19.2 million tax refiljpa net loss of $11.5 million in fiscal
2011, and a net income of $1.1 million in fiscal20These substantially deteriorating economicfarahcial conditions have had a greater
impact on many other participants in the boatirdusiry, with certain manufacturers and dealersingdsisiness operations or filing for
bankruptcy. While the reduction in boating indugiarticipants might have a long-term positive intgatour company’s competitive position,
we are facing and expect to continue to face dleont- competitive pressure resulting from decreasdlthg prices as a result of forced sales
and other liquidations of excess inventory.

These conditions caused us to reduce substaniadlgcquisition program, delay new store openirggice our inventory purchases,
engage in inventory reduction efforts, close a neindf our retail locations, reduce our headcoumd, @amend and replace our credit facility.
While we believe the steps we have taken to ddtenable us to emerge from the current economigrenment as a stronger and more
profitable company, we cannot predict the lengteexerity of these unfavorable economic or findrmiaditions or the extent to which they
will adversely affect our operating results nor ganpredict the effectiveness of the measures we taken to address this environment or
whether additional measures will be necessary.migoation of depressed economic factors could laalktional negative effects on our
company, including interfering with our supply @&rtain brands by manufacturers, reduced marketidgogher support by manufacturers,
decreased revenue, additional pressures on magagidsyur failure to satisfy covenants under ouditi@greement.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds canvadsely affect our ability to obtain adequate baaventory and the ability and willingnes
of our customers to finance boat purchases.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds caveasely affect our ability to obtain and maintadequate boat inventory and the
holding costs of that inventory as well as theigbdnd willingness of our customers to financetimarchases. As of September 30, 2012, we
had no long-term debt. We rely on our credit féeii to purchase and maintain our inventory of ©§c@ur ability to borrow under our credit
facilities depends on our ability to continue ttisfg our covenants and other obligations underavedit facilities. The aging of our inventory
limits our borrowing capacity as defined provisian®ur credit facilities reduce the allowable ade@ rate as our inventory ages. Our access
funds under our credit facilities also depends upemability of our lenders, GECDF and CGl, to mtbeir funding commitments, particularly
if they experience shortages of capital or expegerxcessive volumes of borrowing requests fromarstburing a short period of time. A
continuation of depressed economic conditions, veesdsumer spending, turmoil in the credit markatsl lender difficulties could interfere
with our ability to maintain compliance with ourlitecovenants and to utilize our credit facilitiesind our operations. Accordingly, it may be
necessary for us to close additional stores, furdsduce our expense structure, or modify the cantnwith our lenders. Any inability to utili
our credit facilities or the acceleration of amauotved, resulting from a covenant violation, inidit collateral, or lender difficulties, could
require us to seek other sources of funding toyre@paounts outstanding under our credit facilitieseplace or supplement our credit facilities,
which may not be possible at all or under comméyciaasonable terms.
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Our Credit Facility with GECDF provides a floor pléinancing commitment of $150 million, and the Cialcility provides a floor plan
financing commitment of $30 million. The collatefat our Credit Facility with GECDF is all of ouepsonal property with certain limited
exceptions, and our collateral for the CGI Faciistyur entire Azimut inventory financed by the G&lcility with certain limited exceptions.
None of our real estate has been pledged as callateder either facility. As of September 30, 2042 were in compliance with all of tl
Credit Facility covenants and our additional auagaborrowings under our credit facilities were apgmately $39.5 million based upon the
outstanding borrowing base availability.

Similarly, decreases in the availability of crealitd increases in the cost of credit adversely affecability of our customers to purchase
boats from us and thereby adversely affects odityatn sell our products and impacts the profitiypiof our finance and insurance activities.
Tight credit conditions during each fiscal yearibeghg with fiscal 2008 and continuing through 2011 adversely affected the ability of
customers to finance boat purchases, which hagatine affect on our operating results.

Our strategies to enhance our performance may netsuccessful.

We are increasing our efforts to grow our financamgl insurance, parts and accessory, service, ghahter, and boat storage businesse:
to better serve our customers and thereby increasmue and improve profitability to these highergin businesses. In addition, we have
implemented aggressive programs to substantiathease the sale over the Internet of used boats, pacessories, and a wide range of
boating supplies and products. These efforts angrams are designed to increase our revenue ande@dir dependence on the sale of new
boats. These business initiatives will requireauadd personnel, enter businesses in which we dbave extensive experience, and encounte
substantial competition. As a result, our strateffieenhance our performance may not be successiulve may increase our expenses.

Our success depends to a significant extent onwredl being, as well as the continued popularity arebutation for quality of the boating
products, of our manufacturers, particularly Brunsek’s Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, Cabo, Hatteras, and Mé&h boat lines and Azimut-
Benetti Grouf's Azimut products.

Approximately 47% of our revenue in fiscal 2012uleed from sales of new boats manufactured by Bmigls including approximately
29% from Brunswick’s Sea Ray division and approxehal8% from Brunswick’s other divisions. The ranaer of our fiscal 2012 revenue
from new boat sales resulted from sales of produects a limited number of other manufacturers, nohehich accounted for more than 10%
of our revenue.

We depend on our manufacturers to provide us wibkycts that compare favorably with competing paislin terms of quality,
performance, safety, and advanced features, ingutlie latest advances in propulsion and navigatystems. Any adverse change in the
production efficiency, product development effotég;hnological advancement, marketplace acceptamaeketing capabilities, and financial
condition of our manufacturers, particularly Brunggiven our reliance on Sea Ray, Cabo, BayliBeston Whaler, Hatteras, and Meridii



would have a substantial adverse impact on ounkasi Any difficulties encountered by any of ounmofacturers, particularly
Brunswick, resulting from economic, financial, dher factors could adversely affect the quality antbunt of products that they are able to
supply to us and the services and support theyigedo us.
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The interruption or discontinuance of the operatiohBrunswick or other manufacturers could caistolexperience shortfalls,
disruptions, or delays with respect to needed itargnAlthough we believe that adequate alternateces would be available that could
replace any manufacturer other than Brunswick @®duct source, those alternate sources may navditable at the time of any interruption,
and alternative products may not be available atpayable quality and prices.

We maintain dealer agreements with Brunswick coxp8ea Ray products. Each dealer agreement haligyean term and provides for
the lowest product prices charged by the Sea Ragiain of Brunswick from time to time to other dostie Sea Ray dealers. These terms are
subject to

. the dealer meeting all the requirements and canditdof Sea R¢ s applicable programs; ai
. the right of Brunswick in good faith to charge kexsprices to other deale

. to meet existing competitive circumstanc
. for unusual and nc-ordinary business circumstances
. for limited duration promotional programn

Each dealer agreement designates a specific gdogahterritory for the dealer, which is exclusiwethe dealer so long as the dealer is
not in breach of the material obligations and penfance standards under the agreement and SeatRey’surrent material policies and
programs following notice and the expiration of @pplicable cure periods without cure.

We also maintain dealer agreements with Hatterasrowy Hatteras products. Each agreement allowseHest to revise prices at any tir
and such new prices will supersede previous prleessuant to the agreements, we must bear anyslessecur as a result of such price
changes and may not recover from Hatteras for @sgek. In addition, certain of our dealerships mayrepresent manufacturers or product
lines that compete directly with Hatteras withdatprior written consent.

Upon the completion of the Surfside-3 acquisitiodMarch 2006, we became the exclusive dealer fimAgzBenetti Group’s Azimut
product line for the Northeast United States. CGeogyaphic territory was expanded to include Floind&eptember 2008 and to the entire
country in July 2012. The Azimut dealer agreemeavigles a geographic territory to promote the pobddine and to network with the
appropriate clientele through various independecdtions designated for Azimut retail sales.

As is typical in the industry, we generally deathwinanufacturers, other than the Sea Ray divisidranswick, under renewable annual
dealer agreements. These agreements do not camacontractual provisions concerning product pgair required purchasing levels. Pric
is generally established on a model year basisstsitbject to change in the manufacturer’s saerdtion. Any change or termination of these
arrangements for any reason could adversely gifectuct availability and cost and our financialfpanance.

Boat manufacturers exercise substantial control ow®ir business

We depend on our dealer agreements. Through degleements, boat manufacturers, including Brunsver&rcise significant control
over their dealers, restrict them to specified fimee, and retain approval rights over changesanagement and ownership, among other
things. The continuation of our dealer agreemeiitfs most manufacturers, including Brunswick, dependon, among other things, our
achieving stated goals for customer satisfactitinga and market share penetration in the markeeddy the applicable dealership. Failur
meet the customer satisfaction, market share gaatspther conditions set forth in any dealer ages# could have various consequences,
including the following:

. the termination of the dealer agreem:
. the imposition of additional conditions in subsenfudealer agreement
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. limitations on boat inventory allocatior

. reductions in reimbursement rates for warranty waaiormed by the deale

. loss of certain manufacturer to dealer incentioe:

. denial of approval of future acquisitior

Our dealer agreements with certain manufactunecfyding Brunswick, do not give us the exclusiyghtito sell those manufacturers’
products within a given geographical area. Accaglyina manufacturer, including Brunswick, couldlarize another dealer to start a new

dealership in proximity to one or more of our lacas, or an existing dealer could move a dealerghgplocation that would be directly
competitive with us. These events could have amahtedverse effect on our competitive position &indncial performance.

The failure to receive rebates and other dealeréntives on inventory purchases or retail sales abalbstantially reduce our margins.



We rely on manufacturers’ programs that providemiies for dealers to purchase and sell partidcadat makes and models or for
consumers to buy particular boat makes or modeig.eliminations, reductions, limitations, or otlanges relating to rebate or incentive
programs that have the effect of reducing the benek receive, whether relating to the abilitynedinufacturers to pay or our ability to qualify
for such incentive programs, could increase thecéife cost of our boat purchases, reduce our maggid competitive position, and have a
material adverse effect on our financial perforneanc

Fuel prices and supply may affect our business.

All of the recreational boats we sell are powergdligsel or gasoline engines. Consequently, amrimggon in the supply, or a significant
increase in the price or tax on the sale of fuehoagional or national basis could have a matadakrse effect on our sales and operating
results. Increases in fuel prices (such as thaseottturred during fiscal 2008) negatively impazatsales. At various times in the past, diesel
or gasoline fuel has been difficult to obtain. Bupply of fuels may be interrupted, rationing mayilposed, or the price of or tax on fuels
may significantly increase in the future, adverseipacting our business.

The availability of boat insurance is critical tour success.

The ability of our customers to secure reasonatbbydable boat insurance that is satisfactory malégs that finance our customers’
purchases is critical to our success. Historicaffgrdable boat insurance has been available. Wéturricanes that have impacted the sta
Florida and other markets over the past severaby@esurance rates have escalated and insurameeage has become more difficult to obt:
In addition, as a severe storm approaches langanse providers cease underwriting until the stoas passed. This loss of insurance pre
lenders from lending. As a result, sales of boatshe temporarily halted making our revenue diffitmpredict and potentially causing sale:
be cancelled. Any difficulty of customers to obtafifordable boat insurance could impede boat saldsadversely affect our business.

Other recreational activities and poor industry gmption can adversely affect the levels of boatghases.

Other recreational activities and poor industrycpetion can adversely affect the levels of boatlpases. As a seller of high-end
consumer products, we must compete for discretjosiending with a wide variety of other recreatiawivities and consumer purchases. In
addition, perceived hassles of boat ownership atadively poor customer service and customer edut#iroughout the retail boat industry
represent impediments to boat purchases. Our cestoemtric strategy is intended to overcome thesegptions.
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Adverse federal tax policies can have a negativieefon us.

Changes in federal and state tax laws, such amaosition of luxury taxes on new boat purchasesgiases in prevailing tax rates, and
removal of certain interest deductions, also infeeeconsumersiecisions to purchase products we offer and coane la negative effect on «
sales. For example, during 1991 and 1992, the &&dervernment imposed a luxury tax on new recreatiboats with sales prices in excess of
$100,000, which coincided with a sharp declineaating industry sales from a high of more than $billion in 1988 to a low of $10.3 billio
in 1992. Any increase in tax rates, including thosecapital gains and dividends, particularly thoséhigh-income taxpayers, could adversely
affect our boat sales.

The expansion and success of our on-line businesdesends on our ability to provide quality serviweour Internet customers, and our
future growth will be negatively impacted if we an®t able to provide such service

Our on-line businesses are subject to a numbeslkas and uncertainties that are beyond our coritraliding the following:

. changes in technolog

. changes in consumer willingness to purchase predigtthe Internet, including increases in consupnisacy concerns relating to
the Internet

. increases in software filters that may inhibit ability to market our products and services overltiternet;

. changes in applicable federal and state regulagioch as the Federal Trade Commission Act, theGraidit Reporting Act, and the
Gramn-Leact-Bliley Act and similar types of international lav

. failure of our Internet service providers to penfiatheir services properly and in a timely and éffit manner

. failures in our infrastructure or by third partissich as telephone or electric power service, tiaguh website downtime or other
problems;

. failure by us to process on-line customer ordecsiiately and timely, which may negatively impacttbfuture on-line and in-store
purchases by such custome

. inability of our suppliers to provide warehousingddulfillment services, which may negatively impaature on-line purchases by
customers

. our failure to assess and evaluate our supplieessare that we offer products that are desireldaging enthusiast

. the potential exposure to liability with respecthard-party information, including copyright oatemark infringement or other
wrongful acts of third parties; false or erronemfsrmation provided by third parties; or illegaltavities by third parties, such as
the sale of stolen boats or other goods;

. changing laws, rules, and regulations, such asrpesition of taxes, that could affect the desireansumers to purchase goods
over the Interne!



If we are not able to provide satisfactory senteur Internet customers, our future growth wélddversely affected. Further, we may
also be vulnerable to competitive pressures fraagttowing e-commerce activity in our market, bathteey may impact our own on-line
business, and as they may impact the operatindisesw investment values of our existing physiceations.

We recently implemented new business initiativeattimvolve expenses but have not produced meanihgéuenue.

We recently implemented programs to increase satisliy our sale over the Internet of used boats amide range of boating parts,
accessories, supplies, and products; the salead$ bnoating parts, and accessories, as well axfféreof finance and insurance, or F&l,
products at various offsite locations; and the traf power and sailing yachts in the British Virgslands. None of these recently
implemented programs have produced any meaningfeinue to date. We can provide no assurance whéta programs will be successful
or that we will recover the costs we have incuiretheir implementation.
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Our recently launched yacht charter business exposis to certain risks.

Our recently launched yacht charter business erttel sale by us of specifically designed yachtkitd parties for inclusion in our yacht
charter fleet; a yacht management agreement unlgiehwacht owners enable us to put their yachtaiinyacht charter program for a period of
four to five years for a fixed monthly fee payableus; our services in storing, insuring, and namng their yachts; and the charter by us of
these yachts to vacation customers at agreed &@ble to us. Our failure to find purchasers fazhta intended for our charter fleet will
increase our boat inventory and related operatirsgs¢ and our failure to generate a sufficient neinds vacation charter customers will require
us to absorb all the costs of the monthly feefi¢oyacht owners as well as other operating costs.

Customers consider safety and reliability a primaogcern in selecting a yacht charter provider.htabarter may present a number of
safety risks, including catastrophic disaster, aslv@veather and marine conditions, mechanicalria@ind collision. If we are unable to
maintain acceptable records for safety and reltgbibur ability to retain current customers anlaatt new customers may be adversely
affected. Additionally, any safety issue encourdetaring a yacht charter may result in claims agjais as well as negative publicity. These
events could have a material adverse effect ondh®etitive position and financial performance of oore boat sales business.

The yacht charter business is also highly fragnterdensisting primarily of local operators and frhisees. Competition among charter
operators is based on location, the type and digaahts offered, charter rates, destinations sedvaind attention to customer service. Yacht
charters also face competition from other travel lisure options, including, but not limited touises, hotels, resorts, theme parks, organize
tours, land-based casino operators and vacatioemship properties. We therefore risk losing busmest only to other charter operators, but
also to vacation operators that provide such ateres.

Our success depends, in part, on our ability to tane to make successful acquisitions and to intatg the operations of acquired dealers
and each dealer we acquire in the future.

Since March 1, 1998, we have acquired 22 recredtlooat dealers, two boat brokerage operationspaadull-service yacht repair
facilities. Each acquired dealer operated indepethgerior to its acquisition by us. Our succespetals, in part, on our ability to continue to
make successful acquisitions and to integrate pleeations of acquired dealers, including centnadjziertain functions to achieve cost savings
and pursuing programs and processes that promoperation and the sharing of opportunities anduess among our dealerships. We may
not be able to oversee the combined entity effibyear to implement effectively our growth and ogting strategies. To the extent that we
successfully pursue our acquisition strategy, eauiting growth will place significant additionatmiands on our management and
infrastructure. Our failure to pursue successfally acquisition strategies or operate effectivhly ¢ombined entity could have a material
adverse effect on our rate of growth and opergigrformance.

Unforeseen expenses, difficulties, and delays freqtly encountered in connection with rapid expansithrough acquisitions could inhibit
our growth and negatively impact our profitability.

Our growth strategy of acquiring additional recieaadl boat dealers involves significant risks. Té$tistegy entails reviewing and
potentially reorganizing acquired business openaticorporate infrastructure and systems, and diahoontrols. Unforeseen expenses,
difficulties, and delays frequently encountered¢amnection with rapid expansion through acquisgioauld inhibit our growth and negatively
impact our profitability. We may be unable to idgnsuitable acquisition candidates or to compté acquisitions of candidates that we
identify. Increased competition for acquisition datates or increased asking prices by acquisittondilates may increase purchase prices fol
acquisitions to levels beyond our financial capgbdr to levels that would not result in the retsirequired by our acquisition criteria.
Acquisitions also may become more difficult in finéure as we acquire more of the most attractiaeats. In addition, we may encounter
difficulties in integrating the operations of acea dealers with our own operations or managingiaed dealers profitably without substantial
costs, delays, or other operational or financiabfgms.
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We may issue common or preferred stock and indostantial indebtedness in making future acquisgtidrhe size, timing, and
integration of any future acquisitions may caudestantial fluctuations in operating results fronadar to quarter. Consequently, operating
results for any quarter may not be indicative @ftesults that may be achieved for any subsequemtey or for a full fiscal year. These
fluctuations could adversely affect the market @€ our common stocl



Our ability to continue to grow through the acqtinsi of additional dealers will depend upon varifastors, including the following:
. the availability of suitable acquisition candidatesttractive purchase price

. the ability to compete effectively for availablegacsition opportunities

. the availability of borrowed funds or common stedkh a sufficient market price to complete the asiions;

. the ability to obtain any requisite manufacturegovernmental approval

. the ability to obtain approval of our lender undar current credit agreement; &

. the absence of one or more manufacturers attemymtimgpose unsatisfactory restrictions on us innemtion with their approval of
acquisitions

As a part of our acquisition strategy, we frequeertigage in discussions with various recreationat bealers regarding their potential
acquisition by us. In connection with these disimrss we and each potential acquisition candidetd&nge confidential operational and
financial information, conduct due diligence indes; and consider the structure, terms, and camditdf the potential acquisition. In certain
cases, the prospective acquisition candidate agieds discuss a potential acquisition with anyeotparty for a specific period of time, grants
us an option to purchase the prospective dealex flmsignated price during a specific time, anéegto take other actions designed to enh
the possibility of the acquisition, such as prepguaudited financial information and convertingatTounting system to the system specifie
us. Potential acquisition discussions frequentkg talace over a long period of time and involvdiclifit business integration and other issues,
including in some cases, management successiorekted matters. As a result of these and othéoifsca number of potential acquisitions
that from time to time appear likely to occur dd result in binding legal agreements and are nosemmated.

We may be required to obtain the consent of Brunskwvand various other manufacturers prior to the agigition of other dealers.

In determining whether to approve acquisitions, ufacturers may consider many factors, includingfmancial condition and
ownership structure. Manufacturers also may imposelitions on granting their approvals for acqiosis, including a limitation on the
number of their dealers that we may acquire. Ouityabo meet manufacturersequirements for approving future acquisitions Wwilve a direc
bearing on our ability to complete acquisitions afféct our growth strategy. There can be no assearthat a manufacturer will not terminate
its dealer agreement, refuse to renew its dealeeatent, refuse to approve future acquisitionsake other action that could have a material
adverse effect on our acquisition program.

We and the Sea Ray Division of Brunswick have ae@ment extending through June 2015 that provigesaeess for the acquisition of
additional Sea Ray boat dealers that desire t@tpeiced by us. Under the agreement, acquisitiorieaf Ray dealers will be mutually agreed
upon by us and Sea Ray with reasonable efforte tmdde to include a balance of Sea Ray dealerbahatbeen successful and those that
not been. The agreement provides that Sea Raya@tilinreasonably withhold its consent to any prefdascquisition of a Sea Ray dealer by
subject to the conditions set forth in the agregnm®mong other things, the agreement requires ysdoide Sea Ray with a business plan for
each proposed acquisition, including historicahfioial and five-year projected financial informati@garding the acquisition candidate;
marketing and advertising plans; service capaédliind managerial and staff personnel; informaggarding the ability of the candidate to
achieve performance standards within designatddgserand information regarding the success ofppavious acquisitions of Sea Ray deal
The agreement also contemplates Sea Ray reaclgogdafaith determination whether the acquisitioruleidoe in its best interest based on our
dedication and focus of resources on the Sea Raydtand Sea Ray’s consideration of any adversetsffieat the approval would have on the
resulting territory configuration and adjacent tery dealers sales and the absence of any violafiapplicable laws or rights granted by Sea
Ray to others.
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Our growth strategy also entails expanding our pcbtines and geographic scope by obtaining additidistribution rights from our
existing and new manufacturers. We may not be tabdecure additional distribution rights or obtairtable alternative sources of supply if we
are unable to obtain such distribution rights. irtability to expand our product lines and geogratiope by obtaining additional distribution
rights could have a material adverse effect orgthath and profitability of our business.

Our growth strategy may require us to secure sigeaht additional capital, the amount of which wilepend upon the size, timing, and
structure of future acquisitions and our working gatal and general corporate need

If we finance future acquisitions in whole or inrpéarough the issuance of common stock or seesritbnvertible into or exercisable for
common stock, existing stockholders will experiediation in the voting power of their common stamkd earnings per share could be
negatively impacted. The extent to which we willdi#e and willing to use our common stock for asiwins will depend on the market value
of our common stock and the willingness of potdrsiidlers to accept our common stock as full otigbconsideration. Our inability to use our
common stock as consideration, to generate cashdperations, or to obtain additional funding thgbwebt or equity financings in order to
pursue our acquisition program could materiallyiiour growth.

Any borrowings made to finance future acquisitiongor operations could make us more vulnerablke downturn in our operating
results, a downturn in economic conditions, or@ases in interest rates on borrowings that areesutyj interest rate fluctuations. If our cash
flow from operations is insufficient to meet oubtiservice requirements, we could be required tadeitional equity securities, refinance our
obligations, or dispose of assets in order to roaetlebt service requirements. In addition, ouditr@rangements contain financial covenants
and other restrictions with which we must comphgliiding limitations on the incurrence of additibmalebtedness. Adequate financing may
not be available if and when we need it or mayhb®oavailable on terms acceptable to us. The faftuobtain sufficient financing on favorable
terms and conditions could have a material adweffeet on our growth prospects and our businesanfiial condition, and results



operations.
Our internal growth and operating strategies of amag new locations and offering new products invelvisk.

In addition to pursuing growth by acquiring boaaldes, we intend to continue to pursue a stratégyawth through opening new retail
locations and offering new products in our existamgl new territories. Accomplishing these goalssfqransion will depend upon a number of
factors, including the following:

. our ability to identify new markets in which we calbtain distribution rights to sell our existingaditional product lines

. our ability to lease or construct suitable fa@ktiat a reasonable cost in existing or new mar

. our ability to hire, train, and retain qualifiedrpennel;

. the timely integration of new retail locations ir@risting operations

. our ability to achieve adequate market penetragidavorable operating margins without the acqoisibf existing dealers; ar

. our financial resource

Our dealer agreements with Brunswick require Brucs\® consent to open, close, or change retailtiona that sell Sea Ray products,
and other dealer agreements generally containasimibvisions. We may not be able to open and ¢@emwv retail locations or introduce new

product lines on a timely or profitable basis. Mwrer, the costs associated with opening new reteditions or introducing new product lines
may adversely affect our profitability.
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As a result of these growth strategies, we exmeekpend significant time and effort in opening aeduiring new retail locations and
introducing new products. Our systems, procedwasrols, and financial resources may not be adegoasupport expanding operations. The
inability to manage our growth effectively couldvieaa material adverse effect on our business, ¢iahnondition, and results of operations.

Our planned growth also will impose significant addesponsibilities on members of senior manageamhtequire us to identify,
recruit, and integrate additional senior level nggra. We may not be able to identify, hire, omtrauitable additions to management.

Our business, as well as the entire recreationabbing industry, is highly seasonal, with seasonglitarying in different geographic market

During the three-year period ended September 3IR,28e average revenue for the quarterly periods@
December 31, March 31, June 30, and SeptembepB@sented 20%, 25%, 29%, and 26%, respectivelguofverage annual revenue. With
the exception of Florida, we generally realize gigantly lower sales and higher levels of inveigsrand related short-term borrowings in the
quarterly periods ending December 31 and MarciTB&.onset of the public boat and recreation showlshuary stimulates boat sales and
allows us to reduce our inventory levels and relateort-term borrowings throughout the remaindeheffiscal year. Our business could
become substantially more seasonal as we acquaterddghat operate in colder regions of the Un8tates.

Weather and environmental conditions may adversiefpact our business.

Weather and environmental conditions may adverisgbact our operating results. For example, droeghtitions, reduced rainfall
levels, excessive rain and environmental conditisash as the BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexicoayforce boating areas to close or render
boating dangerous or inconvenient, thereby cungitiustomer demand for our products. While we tiauklly maintain a full range of
insurance coverage for any such events, thereeao lassurance that such insurance coverage isatddq cover losses that we sustain as a
result of such disasters. In addition, unseasonatiy weather and prolonged winter conditions neadlto shorter selling seasons in certain
locations. Many of our dealerships sell boats st@mers for use on reservoirs, thereby subjectimgasiness to the continued viability of
these reservoirs for boating use. Although our gagalgc diversity and any future geographic expamsidl reduce the overall impact on us of
adverse weather and environmental conditions incai@ymarket area, weather and environmental conditvill continue to represent poten
material adverse risks to us and our future opgggierformance.

In addition, hurricanes and other storms couldltésuhe disruption of our operations or damageuo boat inventories and facilities as
has been the case when Florida and other markegsteen affected by hurricanes. While we traditiigmaaintain property and casualty
insurance coverage for damage caused by hurricamtesther storms, there can be no assurance ttlatrsurance coverage is adequate to
cover losses that we may sustain as a result oichues and other storms. For example, certaiuofazilities in the Northeast, particularly
four stores in New York and New Jersey, suffereshalige from Hurricane Sandy. In addition, a small am@f our boat inventory suffered
damage as did boats of our customers stored atfacitities. The damage to these facilities wikué# in the interruption of sales and service
activities at those facilities, but we expect ththtocations will be fully operational before ttraditional boating season begins. We maintain
insurance for property damage and business intiéornysubject to deductibles. Our agreements fanagfe of customers’ boats require such
customers to maintain their own insurance covesaageabsolve us from liability for damage to theiats; however, we are working with our
customers to satisfy their boat repair and replasgmeeds. We cannot currently quantify the negatffects of business interruption or
property damage incurred nor the potential amofitaremental revenue that we will receive as altesf the repair of storm damaged boats
or the purchase of replacement boats.
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We face intense competition.



We operate in a highly competitive environmentadtdition to facing competition generally from nooalting recreation businesses
seeking to attract discretionary spending dolldms recreational boat industry itself is highlygnaented and involves intense competition for
customers, product distribution rights, and su#éabtail locations, particularly on or near wateysiaCompetition increases during periods of
stagnant industry growth. During the recent recessive have also faced competition from banks digting repossessed boats.

We compete primarily with single-location boat @aland, with respect to sales of marine part®sswries, and equipment, with
national specialty marine parts and accessoriessstoatalog retailers, sporting goods stores nagss merchants. Competition among boat
dealers is based on the quality of available prtsjube price and value of the products, and atterid customer service. There is significant
competition both within markets we currently seavel in new markets that we may enter. We competach of our markets with retailers of
brands of boats and engines we do not sell innttzaket. In addition, several of our competitorpeesally those selling marine equipment and
accessories, are large national or regional chhatshave substantial financial, marketing, anéotksources. Private sales of used boats
represent an additional source of competition.

Due to various matters, including environmentalogons, permitting and zoning requirements, and &titign for waterfront real estate,
some markets in the United States have experiemeéucreased waiting list for marina and storagalability. In general, the markets in
which we currently operate are not experiencingamysual difficulties. However, marine retail adghcould be adversely effected in markets
that do not have sufficient marine and storagelabiity to satisfy demand.

We depend on income from financing, insurance, aedtended service contracts.

A portion of our income results from referral fegived from the placement or marketing of varifimance and insurance, or F&l,
products, consisting of customer financing, insaeaproducts, and extended service contracts, tis¢ significant component of which is the
participation and other fees resulting from ouegal customer financing contracts. During fiscal20F&| products accounted for 2.8% of our
revenue.

The availability of financing for our boat purchesand the level of participation and other feege@eeive in connection with such
financing depend on the particular agreement batwseand the lender and the current rate envirohrhenders may impose terms in their
boat financing arrangements with us that may baworible to us or our customers, resulting in redutemand for our customer financing
programs and lower participation and other feest@uer financing became more difficult to securgrdyfiscal 2008, which continued in
each subsequent fiscal year through fiscal 2012.

The reduction of profit margins on sales of F&I guets or the lack of demand for or the unavailgbdf these products could have a
material adverse effect on our operating margins.

We depend on key personnel.

Our success depends, in large part, upon the eongrefforts and abilities of our executive offiseAlthough we have employment
agreements with certain of our executive officers,cannot assure that these or other executivemeeswill remain with us. Expanding our
operations may require us to add additional exeeygersonnel in the future. As a result of our déredized operating strategy, we also rely on
the management teams of our dealerships. In additie likely will depend on the senior managemérany significant businesses we acquire
in the future. The loss of the services of one oravof these key employees before we are abld@recatind retain qualified replacement
personnel could adversely affect our business.

The products we sell or service may expose us temt@l liability for personal injury or property dmage claims relating to the use of those
products.

Manufacturers of the products we sell generallynt@éin product liability insurance. We also mainttiird-party product liability
insurance that we believe to be adequate. We magriece claims that are not covered by or thairaescess of our insurance coverage. The
institution of any significant claims against usiltbsubject us to damages, result in higher instg@osts, and harm our business reputation
with potential customers.
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Environmental and other regulatory issues may impaar operations.

Our operations are subject to extensive regulasopervision, and licensing under various fedestake, and local statutes, ordinances,
and regulations. The failure to satisfy those atheéioregulatory requirements could have a matadakrse effect on our business, financial
condition, and results of operations.

Various federal, state, and local regulatory agesydncluding the Occupational Safety and Healtm#istration, or OSHA, the United
States Environmental Protection Agency, or EPA, sindlar federal and local agencies, have jurisdicover the operation of our dealerships,
repair facilities, and other operations, with regpe matters such as consumer protection, worlsafgty, and laws regarding protection of the
environment, including air, water, and soil. TheAgRomulgated emissions regulations for outboardimeaengines that impose stricter
emissions standards for two-cycle, gasoline outbo@arine engines. The majority of the outboard neengines we sell are manufactured by
Mercury Marine. Mercury Marine’s product line ofdeemission engines, including the OptiMax, Veraalag other foustroke outboards, ha
achieved the EPA’s mandated 2006 emission leveig.iAcreased costs of producing engines resultimg fEPA standards or the inability of
our manufacturers to comply with EPA requiremeotsild have a material adverse effect on our busines

Certain of our facilities own and operate undergubstorage tanks, or USTs, for the storage of varjmetroleum products. USTS i



generally subject to federal, state, and local lamd regulations that require testing and upgradfigSTs and remediation of
contaminated soils and groundwater resulting freaking USTs. In addition, we may be subject tol ¢iability to third parties for remediation
costs or other damages if leakage from our ownexperated USTs migrates onto the property of others

Our business involves the use, handling, storagcantracting for recycling or disposal of hazarsior toxic substances or wastes,
including environmentally sensitive materials, sastmotor oil, waste motor oil and filters, transsion fluid, antifreeze, freon, waste paint
lacquer thinner, batteries, solvents, lubricanggrdasing agents, gasoline, and diesel fuels. Aougly, we are subject to regulation by federal
state, and local authorities establishing invesitigeand health and environmental quality standaadd liability related thereto, and providing
penalties for violations of those standards.

We also are subject to laws, ordinances, and régnfagoverning investigation and remediation aftemination at facilities we operate
or to which we send hazardous or toxic substancesstes for treatment, recycling, or disposapanticular, the Comprehensive
Environmental Response, Compensation and Lial#\éty or CERCLA or “Superfund,” imposes joint, striand several liability on

. owners or operators of facilities at, from, or tbigh a release of hazardous substances has occ
. parties that generated hazardous substances thateleased at such facilities; €
. parties that transported or arranged for the tramnafpon of hazardous substances to such facil

A majority of states have adopted Superfund statcbenparable to and, in some cases, more stritigemtCERCLA. If we were to be
found to be a responsible party under CERCLA drralar state statute, we could be held liable fbirevestigative and remedial costs
associated with addressing such contaminationddiitian, claims alleging personal injury or progedamage may be brought against us as a
result of alleged exposure to hazardous substaaea#ing from our operations. In addition, certafrour retail locations are located on
waterways that are subject to federal or state tegslating navigable waters (including oil polartiprevention), fish and wildlife, and other
matters.

Soil and groundwater contamination has been knavexist at certain properties owned or leased byMeshave also been required and
may in the future be required to remove abovegramiunderground storage tanks containing hazarsldastances or wastes. As to certain ¢
our properties, specific releases of petroleum Heeen or are in the process of being remediateddnrdance with state and federal guideli
We are monitoring the soil and groundwater as regiuby applicable state and federal guidelines al8e may have additional storage tank
liability insurance and Superfund coverage whemdiegble. Environmental laws and regulations an@glex and subject to frequent change.
Compliance with amended, new, or more stringenslanregulations, more strict interpretations astmng laws, or the future discovery of
environmental conditions may require additionalendtitures by us, and such expenditures may be ialater
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Three of the properties we own were historicallgdias gasoline service stations. Remedial actitmnespect to prior historical site
activities on these properties has been completeddordance with federal and state law. Also,aireur properties is within the boundaries
a Superfund site, although neither property has lEntified as a contributor to the contaminaiiothe area.

Additionally, certain states have required or armesidering requiring a license in order to opegatecreational boat. These regulations
could discourage potential buyers, thereby limifiniyire sales and adversely affecting our busirfesacial condition, and results of
operations.

The market price of our common stock could be subje wide fluctuations as a result of many factors

Factors that could affect the trading price of common stock include the following:
. variations in our operating resul

. the thin trading volume and relatively small pulflaat of our common stocl
. our ability to continue to secure adequate levefinancing;

. variations in san-store sales

. general economic, political, and market conditic

. changes in earnings estimates published by ana

. the level and success of our acquisition prograchreaw store opening

. the success of dealership integrati

. relationships with manufacturel

. seasonality and weather conditio

. governmental policies and regulatio

. the performance of the recreational boat industryeneral; an

. factors relating to suppliers and competit

In addition, market demand for small-capitalizatgtacks, and price and volume fluctuations in tieelsmarket unrelated to our
performance could result in significant fluctuagdn the market price of our common sto



The performance of our common stock could adverafct our ability to raise equity in the publi@arkets and adversely affect our
acquisition program.

The issuance of additional capital stock in the fue, including shares that we may issue pursuantstock-based grants, including stock
option grants, and future acquisitions, may resitt dilution in the net tangible book value per shaof our common stock.

Our board of directors has the legal power andaiithto determine the terms of an offering of gsaof our capital stock, or securities
convertible into or exchangeable for these shaoahe extent of our shares of authorized and ueigapital stock. The issuance of additiona
common stock in the future, including shares thatmay issue pursuant to stock-based grants, imgustock option grants, and future
acquisitions, may result in dilution in the netdée book value per share of our common stock.
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A substantial number of shares are eligible for fue sale.

As of September 30, 2012, there were 22,910,15@shd our common stock outstanding. Substantallpf these shares are freely
tradable without restriction or further registrationder the securities laws, unless held by arili@#” of our company, as that term is defined
in Rule 144 under the securities laws. Shares Inekffiliates of our company, which generally indtuour directors, officers, and certain
principal stockholders, are subject to the redaiédtions of Rule 144 described below. Outstandihgres of common stock issued in
connection with the acquisition of any acquiredlesaare available for resale beginning six moatiter the respective dates of the
acquisitions, subject to compliance with the primris of Rule 144 under the securities laws.

As of September 30, 2012, we had issued optiopsittchase approximately 4,355,111 shares of comitazk and 582,441 restricted
stock awards under our incentive stock plans, amiseued 525,429 shares of common under our engkigek purchase plan. We have filed
a registration statement under the securities tawsgister the common stock to be issued undeetpians. As a result, shares issued under
these plans will be freely tradable without resimic unless acquired by affiliates of our compankip will be subject to the volume and other
limitations of Rule 144.

We may issue additional shares of common stockefepred stock under the securities laws as pahgfacquisition we may complete
in the future. If issued pursuant to an effectiegistration statement, these shares generall\pwifteely tradable after their issuance by per
not affiliated with us or the acquired companies.

We do not pay cash dividends.
We have never paid cash dividends on our commak sto

Certain provisions of our restated certificate afdorporation and bylaws and Delaware law may maketange in the control of our
company more difficult to complete, even if a chann control were in the stockholders’ interest oright result in a premium over the
market price for the shares held by the stockholsler

Our certificate of incorporation and bylaws divider board of directors into three classes of dinecélected for staggered three-year
terms. The certificate of incorporation also pr@sdhat the board of directors may authorize thgaisce of one or more series of preferred
stock from time to time and may determine the sgpteferences, privileges, and restrictions axth& number of shares of any such series o
preferred stock, without any vote or action by stmckholders. The board of directors may authdhizeissuance of preferred stock with voting
or conversion rights that could adversely affeetibting power or other rights of the holders ahooon stock. The certificate of incorporation
also allows our board of directors to fix the numbkdirectors and to fill vacancies on the boafdicectors.

We also are subject to the anti-takeover provisafrSection 203 of the Delaware General Corpordtiaw, which prohibits us from
engaging in a “business combination” with an “ieted stockholder” for a period of three yearsrdfte date of the transaction in which the
person became an “interested stockholder,” unfesstisiness combination is approved in a prescritther. Certain of our dealer
agreements could also make it difficult for a thpattty to attempt to acquire a significant owngrghosition in our company.
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Our sales of yachts produced by the Azimut-Ben@itoup in Italy and motor and sailing yachts produddy Sino Eagle in China expose us
to international political, economic, and other #s.

Our sales of yachts produced by the Azimut-Ber@&ttiup in Italy and yachts for our yacht charteeflproduced by Sino Eagle in China
expose us to international political, economic, atiter risks. Protectionist trade legislation ia thnited States, Italy, or China, such as a
change in current tariff structures, export or imipompliance laws, or other trade policies cowdearsely affect our ability to import yachts
from these foreign suppliers under economicallyfable terms and conditions. Our foreign purchds@aohts create a number of logistical
and communications challenges. The economic, paljtand other risks we face resulting from theseign purchases include the following:

. compliance with U.S. and local laws and regulatequirements as well as changes in those lawseapdrements
. transportation delays or interruptions and othérat$ of less developed infrastructur

. limitations on imports and export

. foreign exchange rate fluctuatior



. imposition of restrictions on currency conversiarte transfer of fund:

. tariffs and duties and other trade barrier resomst;

. maintenance of quality standar

. unexpected changes in regulatory requireme

. differing labor regulations

. potentially adverse tax consequenc

. possible employee turnover or labor unr

. the burdens and costs of compliance with a vaoéfgreign laws; ant

. political or economic instability

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

Not applicable.

Item 2. Properties

We lease our corporate offices in Clearwater, BirWe also lease 28 of our retail locations uteBses, many of which contain multi-
year renewal options and some of which grant uiseright of refusal to purchase the propertyadt ¥alue. In most cases, we pay a fixed
at negotiated rates. In substantially all of theeskd locations, we are responsible for taxestiesiinsurance, and routine repairs and
maintenance. We own the property associated witht2dr retail locations we operate and one joimtwe as noted below. Additionally, we
own six retail locations that are currently closesdhoted below.

The following table reflects the status, approxiensize, and facilities of the various retail looas we operate as of the date of this re

) Square Operated
Location Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Alabama
Gulf Shores Company owne 4,00C Retail and servic 199¢ —
Arizona
Tempe Company owne 34,00 Retail and servic 199z —
California
San Diegc Third-party leas 70C  Retail only 2011 San Diego Ba
Connecticut
Norwalk Third-party leas 7,000  Retail and servic 199¢  Norwalk Harbot
Westbrook Third-party leas 4,20C Retail and servic 199¢  Westbrook Harbo
Florida
Cape Haze(4 Company owne  18,00( Retail, 8 wet slip: — Intracoastal Waterwa
Clearwate! Company owne 42,000 Retail and service; 20 wet sli 197 Tampa Bay
Cocoa Company owne 15,00 Retail and servic 196¢ —
Dania Company owne 32,00 Repair and service; 16 wet sl 1991 Port Everglade
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Square Operated
Location Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront
Destin Third-party leas 6,00C Retail and servic 2011 —
Fort Myers Third-party leas 5,00C Retail, service, and stora 198: —
Jacksonville Company owne  15,00C Retail and servic 200¢ —
Key Largo Third-party leas 8,90C Retail and service; 6 wet sli| 200z Card Sounc
Miami Company owne 7,200  Retail and service; 15 wet sli 198C Little River
Miami Company owne 5,00C Service only; 11 wet slip 200t  Little River
Naples Company owne  19,60( Retail and service; 14 wet sli 1997 Naples Bay
North Palm Beach(4 Company owne  22,80( Retail and service; 8 wet sli| — Intracoastal Waterwa
Panama Cit Third-party leas  10,50(  Retail only; 8 wet slip: 2011 Saint Andrews Ba
Pensacol; Third-party leas  24,30(  Retail and servic 1972 —
Pompano Beac Company owne  23,00( Retail and service; 16 wet sli 199C Intracoastal Waterwa
Pompano Beac Company owne 5,40C Retail and service; 24 wet sli 200t  Intracoastal Waterwa
Sarasota Third-party leas  26,50(  Retail, service, and storage; 197z Sarasota Bay
wet slips
St. Petersburg(: Joint venture 15,00C Yacht service, 20 wet slif 200¢ Boca Ciega Ba
Stuart Company owne  29,10C Retail and service; 66 wet sli 200z Intracoastal Waterwa
Tampa Company owne  13,10C Retail and servic 199t —
Venice Company owne  62,00( Retail, service, and storage; 1972z Intracoastal Waterway

Georgia

wet slips



Buford (Atlanta) Company owne  13,50(C Retail and servic 2001 —

Cumming (Atlanta’ Third-party leas  13,00(  Retail and service; 50 wet sli 1981 Lake Lanier

Maryland

Baltimore Third-party leas 7,600 Retail and service; 17 wet sli 200t  Baltimore Inner Harbc

Joppa Company owne  28,40( Retail, service, and storage; 196¢  Gunpowder River

294 wet slips

White Marsh(4. Company owne  19,80( Retail and servic — —

Minnesota

Bayport Third-party leas 45C Retail only; 10 wet slip 199¢ St Croix River

Rogers Company owne  70,00( Retail, service, and stora 1991 —

Walker Company owne  76,40( Retail, service, and stora 198¢ —

Walker Company owne 6,80C Retail and service; 93 wet sli 1977 Leech Lake
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Square Operated

Location Location Type Footage(1 Facilities at Property Since(2) Waterfront

Missouri

Branson Third-party leas 1,50C Retail only; 6 wet slip: 200C Table Rock Lake

Lake Ozark Company owne  60,30( Retail, service, and 1987 Lake of the Ozarks
storage; 300 wet slig

Laurie(4) Company owne 70C  Retail and servic — —

Osage Beach(« Company owne 2,00C Retail and servic — —

Springfield(4) Company owne  12,20(  Retail and servic — —

New Jersey

Brant Beach Third-party leas 3,80C Retail, service, and 196t Barnegat Bay
storage; 36 wet slig

Brick Company owne  20,00( Retail, service, and 1977 Manasquan River
storage; 225 wet slig

Lake Hopatcong Third-party leas 4,60 Retail and service; 80 199¢  Lake Hopatcong
wet slips

Ship Bottom Third-party leas  19,30( Retail and servic 1972 —

Somers Point Third-party leas 31,000 Retalil, service, 1987 Little Egg Harbor Bay
and storage; 33 wet sli

New York

Copiague Third-party leas  15,00(  Retail only 199: —

Huntington Third-party leas 1,20C Retail and service 199t  Huntington Harbor and Lot

Island Sounc

Lindenhurst (Marina) Third-party leas  14,60(  Retail, marina, service, 196¢  Neguntatogue Creek
and storage; 370 wet Great South Bay
slips

Manhattar Third-party leas 1,20C  Retail only; 75 wet slip 199¢  Hudson Rivel

North Carolina

Southpori Third-party leas 1,60C Retail only 200¢  Cape Fear Rive

Wrightsville Beach Third-party leas  34,50( Retail, service, and 199¢  Masonboro Inlet
storage

Ohio

Port Clinton Company owne  80,00( Retail, service and 1997 Lake Erie
storage; 8 wet slip

Oklahoma

Afton Third-party leas 3,50C Retail and service; 23 200z  Grand Lake
wet slips

Rhode Island

Newport Third-party leas 70C  Retail only 2011 Newport Harbol

Warwick Third-party leas 4,40C Retail and servic 199¢  Greenwich Bay

Tennesse

Chattanoogi Third-party leas 3,00C Retail only; 12 wet slip 200t  Tennessee Rive

Texas

Lewisville (Dallas) Company owne  22,00C Retail and servic 200z —

Seabrook Company owne  32,00( Retail and service; 30 200z Clear Lake
wet slips

British Virgin Islands

Tortola Third-party leas 1,05C Vacation Charters; 12 2011 Maya Cove

wet slips

(1) Square footage is approximate and does not incutkde sales space or dock or marina facili
(2) Operated since date is the date the facility wameg by us or opened prior to its acquisition hy



(3) Joint venture entered into with Brunswick to acquirarina and service facilit
(4) Owned location that is currently clost
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are party to various legal actions arising mahdinary course of business. While it is not ifgdaso determine the actual outcome of
these actions as of September 30, 2012, we doetiet/b that these matters will have a material extveffect on our consolidated financial
condition, results of operations, or cash flows.

On January 26, 2012, certain former shareholde®udside—3 Marina, Inc., a company we acquirearch 2006, filed a lawsuit in
the United States District Court for the Easterstidit of New York, naming our company and cerw@dimour directors and officers as
defendants. The lawsuit alleges, in twelve coumfajlure to timely lift stock transfer restrictison stock acquired by the plaintiffs in the
acquisition, which allegedly delayed the plaintfifsm selling the shares while the defendants sbltes in the marketplace. The lawsuit seek
damages in excess of $7 million. On December 3220tk District Court issued an order dismissingat directors and officers from the
complaint and dismissed ten of the twelve coursessed against the company, leaving only the brafamtmtract claim to proceed and
allowing the plaintiff to replead their alleged comn law fraud claim within 30 days. Based on oweasment, we believe the remaining
portion of the case is without merit and, as alteshould not have a material adverse effect anconsolidated financial condition, results of
operations, or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures
Not applicable.

PART Il

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common Equity, Relat&lockholder Matters, and Issuer Purchases of Equagcurities

Our common stock has been traded on the New YargkIExchange under the symbol HZO since our ingtidilic offering on June 3,
1998 at $12.50 per share. The following table f&eth high and low sale prices of the common stiocleach calendar quarter indicated as
reported on the New York Stock Exchange.

High Low
2010
First quartel $11.9¢ $8.6:
Second quarte $12.7¢ $6.91
Third quartel $ 8.51 $6.17
Fourth quarte $ 9.6 $6.8¢
2011
First quartel $ 9.9¢ $7.92
Second quarte $10.6: $7.51
Third quartel $ 9.67 $5.5C
Fourth quarte $ 8.4¢ $5.51
2012
First quartel $ 9.2¢ $6.34
Second quarte $11.2¢ $7.84
Third quartel $10.0: $6.82
Fourth quarter (through December 5, 20 $ 8.7¢ $7.17
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On December 5, 2012, the closing sale price ofcourmon stock was $8.56 per share. On Decemberl?2, #ere were approximately
100 record holders and approximately 3,000 berafivners of our common stock.

Dividends

We have never declared or paid cash dividends oo@mumon stock. We currently plan to retain anyhggys to finance the growth of ¢
business rather than to pay cash dividends. Pagnoéiainy cash dividends in the future will depencbar financial condition, results of
operations, and capital requirements as well asrdéittors deemed relevant by our board of director
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Performance Graph

The following line graph compares cumulative tetaickholder returns for the five years ended SelpgzrB0, 2012 for (i) our common
stock, (ii) the Russell 2000 Index, and (iii) thaddaq Retail Trade Index. The graph assumes astmeat of $100 on September 30, 2C



The calculations of cumulative stockholder retunrtiee Russell 2000 Index and the Nasdaq RetailéThadex include reinvestment of
dividends. The calculation of cumulative stockholdgurn on our common stock does not include r=stment of dividends because we did
not pay any dividends during the measurement pefibd historical performance shown is not necelgsadicative of future performance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*
Amang MarineMax, Inc., the Russell 2000 Index, and the NASDAQ Retail Trade Index
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*$100 invested on W3000T in stock or index, including reinvestment of dividends
Fiscal year ending September 30

The performance graph above shall not be deemiedifior purposes of Section 18 of the Securiti@sliange Act of 1934, as amended, or
Exchange Act, or otherwise subject to the liabitifythat section. The performance graph abovenwillbe deemed incorporated by reference

into any filing of our company u

nder the Exchangs ér the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
43

Iltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The following table contains certain financial asgkrating data and is qualified by the more dedaitensolidated financial statements
and notes thereto included elsewhere in this repbg balance sheet and statement of operatioasadat derived from the consolidated
financial statements and notes thereto that hage hedited by Ernst & Young LLP, an independenisteged certified public accounting firm.
The financial data shown below should be read mjwwtion with the consolidated financial statenseamd the related notes thereto and
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Finan€iahdition and Results of Operations” included elsere in this report.

Statement of Operations
Data:

Revenue

Cost of sale:

Gross profit

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(C
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012
(Amounts in thousands except share, per share, amdtail location data)

Selling, general, and administrative

expense:

Goodwill and intangible asset impairmen

charge

(Loss) income from operatiol
Interest expense, n

(Loss) income before income tax (benefit)

provision
Income tax (benefit) provisic
Net (loss) incomi

Net (loss) income per shal

$ 88540 $ 588,58 $ 450,34 $ 480,89 $ 524,45
679,16¢ 499,92 339,53 361,40( 391,17
206,24 88,66( 110,80° 119,49 133,28:
217,42( 159,99¢ 123,97: 127,89 127,91
122,09: — — — —

(133,27 (71,339 (13,16%) (8,402) 5,37(
20,16« 14,06+ 3,92¢ 3,48¢ 4,447
(153,43%) (85,40%) (17,09?) (11,890 92z
(19,169 (8,630) (19,58¢) (367) (176)

$ (134,27) $ (76,779 $ 2,49 $ (11,529 $  1,09¢




Diluted $ (730 $ (411 $ 0.11 $ (05) $ 0.0%

Weighted average number of shal

Diluted 18,391,48 18,685,42 22,597,95 22,375,27 22,335,91
Other Data (as of year-end):
Number of retail locations (. 80 55 56 54 53
Sales per store (2) (: $ 12,49 $ 11,28t $ 8,77¢ $ 9,91z $ 10,64¢
Same-store sales growth (3) (: (28)% (29% (17% 8% 11%

September 30
2008 2009 2010 2011 2012

Balance Sheet Data:
Working capital $134,00. $ 95,91« $102,95. $ 95,53t $101,74
Total asset 661,32 393,64« 336,76( 363,12 365,12:
Goodwill — — — — 452
Long-term debt (including current portion) ( — — — — —
Total stockholder equity 248,58: 197,75t 202,03( 195,00( 200,94

(1) Includes only those retail locations open at peend.

(2) Includes only those stores open for the entirequimg 1:-month period

(3) New and acquired stores are included in the corbpaizase at the end of the s’s thirteenth month of operatior

(4) A store is one or more retail locations tha adjacent or operate as one entity. Sales per atar same-store sales growth is intended
only as supplemental information and is not a stitietfor revenue or net income presented in acwd with generally accepted
accounting principles

(5) Amount excludes our shterm borrowings for working capital and inventoiyancing.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financiab@dition and Results of Operations

The following should be read in conjunction withrfAaincluding the matters set forth in the “RiB&ctors” section of this report, and our
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes therelieded elsewhere in this report.

Overview

We are the largest recreational boat retailerénUhited States with fiscal 2012 revenue in exo¢$520 million. Through our current !
retail locations in 18 states, we sell new and ueetkational boats and related marine produatfyding engines, trailers, parts, and
accessories. We also arrange related boat finanicisgrance, and extended service contracts; pedsé@t repair and maintenance services;
offer yacht and boat brokerage services; and, wéreadable, offer slip and storage accommodatitvis.recently implemented programs to
increase substantially our sale over the Interhased boats and a wide range of boating partgssccies, supplies, and products; the sale of
boats, boating parts, and accessories, as weikasffer of finance and insurance, or F&I, prodwtsarious offsite locations; and the charte
power and sailing yachts in the British Virgin IstBs. None of these recently implemented programs had a material effect on our
consolidated financial statements.

MarineMax was incorporated in January 1998. We cengad operations with the acquisition of five inelegient recreational boat
dealers on March 1, 1998. Since the initial actjoiss in March 1998, we have acquired 22 recreatibnat dealers, two boat brokerage
operations, and two full-service yacht repair fitie. As a part of our acquisition strategy, weginently engage in discussions with various
recreational boat dealers regarding their poteatiguisition by us. Potential acquisition discussifrequently take place over a long period of
time and involve difficult business integration asttier issues, including, in some cases, managesuenéssion and related matters. As a r
of these and other factors, a number of potentialigitions that from time to time appear likelyaccur do not result in binding legal
agreements and are not consummated. We did notletavgny acquisitions during the fiscal year enfledtember 30, 2010 and completed a
relatively small acquisition in each of the fisgabrs ended September 30, 2011 and 2012.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating resultsavorable local, regional,
national, or global economic developments or uageties regarding future economic prospects coedidice consumer spending in the market
we serve and adversely affect our business. Ecanoomditions in areas in which we operate dealpsshparticularly Florida in which we
generated 54%, 50%, and 49% of our revenue duisieglf2010, 2011, and 2012, respectively, can avajor impact on our operations.
Local influences, such as corporate downsizingitanl base closings, inclement weather, environalestnditions, and specific events, such
as the BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico, also ¢dadversely affect our operations in certain mezke

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarygjpg levels generally decline, at times resultmgisproportionately large
reductions in the sale of luxury goods. Consumendjng on luxury goods also may decline as a reslttwer consumer confidence levels,
even if prevailing economic conditions are favoeal#llthough we have expanded our operations dyrargds of stagnant or modestly
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturelod tecreational boating industry or the lack olistdy growth may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of ofi@na. Any period of adverse economic condition¥owr consumer confidence has a negative
effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorsmaaly affected our business in
fiscal 2007, and continued weakness in consumerdspg resulting from substantial weakness in tharicial markets and depressed econc



conditions had a very substantial negative effecbar business in each subsequent fiscal yeaydimgy 2012. These conditions caused
us to substantially reduce our acquisition progrdetay new store openings, reduce our inventorghmases, engage in inventory reduction
efforts, close a number of our retail locationsluge our headcount, and amend and replace out taetlity. Acquisitions and new store
openings remain important strategies to our compamng we plan to resume our growth through thesg¢egfies when more normal economic
conditions return. However, we cannot predict #regth or severity of these unfavorable economiinancial conditions or the extent to wh
they will continue to adversely affect our opergtmesults nor can we predict the effectivenesti®feasures we have taken to address this
environment or whether additional measures wilhbeessary.
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Although economic conditions have adversely afi@cter operating results, we have capitalized oncove strengths to substantially
outperform the industry, resulting in market shga@s. Our ability to capture such market shargetp the alignment of our retailing
strategies with the desires of consumers. We belies steps we have taken to address weak marhk@itions will yield an increase in future
revenue. As general economic trends improve, weaqur core strengths and retailing strategielspogition us to capitalize on growth
opportunities as they occur and will allow us toeege from this challenging economic environmenhwiteater earnings potential.

Application of Critical Accounting Policies

We have identified the policies below as criti@abur business operations and the understandingrakesults of operations. The impact
and risks related to these policies on our busiopssgations is discussed throughout Managemensesussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations when such fgdliaffect our reported and expected financialltesu

In the ordinary course of business, we make a nuwifoestimates and assumptions relating to thertiegpof results of operations and
financial condition in the preparation of our fircdal statements in conformity with accounting pijshes generally accepted in the United
States. We base our estimates on historical expsseand on various other assumptions that wevieediee reasonable under the circumsta
The results form the basis for making judgmentauibite carrying values of assets and liabilitied #ire not readily apparent from other
sources. Actual results could differ significarflgm those estimates under different assumptiodscanditions. We believe that the following
discussion addresses our most critical accountitigies, which are those that are most importanhé&portrayal of our financial condition and
results of operations and require our most difficalibjective, and complex judgments, often asaltef the need to make estimates about the
effect of matters that are inherently uncertain.

Revenue Recognitio

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and traéées and parts and service operations at thettienkeoat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or thaeeis completed. We recognize deferred revenum Bervice operations and slip and sto
services on a straight-line basis over the terth@icontract or when service is completed. We neizegcommissions earned from a brokerage
sale at the time the related brokerage transactases. We recognize commissions earned by uddoing notes with financial institutions in
connection with customer boat financing when wegeize the related boat sales. We recognize matkéties earned on credit life, accident,
disability, gap, and hull insurance products soldHird-party insurance companies at the laterust@mer acceptance of the insurance produc
as evidenced by contract execution or when theéeklaoat sale is recognized. We also recognize égssions earned on extended warranty
service contracts sold on behalf of third-partyuiasice companies at the later of customer acceptafitbe service contract terms as evidence
by contract execution or recognition of the reldtedt sale.

Certain finance and extended warranty commissiadsw@arketing fees on insurance products may begeladrack if a customer
terminates or defaults on the underlying contrathiw a specified period of time. Based upon oyvagience of terminations and defaults, we
maintain a chargeback allowance that was not nateriour financial statements taken as a wholef &eptember 30, 2011 or 2012. Should
results differ materially from our historical expmrces, we would need to modify our estimate airfeichargebacks, which could have a
material adverse effect on our operating margins.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our wesdn accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddif@ation 605-50, “Revenue
Recognition—Customer Payments and Incentives” (“A86-50"). ASC 605-50 requires us to classify iatrassistance received from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against our interest expense incurre
with our lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amougttsived by us under our co-op assistance prognamsdur manufacturers are netted
against related advertising expenses.

46

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aeguventory, net of vendor consideration and pasehdiscounts, the cost of equipment
added, reconditioning costs, and transportatiotsaa$ating to acquiring inventory for sale. Wetstaew and used boat, motor, and trailer
inventories at the lower of cost, determined opec#ic-identification basis, or market. We stasgtp and accessories at the lower of cost,
determined on an average cost basis, or marketitWliz® our historical experience, the aging of timeentories, and our consideration of
current market trends as the basis for determiailogver of cost or market valuation allowance. ASeptember 30, 2011 and 2012, our lowel
of cost or market valuation allowance was $3.4iorland $2.8 million, respectively. If events ocamd market conditions change, causing th
fair value to fall below carrying value, the lowarcost or market valuation allowance could ince2



Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with FASB Auanting Standards Codification 350, “IntangibléScodwill and Other” (“ASC
350"). The excess of cost over net assets of bssaseacquired is recorded as goodwill. The Septegtlde® acquisition of Bassett Marine,
LLC resulted in goodwill of $452,000. We review givall for impairment at least annually and whenegeents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recabler. As of September 30, 2012, we determined girawr qualitative assessment that it is
not “more likely than not” that the fair valuesair reporting units are less than their carryinigi®s. As a result, we were not required to
perform the two-step goodwill impairment test.

Impairment of Lon¢-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-4®dperty, Plant, and Equipment—Impairment or Digpo$ Long-Lived
Assets” (“ASC 360-10-40"), requires that long-livasisets, such as property and equipment and pecth#angibles subject to amortization,
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamg circumstances indicate that the carrying athofian asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compauds its carrying amount to undiscounted futureazesh flows the asset is expected to
generate. If such assets are considered to bermapaie impairment to be recognized is measurg¢keaamount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its fair market value. Estisnat expected future cash flows represent ourdstshate based on currently available
information and reasonable and supportable assangptAny impairment recognized in accordance wiBCA360-10-40 is permanent and may
not be restored. As of September 30, 2012, we badercognized any impairment of long-lived assetsdnnection with ASC 360-10-40 based
on our reviews.

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation plaimifing the provisions of FASB Accounting Standafdodification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (*“ASC 718")aktordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Schaasation model for valuing all
stock-based compensation and shares purchasedaunrdemployee Stock Purchase Plan. We measure cwatien for restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units at fair valu¢ghengrant date based on the number of shares exptectvest and the quoted market price o
common stock. For restricted stock units with madanditions, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulationigedded in a lattice model to determine
the fair value. We recognize compensation costficawards in earnings, net of estimated forfegumn a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period for each separately vesting poioihe award.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FASBounting Standards Codification 740, “Income @six(“ASC 740"). Under
ASC 740, we recognize deferred tax assets andifiebifor the future tax consequences attributableemporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existingets and liabilities and their respective tax basfs measure deferred tax assets and liab
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to texiabbme in the years in which we expect those tearg differences to be recovered or
settled. We record valuation allowances to reduredeferred tax assets to the amount expected ttedtieed by considering all available
positive and negative evidence.
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Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdive negative evidence regarding the realizatiashefdrred tax assets, including past
operating results and future sources of taxablenme Under the provisions of ASC 740-10, we deteeahithat our net deferred tax asset
needed to be fully reserved given recent earningsradustry trends.

The Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistastef 2009 was signed into law in November 200BisTact allowed us to
carryback our 2009 net operating loss, which hadlaation allowance recorded against the entireuarnand which we were not able to
carryback under the prior tax law. The additioreargback generated a tax refund of $19.2 milliome Tax refund was recorded as income tax
benefit during our quarter ended December 31, 20@period in which this act was enacted. We fdazhrryback claim with the Internal
Revenue Service, and we received a $19.2 milliumeein the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

For a more comprehensive list of our accountingcpes, including those which involve varying degreé judgment, see Note 2 —
“Significant Accounting Policies” of Notes to Cotlisiated Financial Statements.

Results of Operations
The following table sets forth certain financiatalas a percentage of revenue for the periodsatetic

Fiscal Year Ended September 3(

2010 2011 2012
(Amounts in thousands)

Revenue $450,34(  100.(%  $480,89: 100.(%  $524,45¢ 100.(%
Cost of sale: 339,53 75.4% 361,40( 75.1% 391,17: 74.€%
Gross profit 110,80° 24.€% 119,49« 24.%% 133,28 25.4%
Selling, general, and administrative exper 123,97. 27.5% 127,89¢ 26.€% 127,91 24.4%
(Loss) income from operatiol (13,165 (2.9%) (8,402 (1.8%) 5,37( 1.C%
Interest expens 3,92¢ 0.% 3,48¢ 0.7% 4,44 0.%

(Loss) income before income tax ben (17,09) (3.8%) (12,890 (2.5%) 922 0.2%



Income tax benefi 19,58¢ 4.4% 367 0.1% 17¢€ 0.C%
Net income (loss $ 2,49i 0.6% $(11,529 (2.4%) $ 1,09¢ 0.2%

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2012 Compared Wiital Year Ended September 30, 2011

RevenueRevenue increased $43.6 million, or 9.1%, to $524ilbon for the fiscal year ended September 30,26 om $480.9 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2011. Bfiticrease, $53.0 million was attributable to a@blincrease in comparable-store sales,
which was partially offset by a decline of $9.4 1ol related to stores opened or closed that weteligible for inclusion in the comparable-
store base for the 12 months ended September 20, Z8e increase in our comparabtere sales was due to incremental increases irboer
sales, partly attributable to new brands we haypaeded with, and incremental increases in useddadas, brokerage services, F&I products,
service, parts and accessories. Improving indestnglitions resulting from improved economic coratis contributed to our comparable-store
sales growth.

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $13.8 million, or 11.5%%$133.3 million for the fiscal year ended Septeng®r2012 from
$119.5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptenB8®r2011. Gross profit as a percentage of revemreased to 25.4% for the fiscal year er
September 30, 2012 from 24.9% for the fiscal yealed September 30, 2011. The increase in gross wad primarily attributable to the
increase in comparable-store sales and incremgimnaleased margins on new boat sales due to inmordustry inventory conditions.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expensdling, general, and administrative expenses neeadiilat at $127.9 million for both the
fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and Septe8@ib2011. Selling, general, and administrativeeeses as a percentage of revenue
decreased approximately 2.2% to 24.4% for the Ifigear ended September 30, 2012 from 26.6% fofiskeal year ended September 30, 2011
The decrease in selling, general, and administrakpenses as a percentage of revenue was priratributable to expense leverage obtainec
through our reported comparable-store sales ineraad various cost-reduction efforts including s¥aiw cost reductions and less inventory
maintenance given improved inventories.
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Interest Expensdnterest expense increased $959,000, or 27.5%.8ortillion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZiL,2 from
$3.5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZl 1. Interest expense as a percentage of rewecneased to 0.9% for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2012 from 0.7% for the fiseat gnded September 30, 2011. The increase waarpyim result of increased borrowings
under our credit facilities due to increased aveliagentories.

Income Tax BenefitWe had an income tax benefit of $176,000 foffiteal year ended September 30, 2012 comparedamithcome ta
benefit of $367,000 for the fiscal year ended Septr 30, 2011. Our effective income tax rate wasflar both the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2012 and 2011. In fiscal 2011, wemgéed a loss for tax purposes and we could notdebe benefit for the net operating loss
carryforward due to the required valuation allowarfeor fiscal 2012, the income tax expense ordinassociated with our pre-tax income was
offset by the fully reserved net operating lossyfarward utilized.

Fiscal Year Ended September 30, 2011 Compared Wwislital Year Ended September 30, 2010

RevenueRevenue increased $30.6 million, or 6.8%, to $48&ailBon for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2&om $450.3 million
for the fiscal year ended September 30, 2010. Bfiticrease, $34.3 million was attributable to &hi8crease in comparable-store sales, whic
was partially offset by a decline of $3.7 millicglated to stores opened or closed that were rgiblifor inclusion in the comparable-store
base for the 12 months ended September 30, 20&linthease in our comparaldore sales was due to an increase in new boat, sdiset by
a decline in used boat sales, because less ustxvibere available for sale for most of fiscal 2@binpared with fiscal 2010. Our retail sales
continue to be adversely impacted by the ongoimge@aic pressure on our industry.

Gross Profit.Gross profit increased $8.7 million, or 7.8%, td$5 million for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZil1 from
$110.8 million for the fiscal year ended Septen8®r2010. Gross profit as a percentage of revemreased to 24.9% for the fiscal year er
September 30, 2011 from 24.6% for the fiscal yealed September 30, 2010. The increase in gross wad primarily attributable to
incrementally increased margins on boat sales@iraproving industry inventory conditions.

Selling, General, and Administrative Expensling, general, and administrative expenses asaé $3.9 million, or 3.2%, to
$127.9 million for the fiscal year ended Septen8®r2011 from $124.0 million for the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2010. The overall
increase in selling, general, and administrativeeeses was attributable to increased commissiadsapaa result of increased new boat sales.
Additionally, we increased marketing expenses aatast with boat show spending, partially relatedi¢ev brands we added during the year.
The fiscal year ended September 30, 2010 includedeversal of approximately $3.9 million of stdzksed compensation expense, resulting
from the achievement of performance criteria ofaiarrestricted stock units no longer being probalbhe fiscal year ended September 30,
2011 included approximately $750,000 in store dgsind lease termination costs. Additionally, tkedl year ended September 30, 2010
included approximately $1.2 million in store clogicosts and $1.0 million of debt extinguishmentswoslated to our previous credit facility.
Excluding these items in both periods would haweiited in a decrease in selling, general, and adtrative expenses as a percentage of
revenue of approximately 1.5% from 27.9% for tisedi year ended September 30, 2010 to 26.4% fdisited year ended September 30, 2!
This decrease in selling, general, and adminisgakpenses (with such adjustments) as a perceotageenue was primarily attributable to
expense leverage obtained through our reported ambfe-store sales increase.

Interest Expensédnterest expense decreased $438,000, or 11.198,%adllion for the fiscal year ended SeptemberZi,1 from
$3.9 million for the fiscal year ended September28l0. Interest expense as a percentage of rewlmeased to 0.7% for the fiscal year
ended September 30, 2011 from 0.9% for the fiseat gnded September 30, 2010. The decrease waaipyimresult of a lower interest rate
on our new floor plan credit facilities with GECRIRd CGI.



Income Tax BenefitWe had an income tax benefit of $367,000 foffiteal year ended September 30, 2011 comparedamithcome ta
benefit of $19.6 million for the fiscal year endgdptember 30, 2010. Our tax benefit for 2010 reduttom the enactment of the Worker,
Homeownership, and Business Assistance Act of 2888;h was signed into law in November 2009. Thisadlowed us to carryback our 2C
net operating loss, which previously had a valumtittowance recorded against the entire amountdmich we were not able to carryback
under the prior tax law. The additional carrybaekerated a tax refund of $19.2 million. This tafunel was recorded as income tax benefit
during the quarter ended December 31, 2009, tHedar which this act was enacted. We filed a daawgk claim with the Internal Revenue
Service, and we received a $19.2 million refunthenquarter ended March 31, 2010.
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Quarterly Data and Seasonality

Our business, as well as the entire recreationatifgindustry, is highly seasonal, with seasopalitrying in different geographic
markets. With the exception of Florida, we gengredhalize significantly lower sales and higher levaf inventories, and related short-term
borrowings, in the quarterly periods ending Decem®3ieand March 31. The onset of the public boatraedeation shows in January stimulates
boat sales and typically allows us to reduce oueriory levels and related short-term borrowingsuighout the remainder of the fiscal year.
Our business could become substantially more sabgome acquire dealers that operate in colderoregiof the United States or close retail
locations in warm climates.

Our business is also subject to weather patternghwmay adversely affect our results of operatidits example, drought conditions (or
merely reduced rainfall levels) or excessive raiay close area boating locations or render boatamgerous or inconvenient, thereby
curtailing customer demand for our products andises. In addition, unseasonably cool weather anbpged winter conditions may lead t
shorter selling season in certain locations. Harrés and other storms could result in disruptidraio operations or damage to our boat
inventories and facilities, as has been the casmvorida and other markets were affected by bames. Although our geographic diversity is
likely to reduce the overall impact to us of adeensather conditions in any one market area, tbesditions will continue to represent
potential, material adverse risks to us and owréufinancial performance.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our cash needs are primarily for working capitadugport operations, including new and used boadtelated parts inventories, off-
season liquidity, and growth through acquisitiond aew store openings. Acquisitions and new stpenmgs remain important strategies to
our company, and we plan to resume our growth titidbese strategies when more normal economic tionglireturn. However, we cannot
predict the length or severity of these unfavoragenomic or financial conditions. We regularly ritonthe aging of our inventories and
current market trends to evaluate our current atuté inventory needs. We also use this evaluati@onjunction with our review of our
current and expected operating performance ancceeghdusiness levels to determine the adequacyrdfrancing needs.

These cash needs have historically been financédoash generated from operations and borrowindsruour credit facilities. Our
ability to utilize our credit facilities to fund epations depends upon the collateral levels ancptiante with the covenants of the credit
facilities. Turmoil in the credit markets and weaka in the retail markets may interfere with oulitglio remain in compliance with the
covenants of the credit facilities and therefore ahility to utilize the credit facilities to fundperations. At September 30, 2012, we were in
compliance with all covenants under our creditlfées. We currently depend upon dividends and iogfiayments from our dealerships and our
credit facilities to fund our current operationglaneet our cash needs. As 100% owner of each adealerships, we determine the amounts ¢
such distributions, and currently, no agreemenisst éxat restrict this flow of funds from our dealeips.

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 @hd, Zash provided by operating activities apprated $8.7 million and $40.2
million, respectively. For the fiscal year endegt®eber 30, 2011, cash used in operating actiwviteess approximately $14.7 million. For the
fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, cash prolgegberating activities was primarily related tdexrease of inventory driven by inventory
order reductions and partially offset by an incesimsaccounts receivable as a result of our stBemfember close. For the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2010, cash provided by operatingites was primarily related to a decrease in inggas due to our reduction in purchasin
decrease in accounts receivable from our manuistuand a decrease in income tax receivable irgg@lom the collection of the carryback
claim, partially offset by a decrease in our ac¢syrayable. For the fiscal year ended Septembe2®,, cash used in operating activities was
primarily related to an increase in inventory driv®y new product lines added and the timing of ®oateived. This was partially offset by a
decrease in accounts receivable from our manufarstais a result of reduced aging. In addition,arust deposits increased as a result of larg
yachts that were sold on ord

For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012,,20112010, cash used in investing activities vpgsaimately $7.6 million,
$8.7 million, and $2.0 million, respectively. Fbetfiscal years ended September 30, 2012 and 28%h,used in investing activities was
primarily used to purchase property and equipmssbeiated with improving existing retail facilitias well as inventory purchases associatec
with a business acquisition. For the fiscal yeateehSeptember 30, 2010, cash used in investingtadiwas primarily used to purchase
property and equipment associated with improving) rhocating existing retail facilities.
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For the fiscal years ended September 30, 2012 @htl, 2ash provided by financing activities was agpnately $3.2 million and
$26.2 million, respectively. For the fiscal yeaded September 30, 2010, cash used in financingitéesi was approximately $47.2 million. F
the fiscal year ended September 30, 2012, cashdeaby financing activities was primarily attrilable to net short-term borrowings
associated with capital expenditures. For the ffigear ended September 30, 2011, cash providethhgding activities was primaril



attributable to net short-term borrowings as alteduncreased inventory levels. For the fiscahlyended September 30, 2010, cash use
in financing activities was primarily attributatite net payments on our short-term borrowings asalt of decreased inventory levels.

In July 2012, we entered into an amendment to meritory Financing Agreement (the “Credit Facil)tydriginally entered into in June
2010 with GE Commercial Distribution Finance CompéiGGECDF”), as amended in June 2011. The July 2&h2ndment extended the
maturity date of the Credit Facility to June 204bject to additional extension for two one-yeaiqas, with the approval of GECDF. The
June 2011 amendment, among other things, modiiedmount of borrowing availability, interest radad maturity date of the Credit Facility.
The amended Credit Facility provides a floor plesaficing commitment up to $150 million, up from @revious limit of $100 million, subject
to borrowing base availability resulting from thie@unt and aging of our inventory.

The amended Credit Facility has certain finanaislenants as specified in the agreement. The coteimaiude provisions that our
leverage ratio must not exceed 2.75 to 1.0 andatlvaturrent ratio must be greater than 1.2 toAtBeptember 30, 2012, we were in
compliance with all of the covenants under the atedrCredit Facility. The interest rate for amounitstanding under the amended Credit
Facility is 383 basis points above the one-monthdam Inter-Bank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”). There ia anused line fee of ten basis points or
the unused portion of the amended Credit Facility.

Advances under the amended Credit Facility aréateil by the acquisition of eligible new and usagentory or are re-advances against
eligible new and used inventory that have beerigilgrpaid-off. Advances on new inventory matur88i, days from the original invoice date.
Advances on used inventory mature 361 days fronddte we acquire the used inventory. Each advansghject to a curtailment schedule,
which requires that we pay down the balance of ealefance on a periodic basis starting after sixthmhe curtailment schedule varies bi
on the type and value of the inventory. The colldtéor the amended Credit Facility is all of owrponal property with certain limited
exceptions. None of our real estate has been plefdgeollateral for the amended Credit Facility.

In July 2012, we entered into an extension throlighust 31, 2013 to our Inventory Financing Agreetiéme “CGI Facility”), originally
entered into in October 2010 with CGI Finance,,las.extended in September 2011. The CGI Facitiyiges a floor plan financing
commitment of $30 million and is designed to prevfothancing for our Azimut inventory needs. The @ackility has an approximate one-year
term, which is typical in the industry for similiwor plan facilities; however, each advance urttlerCGI Facility can remain outstanding for
18 months. The interest rate for amounts outstgnditder the CGI Facility is 350 basis points abitneeone-month LIBOR.

Advances under the CGI Facility are initiated by #ttquisition of eligible new and used inventornam@ re-advances against eligible new
and used inventory that has been partially paidAxdfzances on new inventory mature 550 days froereitivance date. Advances on used
inventory mature 366 days from the advance dateh Bdvance is subject to a curtailment schedul&hmequires that we pay down the
balance of each advance on a periodic basis,rgjaaftter six months for used inventory and one ya@anew inventory. The curtailment
schedule varies based on the type of inventory.

The collateral for the CGI Facility is our entirgifut inventory financed by the CGI Facility witertain limited exceptions. None of ¢
real estate has been pledged as collateral faC@ieFacility. We must maintain compliance with eémtfinancial covenants as specified in the
CGil Facility. The covenants include provisions that leverage ratio must not exceed 2.75 to 1.0thaidour current ratio must be greater that
1.2 to 1.0. At September 30, 2012, we were in canpé with all of the covenants under the CGI FgcilThe CGI Facility contemplates that
other lenders may be added by us to finance otiventory not financed under the CGI Facility, ieded.
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As of September 30, 2011 and 2012, our indebtedhmsxciated with financing our inventory and wogk@apital needs totaled
approximately $118.8 million and $120.6 millionspectively. At both September 30, 2011 and 20jriterest rate on the outstanding short:
term borrowings was approximately 4.0%. At Septen®fe 2012, our additional available borrowings @emodur amended Credit Facility and
CGl Facility were approximately $39.5 million basgubn the outstanding borrowing base availabilitye aging of our inventory limits our
borrowing capacity as defined curtailments redheeailowable advance rate as our inventory ages.

Except as specified in this “Management’s Discussind Analysis of Financial Condition, and Resaft®©perations” and in our
consolidated financial statements, we have no nahtmymmitments for capital for the next 12 mont& believe that our existing capital
resources will be sufficient to finance our operasi for at least the next 12 months, except fosiptes significant acquisitions.

Contractual Commitments and Commercial Commitments
The following table sets forth a summary of our eniai contractual obligations and commercial cornmeiits as of September 30, 2012:

Year Ending Short-Term Long-Term Operating
September 30 Borrowings (1) Liabilities (2) Leases (3 Total
(Amounts in thousands)

2013 $ 120,64 $ — $ 4,84 $125,49(
2014 — 3,312 4,031 7,345
2015 — — 2,95¢ 2,95¢
2016 — — 2,15¢ 2,15¢
2017 — — 1,53¢ 1,53¢
Thereaftel — — 2,54( 2,54(
Total $ 120,64 $ 3,31 $18,06¢ $142,02!

(1) Estimates of future interest payments for stenmn borrowings have been excluded in the taluiesentation. Amounts due are
contingent upon the outstanding balances and thigbla interest rates. As of September 30, 20irtterest rate on our short-term



borrowings was approximately 4.0'

(2) The amounts included in long-term liabilitiemnsist primarily of deferred revenue, gross unrecgd tax benefits and our estimated
liability for claims on certain workers’ compengatiinsurance policies. While we estimate the ambube paid in excess of 12 months,
the ultimate timing of the payments is subjectedain variability. Accordingly, we have classifial amounts as due in the following
year for the purposes of this tak

(3) Amounts for operating lease commitments doimdtide certain operating expenses such as maimtenasurance, and real estate taxes
These amounts are not a material component of tipgrexpenses

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We do not have any transactions, arrangementsher celationships with unconsolidated entities #ive reasonably likely to affect our
financial condition, liquidity, or capital resouscaVe have no special purpose or limited purposi#emnthat provide off-balance sheet
financing, liquidity, or market or credit risk sum; we do not engage in hedging, or research amdldpment services; and we do not have
other relationships that expose us to liabilityt ikanot reflected in the financial statements.

52

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about MakRisk

At September 30, 2012, all of our short-term defsebnterest at a variable rate, tied to LIBOR asfarence rate. Changes in the
underlying LIBOR interest rate on our short-ternbtdeould affect our earnings. For example, a hygtathl 100 basis point increase in the
interest rate on our short-term debt would resu#in increase of approximately $1.2 million in aanpre-tax interest expense. This estimated
increase is based upon the outstanding balancer ahort-term debt as of September 30, 2012 andreessno mitigating changes by us to
reduce the outstanding balances and no additiotezkist assistance that could be received fromorerdlie to the interest rate increase.

Products purchased from European-based and Chirasssl manufacturers are subject to fluctuatiotiserJ.S. dollar exchange rate,
which ultimately may impact the retail price at aiiwe can sell such products. Accordingly, fludzd in the value of the other currencies
compared with the U.S. dollar may impact the pdoits at which we can profitably sell such foremnducts, and such price points may not
be competitive with other product lines in the @ditStates. Accordingly, such fluctuations in exgarates ultimately may impact the amount
of revenue, cost of goods sold, cash flows, andiegs we recognize for such foreign product linde. cannot predict the effects of exchange
rate fluctuations on our operating results. Inaiartases, we may enter into foreign currency flashhedges to reduce the variability of cash
flows associated with forecasted purchases of lmats/achts from European-based and Chinese-bamadfacturers. We are not currently
engaged in foreign currency exchange hedging tcdiess to manage our foreign currency exposurandf when we do engage in foreign
currency exchange hedging transactions, we carssot@that our strategies will adequately protacioperating results from the effects of
exchange rate fluctuations.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Reference is made to the financial statementsidhes thereto, and the report thereon, commencirgage F-1 of this report, which
financial statements, notes, and report are incatpd herein by reference.

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéunting and Financial Disclosure
Not applicable.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresatetiesigned to ensure that material informaggpired to be disclosed by us in
Securities Exchange Act reports is recorded, psmgessummarized and reported within the time pserabcified in the Securities and
Exchange Commission’s rules and forms, and that sformation is accumulated and communicated toneanagement, including the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, ggpeopriate, to allow timely decisions regardinguiegd disclosure.

Our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial i0&r have evaluated the effectiveness of the demiginoperation of our disclosure
controls and procedures (as defined in Rules 18e)}Hnd 15d-15(e) under the Securities Exchangef\t®34) as of the end of the period
covered by this report. Based on such evaluatioeh sfficers have concluded that, as of the ertti®@period covered by this report, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effectitkeeareasonable assurance level.

Changes in Internal Controls

During the quarter ended September 30, 2012, there no changes in our internal controls over fai@reporting that materially
affected, or were reasonably likely to materiaffiget, our internal control over financial repogin
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Limitations on the Effectiveness of Controls

Our management, including our Chief Executive @ifiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures and internal controls over financiabrépg will prevent all errors and all fraud. A dowl system, no matter how well conceiv



and operated, can provide only reasonable, notlates@ssurance that the objectives of the cosyrsiem are met. Further, the design
control system must reflect the fact that thereraseurce constraints, and the benefits of contnaist be considered relative to their costs.
Although our disclosure controls and proceduresdasigned to provide reasonable assurance of anitheir objectives because of the
inherent limitations in all control systems, no lenagion of controls can provide absolute assurdhnatall control issues and instances of fraud
if any, within the company have been detected. &lirgserent limitations include the realities thadgments in decision-making can be faulty,
and that breakdowns can occur because of simple @rmistake. Additionally, controls can be cirotented by the individual acts of some
persons, by collusion of two or more people, omanagement override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls also is based in
part upon certain assumptions about the likelihofofditure events, and there can be no assurantarialesign will succeed in achieving its
stated goals under all potential future conditiangr time, a control may become inadequate beaafuseanges in conditions, or the degree o
compliance with the policies or procedures may riteiate. Because of the inherent limitations iroateeffective control system, misstatements
due to error or fraud may occur and not be detected

CEO and CFO Certifications

Exhibits 31.1 and 31.2 are the Certifications @& @hief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officrespectively. The Certifications
are required in accordance with Section 302 ofSadanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (the “Section 302 Cegtfons”). This Item of this report,
which you are currently reading is the informatammcerning the Evaluation referred to in the Sec862 Certifications and this information
should be read in conjunction with the Section B@2tifications for a more complete understandintheftopics presented.

Management’s Report on Internal Control over Finangdal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and taiaing adequate internal control over financiglaring, as such term is defined in
Rule 13a-15(f) of the Securities Exchange Act @d4.9Jnder the supervision and with the participatid our management, including our
principal executive officer and principal financaficer, we conducted an evaluation of the effemtiess of the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting as of September 30, 2( Bequired by the Securities Exchange Act of 198k R3a-15(c). In making this
assessment, we used the criteria set forth by ¢imen@ittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Tregd@ammission (“COSQ”) innternal
Control — Integrated FrameworBased on its evaluation, our management conclutadts internal control over financial reportingsv
effective as of September 30, 2012.

Our internal control over financial reporting asS&Eptember 30, 2012 has been audited by Ernst andgvLLP, an independent
registered public accounting firm, as stated inrtteport which appears below.
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Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Acounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
MarineMax, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiariemal control over financial reporting as of Sepber 30, 2012, based on criteria
established in Internal Control-Integrated Framéwssued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organiratif the Treadway Commission (the
COSO criteria). MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiariesimagement is responsible for maintaining effedtiternal control over financial reporting,
and for its assessment of the effectiveness ofriateontrol over financial reporting included hetaccompanying management’s report on
internal control over financial reporting. Our resgibility is to express an opinion on the Comparigternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stededof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&nited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whetheatigéfénternal control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respe@is: audit included obtaining an understanding térimal control over financial reporting,
assessing the risk that a material weakness etasting and evaluating the design and operatifegéfeness of internal control based on the
assessed risk, and performing such other procedsre& considered necessary in the circumstancefeliéve that our audit provides a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

A company'’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonablesaesuregarding the reliability of
financial reporting and the preparation of finahstatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princip

A company'’s internal control over financial repogiincludes those policies and procedures thai€fthin to the maintenance of records that,
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reftbettransactions and dispositions of the assdtseocfompany; (2) provide reasonable assuranc
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatg@aparation of financial statements in accor@anwith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureh®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witibaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detecfainauthorized acquisition, use or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzanweterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtver financial reporting may not prevent or d¢taisstatements. Also, projections of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaubject to the risk that controls may becomdenaate because of changes in condition
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiariesim&@ned, in all material respects, effective intrcontrol over financial reporting as
of September 30, 2012, based on the COSO criteria

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@nited States), th



consolidated balance sheets of MarineMax, Inc.satdidiaries as of September 30, 2012 and 201 lthanelated consolidated
statements of operations, stockholders’ equitycash flows for each of the three years in the peginded September 30, 2012 of MarineMax
Inc. and subsidiaries and our report dated Decemi2012 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Tampa, Florida
December 7, 2012
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PART III
Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers, and Corporate Govarnce

The information required by this Item relating tar directors and corporate governance is incorpdrherein by reference to the
definitive Proxy Statement (particularly under taption “Corporate Governance”) to be filed purduarRegulation 14A of the Exchange Act
for our 2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders. Thimimation required by this Item relating to our ex#ve officers is included in “Business
— Executive Officers.”

We have adopted a code of ethics that appliesitprincipal executive officer, principal financiafficer, and other senior accounting
personnel. The “Code of Ethics for the CEO and &drinancial Officers” is located on our websitevaiw.MarineMax.conmn the Investor
Relations section under Corporate Governance.

We intend to satisfy the disclosure requirementuiigm 5.05(c) of Form 8-K regarding any amendntenor waiver from, a provision
of this code of ethics by posting such informatienour website, at the address and location specibove.

Item 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorp@éherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Staint (particularly under the caption
“Executive Compensation”) to be filed pursuant ggRlation 14A of the Exchange Act for our 2013 AalnMeeting of Stockholders.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aiianagement and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this Item is incorpaéherein by reference to the definitive Proxy @tant (particularly under the caption
“Security Ownership of Principal Stockholders, Rias, and Officers”) to be filed pursuant to Regian 14A of the Exchange Act for our
2013 Annual Meeting of Stockholders.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, abitector Independence

The information required by this Item is incorp@dherein by reference to the definitive Proxy Stent (particularly under the caption
“Certain Relationships and Related Transactiornshe filed pursuant to Regulation 14A of the ExaeAct for our 2013 Annual Meeting of
Stockholders.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorpaéherein by reference to the definitive Proxy @&tant (particularly under the caption
“Ratification of Appointment of Independent Auditpto be filled pursuant to Regulation 14A of thedBange Act for our 2013 Annual
Meeting of Stockholders.

PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedules
(8 Financial Statements and Financial Statement Schetks
(1) Financial Statements are listed in the Index togdtidated Financial Statements on pa-1 of this report

(2) No financial statement schedules are included Isecauch schedules are not applicable, are notresljuir because required informat
is included in the consolidated financial stateraemtnotes theret
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(b) Exhibits
Exhibit
Number Exhibit
3.1 Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Regist, including all amendments to date
3.1(a) Certificate of Amendment of Restricted Certificafdncorporation of the Registrant (

3.2 Third Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Regis{(@&y



3.3 Certificate of Designation of Series A Junior Rapiating Preferred Stock (.

4.1 Specimen of Common Stock Certificate

10.3(h) Employment Agreement between Registrant and WillkhniMcGill Jr. (4)

10.3(i) Employment Agreement between Registrant and MicHadcLamb (4)

10.4 1998 Incentive Stock Plan, as amended through Bep&y, 2001 (5

10.5 1998 Employee Stock Purchase Plan

10.18%t Hatteras Sales and Service Agreement, effectiveustuty, 2006 among the Registrant, MarineMax Motachs, LLC, and
Hatteras Yachts Division of Brunswick Corporatiah

10.20 Agreement Relating to Acquisitions between Regigteand Brunswick Corporation, dated December 75280

10.20(a) Sea Ray Sales and Service Agreemen

10.21(Ht Inventory Financing Agreement executed on Jun€@40, among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsidiarisBarrowers, and G
Commercial Distribution Finance Corporation, as dem (9)

10.21(g) Program Terms Letter executed on June 24, 2010ngi@rineMax, Inc. and its subsidiaries, as Bormayand GE
Commercial Distribution Finance Corporation, as dem (9)

10.21(h) Amendment Number One to Inventory Financing Agresimexecuted on December 17, 2010, among MarineMaxand its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial iDidion Finance Corporation, as Lender. (

10.21(3)t Amendment Number One to Program Terms Letter, érdoon December 17, 2010, among MarineMax;, Inc.i@nd
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Didion Finance Corporation, as Lender. (

10.21(j) T Amendment Number Two to Inventory Financing Agreetnexecuted on June 1, 2011, among MarineMax,dnd.its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE Commercial Didion Finance Corporation, as Lender. (

10.21(k)" Amendment Number Two to Program Terms Letter, etagban June 1, 2011, among MarineMax, Inc. ansubsidiaries, as
Borrowers, and GE Commercial Distribution Finaneaegdration, as Lender. (1

10.21()) Amendment Number Three to Inventory Financing Agrest, executed on July 27, 2012, by and among Mhtax, Inc. and
its subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and GE CommerdistriDution Finance Corporation, as Lender. (

10.22 MarineMax, Inc. 2007 Incentive Compensation Pl&3)

10.23 Form Stock Option Agreement for 2007 Incentive Cengation Plan (1t

10.24 Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 2003entive Compensation Plan (1

10.25 Director Fee Share Purchase Program

10.26t Floor Plan Loan Agreement executed on October Z020By and among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsidigras Borrowers,
and CGI Finance, Inc., as Lender. (

10.26(a) Notice of Extension to Floor Plan Loan Agreemerdaited on September 15, 2011, by and among MarireMa and its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and CGI Finance, axLender. (1€

10.26(b) Notice of Extension to Floor Plan Loan Agreemerdaeited on July 5, 2012, by and among MarineMax,dnd its
subsidiaries, as Borrowers, and CGI Finance, axLender. (12

10.27t Floor Plan Credit Loan Note executed on Octob&010, by MarineMax, Inc. and its subsidiaries, asr@vers, payable to
CGI Finance, Inc., as Lender. (1

10.28 Pledge and Security Agreement executed on Octql#910, by and among MarineMax, Inc. and its subsgs, as
Borrowers, and CGI Finance, Inc., as Lender.

10.29(a) MarineMax, Inc. 2011 Sto-Based Compensation Plan (:

10.29(b) Form Stock Option Agreement for 2011 St-Based Compensation Plan (:

10.29(c) Form Restricted Stock Unit Award Agreement for 2@&tact-Based Compensation Plan (:

10.30 Consulting Agreement, dated June 7, 2012, by atwdas the Company and John B. Furman

10.31 Severance Policy for Key Executives (:

21 List of Subsidiarie:
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Exhibit
Number Exhibit
23.1 Consent of Ernst & Young LL



31.1

31.2

32.1
32.2

Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatettuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuantRule 13a-14(a) and Rule 15d-14(a), promulgatetbuthe Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amend

Certification pursuant to U.S.C. Section 1350, dspded pursuant to Section 906 of the Sark-Oxley Act of 2002
Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 13%0adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sar-Oxley Act of 2002

101.INS* XBRL Instance Documer

101.SCH’ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Docum

101.CAL* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Docuntr
101.LAB* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Docum
101.PRE’ XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Doent
101.DEF* XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Docur

T Certain information in this exhibit has been adedtand filed separately with the Securities andnaxnge Commission. Confidential
treatment has been requested with respect to tliteedrportions

* Pursuant to Rule 406T of Regulation S-T, thederactive data files are deemed not filed or ph# kegistration statement or prospectus
for purposes of Sections 11 or 12 of the Securfigtsof 1933, as amended, are deemed not filegdioposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, drahweise are not subject to liability under thosetisas.

(1) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateroerform 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2001, as fieBecember 20, 200

(2) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed February 19, 201

(3) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on June 16, 201

(4) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on June 13, 200

(5) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2@6Tiled on February 14, 20C

(6) Incorporated by reference to Registration Stateraeritorm -1 (Registration 33-47873) as filed on March 12, 19¢

(7) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q/A for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2085 filed on September 23, 20(

(8) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form +K as filed on December 9, 20C

(9) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2016ijexkson August 9, 201(

(10) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31, 2840iled on February 8, 201

(11) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 201filexson August 5, 2011

(12) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-Q for the quarterly period ended June 30, 2018jexson August 3, 2012

(13) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on March 6, 200°

(14) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form (-8 (File No. 33-141657) as filed March 29, 20C
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(15) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2010, as fieBecember 2, 201!

(16) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form 1-K for the year ended September 30, 2011, as fieBecember 8, 201.

(17) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form &K as filed on January 25, 201

(18) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on June 11, 201

(19) Incorporated by reference to Regist’s Form K as filed on November 27, 201

(©)
(1)

Financial Statements Schedule
See Item 15(a) abov

59

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 1&f(the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the regigthas duly caused this report to be

signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereduaty authorized.

MARINEMAX, INC.

s/ William H. McGill Jr.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Offi

Date: December 7, 2012

In accordance with the Securities Exchange Actd®41 the following persons on behalf of the registrand in the capacities and on the

date indicated have signed this report below.

Signature Capacity Date



/s/ William H. McGill Jr. Chairman of the Board, President, ¢ December 7, 201
William H. McGill Jr. Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer

/s/ Michael H. McLamt Executive Vice President, Chief Financ December 7, 201
Michael H. McLamb Officer, Secretary, and Director
(Principal Accounting and
Financial Officer)

/s/ Hilliard M. Eure Il Director December 7, 201
Hilliard M. Eure 1l
/s/ Robert S. Kar

Robert S. Kan Director December 7, 201

/s/ Russell J. Knitte Director December 7, 201

Russell J. Knitte

/s/ Charles R. Oglest Director December 7, 201
Charles R. Oglesh

/sl Joseph A. Watte Director December 7, 201
Joseph A. Wattetr

/s/ Dean S. Woodme Director December 7, 201
Dean S. Woodma
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Page
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Report of Independent Registered Certified Pubticdunting Firrr F-2
Consolidated Balance She: F-3
Consolidated Statements of Operati F-4
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity F-5
Consolidated Statements of Cash Fl F-6
Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme F-7

Report of Independent Registered Certified Public Acounting Firm

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
MarineMax, Inc. and Subsidiaries

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries &eptember 30, 2012 and 2011,
and the related consolidated statements of opemtgtockholders’ equity and cash flows for eacthefthree years in the period ended
September 30, 2012. These financial statementhanm@sponsibility of the Comparsyinanagement. Our responsibility is to expresspaman
on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighafBioUnited States). Those
standards require that we plan and perform the &mdbtain reasonable assurance about whethdindrecial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on tldasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digis in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princiged and significant estimates made by managenenielhas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of
MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries at September 8022nd 2011, and the consolidated results of tperations and their cash flows for each
of the three years in the period ended Septembe2@(2, in conformity with U.S. generally accepsadounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), MarineMax,
Inc. and subsidiaries’ internal control over finehceporting as of September 30, 2012, based iterier established in Internal Control—
Integrated Framework issued by the Committee ohSping Organizations of the Treadway Commissiah@ur report dated December 7,
2012 expressed an unqualified opinion ther:



/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Tampa, Florida
December 7, 2012

F-2

MARINEMAX;, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéa da

September 3C September 3¢
2011 2012
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and cash equivale $ 19,38¢ $ 23,61
Accounts receivable, n 14,16 18,82(
Inventories, ne 219,63: 215,12(
Prepaid expenses and other current a: 4,58¢ 5,05:
Total current asse 257,76 262,61(
Property and equipment, r 102,10° 98,79¢
Other lon¢-term assets, n 3,25¢ 3,71¢
Total asset $ 363,12 $ 365,12
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl $  8,64: $ 8,451
Customer deposit 9,08¢ 8,49¢
Accrued expense 25,67¢ 23,26¢
Shor-term borrowings 118,82¢ 120,64
Total current liabilities 162,23: 160,86!
Long-term liabilities 5,89¢ 3,312
Total liabilities 168,12¢ 164,17
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
STOCKHOLDER¢ EQUITY:
Preferred stock, $.001 par value, 1,000,000 start®rized, none issued or outstanding at SepteBther
2011 and 201 — —
Common stock, $.001 par value; 40,000,000 shatt®azed, 23,303,100 and 23,701,050 shares issu
and 22,512,200 and 22,910,150 shares outstandbgpaémber 30, 2011 and 2012, respecti 23 24
Additional paic-in capital 211,04: 215,88!
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnin (259 84t
Treasury stock, at cost, 790,900 shares held aefdyer 30, 2011 and 20. (15,810 (15,810
Total stockholder equity 195,00( 200,94«
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity $ 363,12 $ 365,12

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.

F-3

MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(Amounts in thousands except share and per shéag da

For the Year Ended September 3C

2010 2011 2012
Revenue $ 450,34( $ 480,89: $ 524,45¢
Cost of sale: 339,53 361,40( 391,17:
Gross profi 110,80° 119,49: 133,28:
Selling, general, and administrative exper 123,97. 127,89t 127,91
(Loss) income from operatiol (13,165 (8,4072) 5,37(

Interest expens 3,92¢ 3,48¢ 4,44




(Loss) income before income tax ben (27,09) (12,890 92:
Income tax benefi 19,58¢ 367 17¢€
Net income (loss $ 2,49i $ (11,529 $ 1,09¢
Basic net income (loss) per common st $ 0.11 $ (0.59) $ 0.0f
Diluted net income (loss) per common sh $ 0.11 $ (0.52) $ 0.0t
Weighted average number of common shares usedriputing net income (loss) per

common share
Basic 21,998,74 22,375,27 22,740,98
Diluted 22,597,95 22,375,27 23,335,91
See accompanying notes to consolidated finanasients.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Amounts in thousands except share data)
Retained
Earnings Total
Common Stock Additional (Accumulated Stockholders’
Paid-in Treasury
Shares Amount Capital Deficit) Stock Equity

BALANCE, September 30, 2009 22,496,65 $ 22 $204,77. $ 8,77: $(1581(0) $ 197,75t
Net income — — — 2,497 2,497
Shares issued pursuant to employee stock purches 172,37: — 48: — — 48:

Shares issued upon vesting of equity awards, r@ixof
withholding 61,62« — (77) — — (A77)
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 185,83« 1 927 — — 925
Stoclk-based compensatic 22,45( — 52¢ — — 52¢
Tax benefits of options exercis — — 19 — — 19
BALANCE, September 30, 201 22,938,93 23 206,54 11,26¢ (15,810 202,03(
Net loss — — — (11,529 — (12,529
Shares issued pursuant to employee stock purches 81,61¢ — 48¢ — — 48¢

Shares issued upon vesting of equity awards, n@ixof
withholding 70,38¢ — (191 — — (191
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 195,79: — 94¢ — — 94¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 16,36¢ — 3,24¢ — — 3,24¢
BALANCE, September 30, 201 23,303,10 23 211,04: (254 (15,810 195,00(
Net income — — — 1,09¢ — 1,09¢
Shares issued pursuant to employee stock purches 101,98: — 561 — — 561

Shares issued upon vesting of equity awards, niatxof
withholding 45,08¢ — (85) — — (85)
Shares issued upon exercise of stock opt 230,38( 1 90z — — 904
Stoclk-based compensatic 20,50¢ — 3,46t — — 3,46t
BALANCE, September 30, 201 23,701,055 $ 24 $21588! $ 84t  $(15,810 $ 200,94

See accompanying notes to consolidated finan@&stents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Amounts in thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss

Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to resthcprovided by (used in) operating activit
Depreciation and amortizatic
Loss on sale of property and equipm
Stoclk-based compensation expense,
Loss on extinguishment and modification of debt sindr-term borrowings
Tax benefits from options exercis

For the Year Ended September 3C

2010 2011 2012
$ 2,497  $(11,529) $ 1,09¢
7,357 6,61¢ 6,47¢
357 21 22t
52¢ 3,24¢ 3,46¢
1,022 — —
19 — —



Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic (19 — —
Decrease (increase)—

Accounts receivable, n 13,02¢ 7,04z (4,657)
Income tax receivabl 9,98: — —
Inventories, ne 17,21( (28,660) 8,31:
Prepaid expenses and other as 1,23¢ 161 (479
(Decrease) increase —
Accounts payabl (8,84%) 1,64( (185)
Customer deposit 53C 3,67: (590
Accrued expenses and lc-term liabilities (4,687 3,102 (4,996
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi 40,21¢ (14,680) 8,67
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property and equipir (4,159 (6,585 (5,737
Net cash used in acquisition of businesses, priyniasientory — (2,25%) (4,399
Proceeds from sale of property and equipn 2,16¢ 151 2,48:
Net cash used in investing activiti (1,999 (8,692 (7,642
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Net (repayments) borrowings on sl-term borrowings (48,15¢) 24,98¢ 1,81¢
Excess tax benefits from stc-based compensatic 19 — —
Debt modification cost (284 (20 —
Net proceeds from issuance of common stock undeniive compensation and employee
purchase plan 1,22¢ 1,24¢F 1,38(
Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi (47,199 26,21¢ 3,19¢
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENS: (8,969 2,847 4,231
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, beginning of peric 25,50¢ 16,53¢ 19,38¢
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS, end of perio $16,53¢ $19,38t $23,61

Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Informat
Cash paid for
Interest 4,46¢ 3,261 4,32
Income taxe: 31 31 1C

See accompanying notes to consolidated financsgistents.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. COMPANY BACKGROUND AND BASIS OF PRESENTATION:

We are the largest recreational boat retailer énldhited States. We engage primarily in the ret@lié, brokerage, and service of new and
used boats, motors, trailers, marine parts andsaocies and offer slip and storage accommodationsriain locations. In addition, we arrange
related boat financing, insurance, and extendedcgecontracts. We recently implemented programindease substantially our sale over the
Internet of used boats and a wide range of bogtants, accessories, supplies, and products; teeoshlboats, boating parts, and accessories, a
well as the offer of finance and insurance, or R&bducts at various offsite locations; and thertenaf power and sailing yachts in the British
Virgin Islands. None of these recently implemenealyrams have had a material effect on our cors@difinancial statements. As of
September 30, 2012, we operated through 53 retaitibns in 18 states, consisting of Alabama, Ar&dCalifornia, Connecticut, Florida,
Georgia, Maryland, Massachusetts, Minnesota, Misshew Jersey, New York, North Carolina, Ohio, &kbma, Rhode Island, Tennessee,
and Texas. Our MarineMax Vacations operations raaird facility in Tortola, British Virgin Islands.

We are the natios’largest retailer of Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, BayliMeridian, Cabo, and Hatteras recreationalsaad yachts, all ¢
which are manufactured by Brunswick Corporationr(iiBswick”). Sales of new Brunswick boats accouritechpproximately 47% of our
revenue in fiscal 2012. Brunswick is the world’sglest manufacturer of marine products and mariggnes. We believe we represented in
excess of 7% of all Brunswick marine sales, inalgdapproximately 42% of its Sea Ray boat salesndurur 2012 fiscal year.

We have dealership agreements with Sea Ray, Bdgtmier, Bayliner, Cabo, Hatteras, Meridian, and ddey Marine, all subsidiaries
divisions of Brunswick. We also have dealer agragmwith Italy-based Azimut-Benetti Group’s prodiine for Azimut Yachts. These
agreements allow us to purchase, stock, sell, andce these manufacturers’ boats and productsséragreements also allow us to use these
manufacturers’ names, trade symbols, and intelégitoperties in our operations.

We are a party to a multi-year dealer agreemeitit Bitinswick covering Sea Ray products that appaistas the exclusive dealer of Sea
Ray boats in our geographic markets. We are thieigixe dealer for Boston Whaler and Bayliner thiowgulti-year dealer agreements for
many of our geographic markets. We are a partynbti-year dealer agreement with Hatteras Yadhds gives us the exclusive right to sell
Hatteras Yachts throughout the states of Floridal@eling the Florida panhandle), New Jersey, NewkYand Texas. We are also the exclu
dealer for Cabo Yachts throughout the states aiddpNew Jersey, and New York through a multi-ydaler agreement. In addition, we are
the exclusive dealer for Azimut Yachts for the entinited States through a multi-year dealer ages¢nWe believe non-Brunswick brands
offer a migration for our existing customer basdilba void in our product offerings, and accordiyn, do not compete with the busine



generated from our other prominent brands.

As is typical in the industry, we deal with manutaers, other than Sea Ray, Boston Whaler, BayliGabo, Hatteras, Meridian, and
Azimut Yachts, under renewable annual dealer ageaésneach of which gives us the right to sellaasimakes and models of boats within a
given geographic region. Any change or terminatibthese agreements, or the agreements discuseed, dbr any reason, or changes in
competitive, regulatory, or marketing practicesjuding rebate or incentive programs, could advgraiiect our results of operations.
Although there are a limited number of manufactdrthe type of boats and products that we s@lbelieve that adequate alternative source
would be available to replace any manufacturerrdtien Sea Ray as a product source. These altegrsaturces may not be available at the
time of any interruption, and alternative productsy not be available at comparable terms, whicldcaffiect operating results adversely.

General economic conditions and consumer spenditigrps can negatively impact our operating resultsavorable local, regional,
national, or global economic developments or uageties regarding future economic prospects coedidice consumer spending in the market
we serve and adversely affect our business. Ecanoomditions in areas in which we operate dealpsshparticularly Florida in which we
generated 54%, 50%, and 49% of our revenue duisieglf2010, 2011, and 2012, respectively, can avajor impact on our operations.
Local influences, such as corporate downsizingitanl base closings, inclement weather, environalestnditions, and specific events, such
as the BP oil spill in the Gulf of Mexico, also ¢d@adversely affect our operations in certain mezke
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

In an economic downturn, consumer discretionarygijmg levels generally decline, at times resultmdisproportionately large
reductions in the sale of luxury goods. Consumendjng on luxury goods also may decline as a reslttiwer consumer confidence levels,
even if prevailing economic conditions are favoeal#llthough we have expanded our operations dyrargds of stagnant or modestly
declining industry trends, the cyclical naturetod tecreational boating industry or the lack olistdy growth may adversely affect our
business, financial condition, and results of ofi@na. Any period of adverse economic conditionar consumer confidence has a negative
effect on our business.

Lower consumer spending resulting from a downtarthe housing market and other economic factorsmaaly affected our business in
fiscal 2007, and continued weakness in consumerdépg resulting from substantial weakness in tharicial markets and depressed econom
conditions had a very substantial negative effeacbur business in each subsequent fiscal yeaudimg 2012. These conditions caused us to
substantially reduce our acquisition program, deley store openings, reduce our inventory purcha&segmge in inventory reduction efforts,
close a number of our retail locations, reducetmadcount, and amend and replace our credit fadllitquisitions and new store openings
remain important strategies to our company, anghae to resume our growth through these strategiesy more normal economic conditions
return. However, we cannot predict the length eesggy of these unfavorable economic or financ@hditions or the extent to which they will
continue to adversely affect our operating resubiscan we predict the effectiveness of the measusshave taken to address this environmel
or whether additional measures will be necessary.

In order to provide comparability between periodsspnted, certain amounts have been reclassifiedtfie previously reported
consolidated financial statements to conform tocthresolidated financial statement presentatiomefcurrent period. The consolidated
financial statements include our accounts and tkeunts of our subsidiaries, all of which are wialivned. All significant intercompany
transactions and accounts have been eliminated.

2. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES:
Cash and Cash Equivalents
We consider all highly liquid investments with amiginal maturity of three months or less to be caghivalents.

Vendor Consideration Received

We account for consideration received from our weadn accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddif@ation 605-50, “Revenue
Recognition—Customer Payments and Incentives” (“AB6-50"). ASC 605-50 requires us to classify iagtrassistance received from
manufacturers as a reduction of inventory costratated cost of sales as opposed to netting thstaisse against our interest expense incurre
with our lenders. Pursuant to ASC 605-50, amouwetsived by us under our co-op assistance prognamsdur manufacturers are netted
against related advertising expenses.

Inventories

Inventory costs consist of the amount paid to aegmventory, net of vendor consideration and pasehdiscounts, the cost of equipment
added, reconditioning costs, and transportatiotsa@$ating to acquiring inventory for sale. Wetstaew and used boat, motor, and trailer
inventories at the lower of cost, determined opecHic-identification basis, or market. We statetp and accessories at the lower of cost,
determined on an average cost basis, or markeutilize our historical experience, the aging of ilmeentories, and our consideration of
current market trends as the basis for determiailayver of cost or market valuation allowance. ASeptember 30, 2011 and 2012, our lowel
of cost or market valuation allowance was $3.4iarlland $2.8 million, respectively. If events ocamd market conditions change, causing th
fair value to fall below carrying value, the lowarcost or market valuation allowance could incesas
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

Property and Equipment

We record property and equipment at cost, net afimalated depreciation, and depreciate propertyegiuébment over their estimated
useful lives using the straight-line method. Weitzdigze and amortize leasehold improvements oveldlser of the life of the lease or the
estimated useful life of the asset. Useful livasgdorposes of computing depreciation are as follows

Years
Buildings and improvements 5-4Q
Machinery and equipme 3-1C
Furniture and fixture 5-10
Vehicles 3-5

We remove the cost of property and equipment sotétored and the related accumulated deprecidtan the accounts at the time of
disposition and include any resulting gain or lissthe consolidated statements of operations. Véegehmaintenance, repairs, and minor
replacements to operations as incurred, and weatiapi and amortize major replacements and imprevasiover their useful lives.

Goodwill

We account for goodwill in accordance with FASB Auanting Standards Codification 350, “IntangibléScodwill and Other” (“ASC
350"). The excess of cost over net assets of bssaseacquired is recorded as goodwill. The Septe2tlde® acquisition of Bassett Marine,
LLC resulted in goodwill of $452,000. We review givall for impairment at least annually and whenegeents or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying value may not be recabler. As of September 30, 2012, we determined girawr qualitative assessment that it is
not “more likely than not” that the fair valuesair reporting units are less than their carryinlyes. As a result, we were not required to
perform the two-step goodwill impairment test.

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

FASB Accounting Standards Codification 360-10-4®8rdperty, Plant, and Equipment—Impairment or Digpo$ Long-Lived
Assets” (“ASC 360-10-40"), requires that long-livasisets, such as property and equipment and pethaangibles subject to amortization,
be reviewed for impairment whenever events or chamg circumstances indicate that the carrying athofian asset may not be recoverable.
Recoverability of the asset is measured by compaig its carrying amount to undiscounted futureaash flows the asset is expected to
generate. If such assets are considered to berimpaie impairment to be recognized is measurgékdeaamount by which the carrying amount
of the asset exceeds its fair market value. Eséimat expected future cash flows represent ourdstshate based on currently available
information and reasonable and supportable assangptAny impairment recognized in accordance wiBCA360-10-40 is permanent and may
not be restored. As of September 30, 2012, we badesognized any impairment of long-lived assetsannection with ASC 360-10-40 based
on our reviews.

Customer Deposits

Customer deposits primarily include amounts reakivem customers toward the purchase of boats.abegnize these deposits as
revenue upon delivery to or acceptance by of tle#e@ boats to customers.

Insurance

We retain varying levels of risk relating to theumance policies we maintain, most significantlyrkerss’ compensation insurance and
employee medical benefits. We are responsiblei®ictaims and losses incurred under these progtamnited by per occurrence deductibles
and paid claims or losses up to pre-determined maxi exposure limits. Our third-party insurance ieasrpay any losses above the pre-
determined exposure limits. We estimate our ligbfldr incurred but not reported losses using astohical loss experience, our judgment, anc
industry information.
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

Revenue Recognition

We recognize revenue from boat, motor, and traéées, and parts and service operations at thethienleoat, motor, trailer, or part is
delivered to or accepted by the customer or thaeeis completed. We recognize deferred revenum Bervice operations and slip and sto
services on a straight-line basis over the terth@icontract or when service is completed. We neizegcommissions earned from a brokerage
sale at the time the related brokerage transactames. We recognize commissions earned by uddomg notes with financial institutions in
connection with customer boat financing when wegeize the related boat sales. We recognize matkéties earned on credit life, accident,
disability, gap, and hull insurance products soldHird-party insurance companies at the laterust@emer acceptance of the insurance produc
as evidenced by contract execution or when théeetlboat sale is recognized. Pursuant to negotageeements with financial and insurance
institutions, we are charged back for a portiothese fees should the customer terminate or dedatthe related finance or insurance contrac
before it is outstanding for a stipulated minimueripd of time. We base the chargeback allowancéhmiias not material to the consolidated
financial statements taken as a whole as of Se@e80) 2012, on our experience with repaymentstaudts on the related finance



insurance contracts.

We also recognize commissions earned on extendednta service contracts sold on behalf of thirdipansurance companies at the
later of customer acceptance of the service carntieams as evidenced by contract execution or mgitiog of the related boat sale. We are
charged back for a portion of these commissionsilghihe customer terminate or default on the seremntract prior to its scheduled maturity.
We determine the chargeback allowance, which wasiaterial to the consolidated financial stateméaiten as a whole as of September 30,
2012, based upon our experience with terminatiortetaults on the service contracts.

The following table sets forth percentages of @wenue generated by certain products and ser¥aresach of last three fiscal years.

2010 2011 2012
New boat sale 54.4% 60.€% 62.7%
Used boat sale 24.(% 19.(% 17.%
Maintenance, repair, and storage serv 9.8% 8.€% 8.2%
Finance and insurance produ 2.7% 2.1% 2.8%
Parts and accessori 6.4% 6.2% 6.C%
Brokerage service 2.7% 2.6% 2.4%
Total Revenut 100.(% 100.(% 100.(%

Stock-Based Compensation

We account for our stock-based compensation plaimiiing the provisions of FASB Accounting Standaf@odification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (*“ASC 718")aktordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Scha&sation model for valuing all
stock-based compensation and shares purchasedaurdemployee Stock Purchase Plan. We measure cwatien for restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units at fair valu¢ghengrant date based on the number of shares exptectvest and the quoted market price o
common stock. For restricted stock units with madanditions, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulationteedded in a lattice model to determine
the fair value. We recognize compensation costficawards in earnings, net of estimated forfegumn a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period for each separately vesting poiothe award.

Advertising and Promotional Costs

We expense advertising and promotional costs asred and include them in selling, general, andiattnative expenses in the
accompanying consolidated statements of operatiRursuant to ASC 605-50, we net amounts receivagshynder our co-op assistance
programs from our manufacturers against the relati@rtising expenses. Total advertising and pramnat expenses approximated $8.5
million, $11.2 million, and $9.5 million, net ofleged co-op assistance of approximately $334,0864 %00, and $390,000, for the fiscal years

ended September 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012, resplgctiv
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MARINEMAX, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes in accordance with FA8Bounting Standards Codification 740, “Income &six(“ASC 740”). Under
ASC 740, we recognize deferred tax assets andifiebifor the future tax consequences attributableemporary differences between the
financial statement carrying amounts of existinges#s and liabilities and their respective tax basfs measure deferred tax assets and liab
using enacted tax rates expected to apply to texiabbme in the years in which we expect those tearg differences to be recovered or
settled. We record valuation allowances to reduredeferred tax assets to the amount expected ttedlieed by considering all available
positive and negative evidence.

Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdive negative evidence regarding the realizatiahefdrred tax assets, including past
operating results and future sources of taxablenme Under the provisions of ASC 740-10, we deteeabithat our net deferred tax asset
needed to be fully reserved given recent earningsradustry trends.

The Worker, Homeownership, and Business Assistastef 2009 was signed into law in November 200BisTact allowed us to
carryback our 2009 net operating loss, which hadlaation allowance recorded against the entireuarnand which we were not able to
carryback under the prior tax law. The additioreargback generated a tax refund of $19.2 milliome Tax refund was recorded as income tax
benefit during our quarter ended December 31, 20@period in which this act was enacted. We fdazhrryback claim with the Internal
Revenue Service, and we received a $19.2 milliumeein the quarter ended March 31, 2010.

New Accounting Pronouncements

In September 2011, the FASB issued ASU No. 201148&ngibles—Goodwill and Other (ASC Topic 350) Festing Goodwill for
Impairment.”"The FASB amended the ASC to simplify how entitiest yoodwill for impairment. The amendment to tf&CApermits entities t
first assess qualitative factors to determine wéreithis more likely than not that the fair valueaoreporting unit is less than its carrying amc
as a basis for determining whether it is necessapgrform the two-step goodwill impairment tedteTamendment is effective for annual and
interim goodwill impairment tests performed forcd years beginning after December 15, 2011, vattyeadoption permitted. We elected to
early adopt the ASC amendment in 2012 and wereenptired to perform the tv-step goodwill impairment tes



Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments, which potentially subjectasoncentrations of credit risk, consist prindipaf cash and cash equivalents and
accounts receivable. Concentrations of creditwigk respect to our cash and cash equivalentdraredtl primarily to amounts held with
financial institutions. Concentrations of credgkriarising from our receivables are limited prifyatd amounts due from manufacturers and
financial institutions.

Fair Value of Financial Instruments

The carrying amount of our financial instrumentpragimates fair value resulting from either lentghmaturity or existence of interest
rates that approximate prevailing market ratesasntgherwise disclosed in these consolidated finhatatements.

Use of Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of consolidated financial stateméntonformity with accounting principles geneyalkccepted in the United States
requires us to make estimates and assumptionaffieat the reported amounts of assets and liasliéind disclosure of contingent assets and
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the reported amounts of reveangesxpenses during the reporting periods.
Significant estimates made by us in the accompangamsolidated financial statements relate to tanallowances, valuation of long-lived
assets, and valuation of accruals. Actual resoliédcdiffer materially from those estimates.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continu ed)

3. ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE:

Trade receivables consist primarily of receivalfitem financial institutions, which provide fundirigr customer boat financing and
amounts due from financial institutions earned framanging financing with our customers. We norgnatillect these receivables within
30 days of the sale. Trade receivables also incimd@unts due from customers on the sale of boatts,gervice, and storage. Amounts due
from manufacturers represent receivables for varinanufacturer programs and parts and service penfermed pursuant to the
manufacturers’ warranties.

The allowance for uncollectible receivables, whigs not material to the consolidated financialestents as of September 30, 2011 or
2012, was based on our consideration of customeneat practices, past transaction history withauwsgrs, and economic conditions. When
an account becomes uncollectable, we expensaibad debt and we credit payments subsequentliveecto the bad debt expense account.
We review the allowance for uncollectible receieslvhen an event or other change in circumstaesedts in a change in the estimate of the
ultimate collectability of a specific account.

Accounts receivable, net consisted of the follonat@&eptember 30,

2011 2012
(Amounts in thousands)
Trade receivable $ 8,51: $11,34¢
Amounts due from manufacture 5,39: 7,061
Other receivable 25¢€ 411

$14,16! $18,82(

4. INVENTORIES:
Inventories, net, consisted of the following at 8efber 30,

2011 2012
(Amounts in thousands)
New boats, motors, and traile $189,23: $179,21(
Used boats, motors, and traili 24,09¢ 29,427
Parts, accessories, and ot 6,30 6,48

$219,63: $215,12(

5. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT:
Property and equipment consisted of the followin§eptember 30,

2011 2012

(Amounts in thousands)
Land $ 43,04¢ $ 41,05(
Buildings and improvemen 79,70¢ 79,54(
Machinery and equipme 25,97¢ 25,40;
Furniture and fixture 4,08: 3,90¢

Vehicles 5,241 4,761




158,05° 154,66

Les—Accumulated depreciation and amortizat (55,950) (55,86¢)
$102,10° $ 98,79¢

Depreciation and amortization expense on propertyemuipment totaled approximately $6.6 million,3illion, and $6.4 million for
the fiscal years ended September 30, 2010, 20H12@h2, respectively.

During fiscal 2011, we reclassified approximate®/3million from prepaid expenses and other curassets to property and equipment
related to a store previously classified as avil&dr sale within the consolidated balance shastwe planned to lease the facility. In
accordance with FASB Accounting Standards Codifice860, “Property, Plant, and Equipment”, we restlithe carrying amount by
approximately $90,000 for the depreciation that Mdwave been recognized had the store been couthuolassified as held and used. In
fiscal 2012, we sold the property.
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6. OTHER LONG-TERM ASSETS:

During February 2006, we became party to a joimtwes with Brunswick that acquired certain reahtsstand assets of Great American
Marina for an aggregate purchase price of approbely&11.0 million, of which we contributed apprmately $4.0 million and Brunswick
contributed approximately $7.0 million. The ternighee agreement specify that we operate and maititai service business and that
Brunswick operate and maintain the marina busirfgissultaneously with the closing, the acquiredtgriiecame Gulfport Marina, LLC
(“Gulfport”). We account for our investment in Gpidfrt in accordance with FASB Accounting Standarddification 323, “Investment —

Equity Method and Joint Venture”. Accordingly, wajwast the carrying amount of our investment in @ait to recognize our share of earnings
or losses, based on the service business we op€hsearrying amount of our investment is includedther long-term assets on the
consolidated balance sheets, and our share oathéngs or losses based on the service business¢haperate are included in selling, genera
and administrative expenses on the consolidatéeinseants of operations.

In prior periods, we classified a portion of therging amount of the investment in Gulfport witrancounts receivable on the
consolidated balance sheet, resulting in the catenstent of accounts receivable and a correspondidgrstatement of other long-term assets.
We corrected the investment balance in the cors@iifinancial statements as of September 30, Zi2correction of prior periods is
immaterial to the consolidated financial statemedt®svever, prior periods presented herein have begrsted to reflect the correct
classification. The adjustment had no impact onpriar period results of operations or cash flovesf operating, investing, or financing
activities.

The impact of the adjustment on the consolidatéanoa sheet at September 30, 2011 was to decreesends receivable and to increase
other long-term assets by $2.2 million. The impEHdhe adjustment on the consolidated statementasif flows for the years ended
September 30, 2011 and 2010 was to increase tmgetia accounts receivable and decrease the climpgepaid expenses and other assets
within the adjustments to reconcile net (loss) medo net cash provided by (used in) operatingitiets by $614,000 and $303,000,
respectively.

The impact of the adjustment on the consolidatdanoa sheets for the quarterly reporting periodinduiscal 2012 was to decrease
accounts receivable and to increase other long-tessats by $2.0 million, $2.1 million, and $2.2lioil as of December 31, 2011, March 31,
2012 and June 30, 2012, respectively. The impattteohdjustment on the consolidated statementasf lows for the quarterly reporting
periods during fiscal 2012 was to decrease thegdhanaccounts receivable and decrease the chamgepaid expenses and other assets v
the adjustments to reconcile net (loss) incomestacash provided by (used in) operating activitig$174,000, $96,000, and $1,000,
respectively.

7. SHORT-TERM BORROWINGS:

In July 2012, we entered into an amendment to meritory Financing Agreement (the “Credit Facil)tydriginally entered into in June
2010, with GE Commercial Distribution Finance Comp&' GECDF"), as amended in June 2011. The July22&rhendment extended the
maturity date of the Credit Facility to June 204bject to additional extension for two one-yeaiqas, with the approval of GECDF. The
June 2011 amendment, among other things, modiiedtount of borrowing availability, interest radad maturity date of the Credit Facility.
The amended Credit Facility provides a floor plesaficing commitment up to $150 million, up from @revious limit of $100 million, subject
to borrowing base availability resulting from thle@unt and aging of our inventory.

The amended Credit Facility has certain finanaislenants as specified in the agreement. The coteimaiude provisions that our
leverage ratio must not exceed 2.75 to 1.0 andotimaturrent ratio must be greater than 1.2 toAtGeptember 30, 2012, we were in
compliance with all of the covenants under the atedrCredit Facility. The interest rate for amounitstanding under the amended Credit
Facility is 383 basis points above the one-monthdam Inter-Bank Offering Rate (“LIBOR”). There ia anused line fee of ten basis points or
the unused portion of the amended Credit Facility.
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Advances under the amended Credit Facility aréateil by the acquisition of eligible new and usagentory or are re-advances against
eligible new and used inventory that have beerigigrpaid-off. Advances on new inventory matur881, days from the original invoice date.
Advances on used inventory mature 361 days frontddte we acquire the used inventory. Each advansghject to a curtailment schedule,
which requires that we pay down the balance of ealefance on a periodic basis starting after sixthmhe curtailment schedule varies bi
on the type and value of the inventory. The colldtéor the amended Credit Facility is all of owargonal property with certain limited
exceptions. None of our real estate has been plefdgeollateral for the amended Credit Facility.

In July 2012, we entered into an extension throlighust 31, 2013 to our Inventory Financing Agreetiéme “CGI Facility”), originally
entered into in October 2010 with CGI Finance,,las.extended in September 2011. The CGI Facitdyiges a floor plan financing
commitment of $30 million and is designed to prevfithancing for our Azimut inventory needs. The @akility has an approximate one-year
term, which is typical in the industry for similkoor plan facilities; however, each advance urtlerCGI Facility can remain outstanding for
18 months. The interest rate for amounts outstgnditder the CGI Facility is 350 basis points abitneeone-month LIBOR.

Advances under the CGI Facility are initiated by #ttquisition of eligible new and used inventornam@ re-advances against eligible new
and used inventory that has been partially paidAxdfzances on new inventory mature 550 days froereitivance date. Advances on used
inventory mature 366 days from the advance dateh Bdvance is subject to a curtailment scheduleshwiequires that we pay down the
balance of each advance on a periodic basis,rgjaaftter six months for used inventory and one ya@anew inventory. The curtailment
schedule varies based on the type of inventory.

The collateral for the CGI Facility is our entirgifut inventory financed by the CGI Facility witertain limited exceptions. None of ¢
real estate has been pledged as collateral faE@leFacility. We must maintain compliance with eémtfinancial covenants as specified in the
CGil Facility. The covenants include provisions that leverage ratio must not exceed 2.75 to 1.0thaidour current ratio must be greater that
1.2 to 1.0. At September 30, 2012, we were in canpé with all of the covenants under the CGI FgcilThe CGI Facility contemplates that
other lenders may be added by us to finance otiventory not financed under the CGI Facility, ieded.

As of September 30, 2011 and 2012, our indebtechmsxciated with financing our inventory and wogk@apital needs totaled
approximately $118.8 million and $120.6 millionspectively. At both September 30, 2011 and 20jrtterest rate on the outstanding short:
term borrowings was approximately 4.0%. At Septen®fe 2012, our additional available borrowings @emdur amended Credit Facility and
CGil Facility were approximately $39.5 million basgubn the outstanding borrowing base availabilitye aging of our inventory limits our
borrowing capacity as defined curtailments redheeailowable advance rate as our inventory ages.

As is common in our industry, we receive interesistance directly from boat manufacturers, inclgdsrunswick. The interest
assistance programs vary by manufacturer, but géyénclude periods of free financing or reducaterest rate programs. The interest
assistance may be paid directly to us or our leddpending on the arrangements the manufacturerdtablished. We classify interest
assistance received from manufacturers as a reduatinventory cost and related cost of salespg®ged to netting the assistance against ou
interest expense incurred with our lenders.

The availability and costs of borrowed funds cavesskely affect our ability to obtain adequate hoaéntory and the holding costs of t|
inventory as well as the ability and willingnessoof customers to finance boat purchases. At Sége80, 2012, we had no long-term debt.
However, we rely on our amended Credit Facility &€l Facility to purchase our inventory of boatheTaging of our inventory limits our
borrowing capacity as defined curtailments redheeatilowable advance rate as our inventory agesatress to funds under our amended
Credit Facility and CGI Facility also depends uploa ability of our lenders to meet their fundingrouitments, particularly if they experience
shortages of capital or experience excessive vauhborrowing requests from others during a spertod of time. A continuation of
depressed economic conditions, weak consumer gpgrtdimoil in the credit markets, and lender diffties could interfere with our ability to
utilize our amended Credit Facility and CGI Fagilib fund our operations. Any inability to utilizeir amended Credit Facility or CGI Facility
could require us to seek other sources of fundimgpay amounts outstanding under the credit agratnor replace or supplement our credit
agreements, which may not be possible at all oeundmmercially reasonable terms.
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Similarly, decreases in the availability of crealitd increases in the cost of credit adversely affecability of our customers to purchase
boats from us and thereby adversely affect ourtald sell our products and impact the profitaiilbf our finance and insurance activities.
Tight credit conditions during fiscal 2009, 2018de2011 adversely affected the ability of custonterfinance boat purchases, which had a
negative effect on our operating results.

8. INCOME TAXES:
The components of our benefit from income taxesisted of the following for the fiscal years end®ptember 30,

2010 2011 2012
(Amounts in thousands)

Current benefit
Federa $(19,249) $(23E) $(11€)
State (344 (132) (60)
Total current benef (19,58¢) (367 $(17€)




Deferred benefit Feder — _ _
State — — _
Total deferred benef — _ _

Total income tax benet $(19,58¢) $(367) $(17€)

Below is a reconciliation of the statutory feddaredome tax rate to our effective tax rate for tisedl years ended September 30,

2010 2011 2012

Federal tax (benefit) provision (35.0% (35.0% 35.(%
State taxes, net of federal effi (8.9% (6.9% (16.99%
Stock based compensati 0.5% 0.7% 7.5%
Valuation allowanct (71.0% 39.5% (50.29%
Federal NOL carrybac 0.C% (2.0% (12.6%
Foreign rate differentic 0.C% 0.C% 15.4%
Other (0.9% 0.5% 2.7%
Effective tax rate (114.6% (3.1)% (19.0%

Deferred income taxes reflect the impact of tempodifferences between the amount of assets ahiliti@s recognized for financial
reporting purposes and such amounts recognizéddome tax purposes. The tax effects of these temnpdifferences representing the
components of deferred tax assets (liabilitie§egtember 30 were as follows:

2011 2012
(Amounts in thousands)

Current deferred tax asse

Inventories $ 1,94¢ $ 1,644
Accrued expense 2,32( 651
Current deferred tax asst 4,26¢ 2,29t
Valuation allowanct (4,26%) (2,29
Net current deferred tax ass $ — $ —
Long-term deferred tax asse
Depreciation and amortizatic $ 15,50¢ $11,94¢
Stock based compensati 4,52¢ 4,17
FIN 48 deferred tax ass 502 482
Tax loss carryforward 25,87: 29,19¢
Other 10€ 182
Long-term deferred tax asse 46,51 45,98:
Valuation allowanct (46,519 (45,989
Net lonc¢-term deferred tax asse $ — $ —
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Pursuant to ASC 740, we must consider all posdive negative evidence regarding the realizatiashefdrred tax assets, including past
operating results and future sources of taxablenm& Under the provisions of ASC 740, we determihadl the entire net deferred tax asset
(“DTA”") needed to be reserved given recent earnarys industry trends. The total valuation allowaat8eptember 30, 2011 and 2012 was
$50.8 million and $48.3 million, respectively.

Under ASC 740, the impact of an uncertain tax pmsitaken or expected to be taken on an incomestaxn must be recognized in the
financial statements at the largest amount thatose likely than not to be sustained upon audith@yrelevant taxing authority. An uncertain
income tax position will not be recognized in tiahcial statements unless it is more likely thahaf being sustained. As of September 30,
2011 and 2012, we had approximately $1.6 milliod &h.5 million, respectively, of gross unrecognizedbenefits, of which approximately
$1.1 million and $1.0 million, respectively, if mgnized, would impact the effective tax rate befwesidering a change in valuation
allowance.

The reconciliation of the total amount recordedunrecognized tax benefits at the beginning andoéide fiscal years ended
September 30, 2011 and 2012 is as follows:

2011 2012

(Amounts in thousands)
Unrecognized tax benefits at the beginning of thar $ 1,73¢ $ 1,581
Increases in tax positions for prior ye 55 46
Decreases in tax positions for prior ye (59 (32
Lapse of statute of limitatior (159) (97)

Unrecognized tax benefits at September $ 1,581 $ 1,49¢




Consistent with our prior practices, we recognigeriest and penalties related to uncertain taxipasias a component of income tax
expense. As of September 30, 2011 and 2012, in@nelspenalties represented approximately $6580006673,000, respectively, of the gi
unrecognized tax benefits.

We are subject to tax by both federal and stat@gaaxuthorities. Until the respective statutesimithtions expire, we are subject to
income tax audits in the jurisdictions in which agerate. We are no longer subject to U.S. fedaraékaminations for fiscal years prior to
2009, and we are not subject to audits prior t20@8 fiscal year for the majority of the statagdictions.

It is reasonably possible that a change to thé amt@unt of unrecognized tax benefits could ocouhe next 12 months based on
examinations by tax authorities, the expiratiostatutes of limitations, or potential settlemerfteutstanding positions.

9. STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY:

In November 2005, our Board of Directors approvethare repurchase plan allowing our company torofyase up to 1,000,000 shares
of our common stock. Under the plan, we may buklzaenmon stock from time to time in the open madeeh privately negotiated blocks,
dependent upon various factors, including price arallability of the shares, and general market@@ns. Through September 30, 2012, we
had purchased an aggregate of 790,900 shares ofi@orstock under the plan for an aggregate purgh@se of approximately $15.8 million.
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10. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION:

We account for our stock-based compensation plaimifing the provisions of FASB Accounting Standafdodification 718,
“Compensation — Stock Compensation” (“ASC 718")aktordance with ASC 718, we use the Black-Schasation model for valuing all
stock-based compensation and shares purchasedaurdemployee Stock Purchase Plan. We measure cwatien for restricted stock
awards and restricted stock units at fair valu¢hengrant date based on the number of shares exptcvest and the quoted market price o
common stock. For restricted stock units with madanditions, we utilize a Monte Carlo simulationigedded in a lattice model to determine
the fair value. We recognize compensation costficawards in earnings, net of estimated forfegumn a straight-line basis over the requisite
service period for each separately vesting poioihe award.

Cash received from option exercises under all shased compensation arrangements for the fisca$ yemled September 30, 2010,
2011, and 2012 was approximately $1.2 million, $thillion, and $1.5 million, respectively. Tax beigfealized for tax deductions from
option exercises for the fiscal year ended Septe®®e2010 was approximately $19,000. There wertardenefits realized for tax deductic
from option exercises for the fiscal years endegut&rber 30, 2011 and 2012. We currently expecatisfg sharésased awards with register
shares available to be issued.

11. THE INCENTIVE STOCK PLANS:

During January 2011, our stockholders approvedpqsal to authorize our 2011 Stock-Based CompemsBian (“2011 Plan”), which
replaced our 2007 Incentive Compensation Plan (7Z8@n”). Our 2011 Plan provides for the granttotk options, stock appreciation rights,
restricted stock, stock units, bonus stock, divilequivalents, other stock related awards, andpaegnce awards (collectively “awards”), that
may be settled in cash, stock, or other property.ZD11 Plan is designed to attract, motivatejmetand reward our executives, employees,
officers, directors, and independent contractorptoyiding such persons with annual and long-teemiggmance incentives to expend their
maximum efforts in the creation of stockholder eallihe total number of shares of our common stoakrhay be subject to awards under the
2011 Plan is equal to 1,000,000 shares, plus Yishares available for issuance and not subjeat tward under the 2007 Plan, which was
200,456 shares at the time of approval of the Zlaf, (ii) the number of shares with respect tocllawards granted under the 2011 Plan an
the 2007 Plan terminate without the issuance ofttages or where the shares are forfeited or repaed; (iii) with respect to awards granted
under the 2011 Plan and the 2007 Plan, the nunfteraoes that are not issued as a result of thedalwang settled for cash or otherwise not
issued in connection with the exercise or payméti@award; and (iv) the number of shares thasareendered or withheld in payment of the
exercise price of any award or any tax withholdieguirements in connection with any award grantedku the 2011 Plan and the 2007 Plan.
The 2011 Plan terminates in January 2021, and awvaey be granted at any time during the life of28&1 Plan. The date on which awards
vest are determined by the Board of Directors erRlan Administrator. The exercise prices of oiare determined by the Board of Director:
or the Plan Administrator and are at least equiiédair market value of shares of common stockhendate of grant. The term of options
under the 2011 Plan may not exceed ten years. pieng granted have varying vesting periods. Te dae have not settled or been under an
obligation to settle any awards in cash.

The following table summarizes option activity fr@&@eptember 30, 2011 through September 30, 2012:

Weighted
Aggregate Weighted Average

Intrinsic Remaining

Shares Available Value Average Contractual
Options (in Exercise

for Grant Outstanding thousands Price Life

Balance at September 30, 2011 1,501,96 2,260,02. $ 2,664 $10.1¢ 6.5

Options grante (603,85() 603,85( $ 6.4

Options cancelled/forfeited/expirt 125,80t (125,80¢) $10.31



Restricted stock awards isst (84,000 — —

Restricted stock awards forfeit 122,53: — —
Options exercise — (230,38() $ 3.92
Balance at September 30, 2( 1,062,44 2,507,68! $ 4,58¢ $ 9.8¢€ 6.5
Exercisable at September 30, 2( 1,967,77! $ 3,80¢ $ 10.6¢ 5.8
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The weighted-average grant date fair value of otigranted during the fiscal years ended SepteBthe2010, 2011, and 2012 was
$5.41, $5.15, and $4.30, respectively. The totainsic value of options exercised during the fisears ended September 30, 2010, 2011, an
2012 was approximately $969,000, $766,000, and $lln, respectively.

As of September 30, 2011 and 2012, there were appately $1.0 million and 921,000, respectivelyuofecognized compensation ct
related to nonvested options that are expected to be recognizedaoweighted average period of 3.5 years angédass, respectively. The tc
fair value of options vested during the fiscal weanded September 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012 wasxapgptely $2.4 million, $4.1 million, and
$3.1 million, respectively.

We used the Black-Scholes model to estimate tmevéiie of options granted. The expected term ¢tibop granted is derived from the
output of the option pricing model and represelnésperiod of time that options granted are expeittd outstanding. Volatility is based on
the historical volatility of our common stock. Thgk-free rate for periods within the contractuei of the options is based on the
U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegrdnt.

The following are the weighted-average assumptitesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2010 2011 2012
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 2.3% 1.3% 0.8%
Volatility 85.8% 94.9% 89.9%
Expected life 5.0year 4.4year 4.5year

12. EMPLOYEE STOCK PURCHASE PLAN:

During February 2012, our stockholders approvetbagsal to amend our 2008 Employee Stock Purchiase(FStock Purchase Plan”)
to increase the number of shares available undg¢ipthn by 500,000 shares. The Stock PurchaseaBlamended provides for up to 1,000,000
shares of common stock to be available for purcbgissur regular employees who have completed at @@ year of continuous service. In
addition, there were 52,837 shares of common siwakkable under our 1998 Employee Stock Purchaae, Rihich have been made available
for issuance under our Stock Purchase Plan. Trek $torchase Plan provides for implementation ofoup0 annual offerings beginning on the
first day of October starting in 2008, with eacfeahg terminating on September 30 of the followyegar.Each annual offering may be divic
into two six-month offerings. For each offeringe thurchase price per share will be the lower %P6 of the closing price of the common
stock on the first day of the offering or (ii) 8586the closing price of the common stock on th¢ d&y of the offering. The purchase price is
paid through periodic payroll deductions not toeed 10% of the participant’s earnings during edfdriag period. However, no participant
may purchase more than $25,000 worth of commorkstonually.

We used the Black-Scholes model to estimate tmevédiie of options granted to purchase sharesdsguesuant to the Stock Purchase
Plan. The expected term of options granted is ddrfrom the output of the option pricing model aapresents the period of time that options
granted are expected to be outstanding. Volat#ityased on the historical volatility of our comn=inck. The risk-free rate for periods within
the contractual term of the options is based ortl& Treasury yield curve in effect at the timegdnt.

The following are the weighted-average assumptiesl for the fiscal years ended September 30:

2010 2011 2012
Dividend yield 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%
Risk-free interest rat 0.2% 0.2% 0.1%
Volatility 65.4% 48.9% 51.8%
Expected life six month: six month: six month:

As of September 30, 2012, we had issued 525,42@slbd common stock under our Stock Purchase Plan.
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13. RESTRICTED STOCK AWARDS:
We have granted n-vested (restricted) stock awards or restrictedkstimits (collectively“restricted stock awar”) to certain key



employees pursuant to the 2011 Plan and the 2G0¥ Phe restricted stock awards have varying vggt@riods, but generally become
fully vested at either the end of year four or émel of year five, depending on the specific aw&eftain awards granted in fiscal 2008 require
certain levels of performance by us before theyeareed. Such performance metrics were requirbé tchieved by September 2011. The
metrics were not met, and the awards were forfe{feditain awards granted in fiscal 2010, 2011, 201 require a minimum level of
performance of our stock price compared to an inmdgre they are earned. Such performance metiiss be achieved by September 2012,
2013, or 2014, or the awards will be forfeited. Bhack underlying the vested restricted stock umilisbe delivered upon vesting. The
performance metrics for the awards granted in fi2640 were not met, and the awards were forfelading fiscal 2010, we reversed
approximately $3.9 million of stock compensatiopense, resulting from the performance criteriaesfain awards no longer being probable.

We accounted for the restricted stock awards gdaméeng the measurement and recognition provisibdsSC 718. Accordingly, the fair
value of the restricted stock awards is measureati®@grant date and recognized in earnings overettp@isite service period for each separe
vesting portion of the award.

The following table summarizes restricted stock mactivity from September 30, 2011 through Sepend®, 2012:

Weighted

Average

Grant Date

Shares Fair Value

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2011 221,94t $ 12.8¢
Changes during the peri

Awards grantet 84,00( $ 5.9t

Awards vestel (59,307 $ 28.41

Awards forfeitec (122,53) $ 6.9t

Non-vested balance at September 30, 2 124,10t $ 6.62

As of September 30, 2012, we had approximately $003of total unrecognized compensation cost rélataon-vested restricted stock
awards. We expect to recognize that cost over ghteil-average period of 1.8 years.
14. NET INCOME (LOSS) PER SHARE:

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdigethe denominator for calculating basic andtdiunet income (loss) per share for the
fiscal years ended September 30:

2010 2011 2012
Weighted average common shares outstanding ussddulating basic
income (loss) per sha 21,998,74 22,375,27 22,740,98
Effect of dilutive option: 599,21( — 594,93.
Weighted average common and common equivalent shiges in
calculating diluted income (loss) per sh 22,597,95 22,375,27 23,335,91

During the fiscal years ended September 30, 20@i®aa2, there were 979,000 and 1,546,207 weightechge shares of options
outstanding, respectively, that were not includethe computation of diluted income (loss) per slscause the options’ exercise prices wert
greater than the average market price of our comstak, and therefore, their effect would be ailtittve. For the fiscal year ended
September 30, 2011, no options were included irctimeputation of diluted loss per share becausesperted a net loss and the effect of their
inclusion would be anti-dilutive.
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15. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES:
Lease Commitments

We lease certain land, buildings, machinery, eqeiptmand vehicles related to our dealerships undercancelable third-party operating
leases. Certain of our leases include optionsdioewal periods and provisions for escalation. Rexaenses, including month-to-month
rentals, were approximately $6.7 million, $6.1 roitl, and $5.1 million for the fiscal years endegtsenber 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012,
respectively.

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancetgi@eating leases at September 30, 2012, werelawfol

(Amounts in thousands)

2013 $ 4,84:
2014 4,031
2015 2,95¢
2016 2,15¢
2017 1,53¢

Thereaftel 2,54(



Total $18,06¢

Other Commitments and Contingencies

We are party to various legal actions arising e dhdinary course of business. In addition, cerf@imer shareholders of Surfside—3
Marina, Inc., a company we acquired in March 200€&qd a lawsuit naming our company as defendang lalwvsuit alleges a failure to timely
lift stock transfer restrictions on stock acquilsdthe plaintiffs in the acquisition, which alledgdelayed the plaintiffs from selling the shares.
While it is not feasible to determine the actuaicome of these actions as of September 30, 2018powmt believe that these matters will have
a material adverse effect on our consolidated firdreondition, results of operations, or cash iow

During fiscal 2010, 2011, and 2012, we incurredsassociated with store closings and lease tetionsaof approximately $1.2 million,
$750,000, and $350,000, respectively. These costaply related to the future minimum operatingde payments of the closed locations.
store closings were a key component in our effolddtter match our fixed costs with the declinesitail business caused by the soft economic
conditions. The store closing costs have been dedun selling, general, and administrative expems¢he consolidated statements of
operations during fiscal 2010, 2011, and 2012.

In connection with our workers’ compensation insizepolicies, we maintain a letter of credit in #meount of $1.2 million with our
policy holder. The letter of credit is collateraizby a certificate of deposit held by the bank ibsued the letter of credit. The certificate of
deposit is classified as cash and cash equivailetit® accompanying consolidated balance sheatbSsptember 30, 2012.

We are subject to federal and state environmeetpllations, including rules relating to air and evaiollution and the storage and
disposal of gasoline, oil, other chemicals and wiaste believe that we are in compliance with segulations.

16. EMPLOYEE 401(k) PROFIT SHARING PLANS:

Employees are eligible to participate in our 40 Rk)fit Sharing Plan (the “Plan”) following thei®9lay introductory period starting
either April 1 or October 1, provided that they afeyears of age. Under the Plan, we match 25%udicipants’ contributions, up to a
maximum of 5% of each participant’s compensatioe. &ntributed, under the Plan, or pursuant to pre/similar plans, approximately
$150,000, $283,000, and $298,000 for the fiscatsyeaded September 30, 2010, 2011, and 2012, tesec
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17. QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED):

The following table sets forth certain unauditeduderly financial data for each of our last eighagers. The information has been
derived from unaudited financial statements thabeléeve reflect all adjustments, consisting orfljormal recurring adjustments, necessary
for the fair presentation of such quarterly finah@hformation.

December 31 September 3C December 31 September 3C
March 31, June 30, March 31, June 30,
2010 2011 2011 2011 2011 2012 2012 2012
(Amounts in thousands except share and per share g
Revenue $ 92,19( $ 115,75¢ $ 153,17: $ 119,77 $ 91,781 $ 143,99: $ 151,33( $ 137,34
Cost of sale 68,60¢ 88,96 114,08t 89,74! 66,21: 109,61 111,04( 104,30t
Gross profil 23,58 26,79¢ 39,08 30,03« 25,57« 34,37¢ 40,29( 33,04:
Selling, general, and administrative
expense 27,44: 30,44¢ 35,22: 34,78t 28,57( 30,99 34,65¢ 33,69(
(Loss) income from operatiol (3,859 (3,65)) 3,85¢ (4,75)) (2,996 3,38¢ 5,631 (649)
Interest expens 842 83¢€ 837 972 1,217 1,20 1,01¢ 1,00¢
(Loss) income before income tax
benefit (4,702 (4,48) 3,022 (5,729) (4,219 2,181 4,61° (1,65%)
Income tax benef — — 33: 34 — 11€ — 6C
Net (loss) incomi $ (4709 $ (448) $ 3,35¢ $ (5689 $ (421) ¢ 2,291 $ 4,61 $ (1,599
Net (loss) income per shai
Diluted $ 021 $ 020 % 0.1f $ 0.2 $ 019 $ 0.1C $ 0.2¢ $ (0.07)
Weighted average number of shau
Diluted 22,239,78 22,329,15 23,103,28 22,492,15 22,592,37 23,253,52 23,515,73 22,906,72

18. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS:

Certain of our facilities in the Northeast, partarly four stores in New York and New Jersey, siftedamage from Hurricane Sandy. In
addition, a small amount of our boat inventory stdtl damage as did boats of our customers stogetthtfacilities. The damage to these
facilities will result in the interruption of salesd service activities at those facilities, butex@ect that all locations will be fully operatidna
before the traditional boating season begins. Wiataia insurance for property damage and busiréssruption, subject to deductibles. Our
agreements for storage of customers’ boats requith customers to maintain their own insurance rameeand absolve us from liability for
damage to their boats; however, we are working withcustomers to satisfy their boat repair ant@ment needs. We cannot currently
quantify the negative effects of business inteiaupbr property damage incurred nor the potentiabant of incremental revenue that we will
receive as a result of the repair of storm damégeds or the purchase of replacement boats.
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Exhibit 21

LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

State or Jurisdiction of

Name Incorporation or Organization
MarineMax East, Inc. (1 Delaware

MarineMax Services, Inc. (¢ Delaware

MarineMax Northeast, LLC (Z Delaware

Boating Gear Center, LLC (. Delaware

US Liquidators, LLC (1 Delaware

Newcoast Financial Services, LLC | Delaware

My Web Services, LLC (1 Delaware

MarineMax Charter Services, LLC ( Delaware

MarineMax Vacations, LTD (2 British Virgin Islands

(1) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax, In
(2) Wholly owned subsidiary of MarineMax East, |i



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Certified Publid.ccounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference ifdllewing Registration Statements:

1)
2)
3)

4)
5)

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-141657) pertaining to the 2007 Incentive Compeansadlan of MarineMax, Inc
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-83332) pertaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock RiMarineMax, Inc.

Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-633@Tjaining to the 1998 Incentive Stock Plan andl®@8 Employee Stock
Purchase Plan of MarineMax, In

Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-156358) pertaining to the 2008 Employee Stock RaselPlan of MarineMax, Inc., a
Registration Statement (Forn-8 No. 33:-177019) pertaining to the 2011 St-Based Compensation Plan of MarineMax, i

of our reports dated December 7, 2012, with resfoeitte consolidated financial statements of Maviag, Inc. and subsidiaries and the
effectiveness of internal control over financighoeting of MarineMax, Inc. and subsidiaries, in@ddn this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of
MarineMax Inc. and subsidiaries for the year enfledtember 30, 2012.

/sl Ernst & Young LLI

Tampa, Florida
December 7, 2012



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION

[, William H. McGill Jr., certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of MaMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amgthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrke responsible for establishing and maintainisgldsure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&))}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitlerally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registratisslosure controls and procedures and presentdsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period cousyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer antdve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatimiternal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal corttvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize, esgbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invadweaanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

[s/IWiLam H-McGILL , JR.
William H. McGill Jr.

Chief Executive Office
(Principal Executive Officer

Date: December 7, 2012



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION

[, Michael H. McLamb, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this report on Form 10-K of MaMax, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notador@ny untrue statement of a material fact or endttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntgts.under which such statements were made, niatadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statememis,other financial information included in théport, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of opere, and cash flows of the registrant as of, amgthe periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer andrh responsible for establishing and maintainingldsire controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%nd internal control over financial reportirag defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresiused such disclosure controls and procedorss designed under our
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgibsidiaries, is made known to us by
others within those entities, particularly duriig period in which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglaing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assareegarding the reliability of financial repodiand the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registraisslosure controls and procedures and presentadsineport our conclusions
about the effectiveness of the disclosure contintsprocedures as of the end of the period cousyelis report based on such
evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid’s internal control over financial reportirttgat occurred during the registrant’s
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fodigbal quarter in the case of an annual repo#) tlas materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s intel control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer anddve disclosed, based on our most recent evaluatiorernal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal cordvelr financial reporting which
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the regrg’s ability to record, process, summarize, esgbrt financial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invalveanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s
internal control over financial reporting.

/ s/ M icHAEL H. M cL avB
Michael H. McLamk

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: December 7, 2012



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fkMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year eddseptember 30, 2012, as filed
with the Securities and Exchange Commission ordéte hereof (the “Report”), I, William H. McGill JiChief Executive Officer of the
Company, certify, to my best knowledge and bepefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&hp06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(
or 780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/WiLLiam H. M cGILL JR.
William H. McGill Jr.
Chief Executive Office

Date: December 7, 2012



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACTS OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report on Form 10{fkMarineMax, Inc. (the “Company”) for the year eddseptember 30, 2012, as filed

with the Securities and Exchange Commission ord#tte hereof (the “Report”), I, Michael H. McLambhi€f Financial Officer of the
Company, certify, to my best knowledge and bepefsuant to 18 U.S.C. § 1350, as adopted pursad&hp06 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirementsSeftction 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchangeof 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m(
or 780(d)); anc

(2) The information contained in the Report faphgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of
the Company

/s/ M icHAEL H. M cL AmB
Michael H. McLamb
Chief Financial Office

Date: December 7, 20:



